
Resources Directorate
DavidDavid  WilcockWilcock
AssistantAssistant  DirectorDirector  (Legal,(Legal,  GovernanceGovernance  &&  
Workforce)Workforce)

Governance  & Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith Street,
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Phone: 01706 647474
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk 

To:  All Members of the Planning and 
Licensing Committee

Enquiries to: Michael Garraway
e-mail:             michael.garraway@rochdale.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01706 924716
Date: Wednesday, 23rd March 2016

Dear Councillor,

PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the Planning and Licensing 
Committee to be held in the Training and Conference Suite on the first floor 
of the Council Offices, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, 
OL16 1XU starting at 6.15pm. An agenda and supporting information is 
attached. 

Please note that the Member’s Viewing agenda, on Monday, 4th April, will be as 
follows:
a. 15:15 Meet at the rear entrance Number 1 Riverside
b. 15:35 Hollin Lane, Middleton (to meet at Hollins Drive)
c. 16:10 Red House, Broadhalgh Avenue 
d. 16:30 Eastern Restaurant, Spotland Road

There will be a Chair’s briefing at 5.00pm, at Number One Riverside, to 
which all Members of the Committee are invited to attend.

If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or staff in the Governance and 
Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

Yours Faithfully

David Wilcock
Assistant Director (Legal, Governance & Workforce)

Planning and Licensing Committee Membership 2015/16
Councillor Allen Brett                   Councillor Billy Sheerin
Councillor Susan Emmott            Councillor Ann Stott JP
Councillor Pat Greenall                Councillor Patricia Sullivan 
Councillor Shaun O’Neill              Councillor Carol Wardle
Councillor Aasim Rashid              Councillor June West
Councillor Peter Rush             

Public Document Pack

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/
mailto:michael.garraway@rochdale.gov.uk


Rochdale Borough Council

PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

Monday, 4th April 2016 at 6.15 pm

Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

A G E N D A

Apologies for Absence
1.  Declarations of Interest 1 - 3

Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.  

Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to 
be considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting.

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare 
the nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest 
and/or prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any 
discloseable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from 
the meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted 
otherwise within the Code of Conduct.

2.  Minutes 4

To consider the minutes of the meeting held on Monday, 14 March 
2016.

3.  Submitted Planning Applications 5 - 85

4.  Decadance  SEV 86 - 105



P
age 1

A
genda Item

 1



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25TH JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS).

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE

MEETING AND DATE

…………………………….

Agenda item

Indicate either
 Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR
 Personal Interest OR
 Personal and Prejudicial interest

Nature of Interest

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name…………………………………………………………………………………………..

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 
LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING

P
age 2



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests.

Disclosable pecuniary interests
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners.

Subject Description
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.  

Contracts Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council - 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 
(a) the landlord is the Council: and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where -
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and
(b) either –
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class.

Personal Interests
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect - 
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority;
(b)  any body -

(i) exercising functions of a public nature;
(ii) directed to charitable purposes; or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union), 
of which you are in a position of general control or management;
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25.

Prejudicial Interests
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business -
(a) Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or
 (b) Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above.

MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25TH JULY 2012.

Page 3



PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
14th March 2016

PRESENT:  Councillor Carol Wardle (Chair); Councillors Susan Emmott, O'Neill, 
Rashid, Sheerin and Stott

OFFICERS:  B. Wilkinson (Public Health & Wellbeing Directorate) and M. Garraway 
(Resources Directorate) 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Brett, Councillor Rush, Councillor Sullivan 
and Councillor West

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
15 There were no declarations of interest.

MINUTES
16 DECIDED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 9th February 2016, 
be approved as a correct record.

GAMBLING ACT 2005 - FEES
17 The Director of Economy and Environment presented a report requesting the 
Committee to determine the scale of fees to be charged under the provisions of the 
Gambling Act 2005.

DECIDED – That (1) to adopt from 1st April 2016 the maximum level of fees 
chargeable under the Gambling Act 2005, as detailed in Appendix A of the 
submitted report; 
(2) that a report will be presented prior to April 2017, providing a review of the 
Gambling Act licensing fee levels and the income generated, be noted.

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



Subject: Submitted Planning Applications Status:  For Publication

Report to: Planning and Licensing 
Committee

Date:         4th April 2016 ^DS,DATEACTCOM.DCAPPL,21;   

Report of: Director of Economy and 
Environment

Author: See individual agenda reports

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 To provide recommendations to the Committee on planning applications or 
related consents submitted to the Council and requiring the consideration 
and/or determination of the Committee in accordance with the Council’s 
approved Scheme of Delegation.

1.2 To provide information on any other planning or development related 
matters which may affect the work of the Committee.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 Recommendations in respect of individual planning applications are as 
detailed in the following papers.

3. STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 The submitted applications on this agenda are to be determined in 
accordance with the provisions of relevant legislation, including the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990, Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Planning and Compensation Act 1991, 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 2008, Localism 
Act 2011 and the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 together with any Directions and 
Regulations which support that legislation.  

3.2 Planning law requires that applications be determined in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
Where relevant, any such material considerations will be referred to in the 
report.

ITEM NO.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



    The Development Plan

3.3 All planning applications referred to in this report have been assessed 
against the relevant policies and proposals of the development plan for 
the Borough (currently the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
2006) and any Supplementary Planning Documents or Guidance adopted 
by the Council.  

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

3.4 In addition, in assessing the submitted planning applications, there is a 
requirement to have regard to relevant national policies as set out within 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) the policies of which are a 
material consideration.  Where relevant, the provisions of the NPPF and 
any other relevant national guidance will be referred to in the report.

4. RISK ASSESSMENT IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members and Officers 
dealing with Planning Matters.  Members and Officers are required to have 
full regard to the Code in discharging their responsibilities and duties in 
relation to planning matters on behalf of the Council.  The Code seeks to 
ensure that all decision making is governed by an open and transparent 
process and represents a standard against which the conduct of Officers 
and Member sitting on the Committee will be judged.  

4.2 A Declaration of Member Interests Register is taken prior to the 
commencement of the Committee meeting.  Advice on whether any 
Member sitting on the Committee ought to declare any interest on any 
item on the submitted agenda should be obtained from the Head of Legal 
and Democratic Services or the Head of Planning.  

4.3 The Council’s Standards Committee will monitor the operation of this Code 
of Conduct.   

5. EQUALITIES IMPACTS

5.1 The above Acts require Local Planning Authorities to consider planning 
applications on their individual merits having regard to the development 
plan and other material planning considerations.

5.2 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from discrimination on the basis of 
certain characteristics which are known as protected characteristics.  
These protected characteristics are Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment, 
Marriage or Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion or 
Belief, Sex (Gender), Sexual Orientation, socio-economic status and 
Carer.

5.3 In applying the Equality Act 2010, the Council is required to consider the 
effects of its decisions on different groups protected from discrimination, 

Page 6



including a duty to make reasonable adjustments.  In taking account of all 
material planning considerations, including Council policy as set out in the 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework, 
the Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded all opportunities 
to promote equality through the planning process have been taken, or 
where adjustments cannot be made, these are justified on the basis of the 
planning merits of the development proposal.  

5.4 The Rochdale and District Disabled Access Working Group may comment 
on relevant planning applications. Where comments are received, these 
will be included within the reported to Committee.  Consideration is given 
in designing access when dealing with the planning applications. Where 
applicable, any issues relating to these matters or other equal opportunity 
matters will be referred to in individual planning application reports.

6.      Human Rights Act 1998 considerations

6.1   The submitted applications need to be considered against the provisions of 
the Human Rights Act 1998.  Under Article 6, the applications (and those 
third parties, including local residents, who have made representations) 
have the right to a fair hearing and to this end the Committee must give 
full consideration to their comments.

6.2 Article 8 and Protocol 1 Article 1 confer(s) a right of respect or a person’s 
home, other land and business assets.  In taking account of all material 
considerations, including Council policy as set out in the Unitary 
Development Plan, the Director (Economy and Environment) has 
concluded that some rights conferred by these Articles on the 
applicant(s)/objectors/residents and other occupiers and owners of nearby 
land that might be affected may be interfered with but that that 
interference is in accordance with the law and justified by being in the 
public interest and on the basis of the planning merits of the development 
proposal.  He believes that any restriction on these rights posed by 
approval of the application is proportionate to the wider benefits of 
approval and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion 
afforded to the Council under the Town and Country Planning Acts.

Page 7



Background Papers

      The background papers relevant to the planning applications to be considered on 
this agenda will include:-

1.  The Planning application file and its contents which will include:

i)  The planning application form and supporting information, together with 
scaled drawings/plans and relevant statutory certificates.

ii) Letters of response from statutory and other consultees who may have 
been consulted or commented on the planning application

iii) Letters and documents received from interested parties.
iv) Notes of telephone conversations, meetings and any information received 

and of relevance to the submitted proposal
 

2. For any previous planning application referred to in the agenda report or in the 
application file, the planning application forms and the decision on that proposal

3. Such other papers (if any) received after the preparation of individual reports 
on planning applications on this agenda (to be reported verbally at the meeting).

       4. Any other guidance or procedural documents adopted by the Council and of 
relevance to the recommendation and/or determination of any submitted 
planning applications or related consents

For further information about this report, or if you wish to see any background
papers please contact: Sharon Hill, Senior Business Support Officer, in Economy and 
Environment, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone (01706) 924305 or via the online planning services at: 
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning

Page 8

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning


Application Number: 15/01207/OUT    Ward: West Middleton     

Proposal: Outline application (including access) for residential development of up to 88 
dwellings with associated works (Resubmission of 15/00358/OUT)

Site Address: Land To The West Of Hollin Lane
Middleton
Rochdale
M24 5LN

Applicant:  Mr Richard Chamberlain
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Refuse

Page 9



UPDATE

The application is a re-submission of planning application 15/00358/OUT which was refused by the 
Council’s Planning and Licensing Committee at its meeting on 21st September 2015.  The application 
has been resubmitted with revised information in an attempt to overcome the Council’s reasons for refusal. 

The Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee considered the application at its meeting on 23rd March 
2016. The Committee resolved that it was minded to refuse the application in accordance with the officer 
recommendation. 

SITE

The application relates to a circa 3.6 hectare area of land located to the west side of the A6046 (Hollin 
Lane) and north of Langley Lane in Middleton. The site is located within an area designated as 
Protected Open Land on the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP) Proposals Map running 
between Langley Lane (to the south) and Dingle Farm and open agricultural fields (to the north). The 
site also borders fields and Hollin Lane to the east and open fields to the west. Adjoining land flanking 
the northern boundary lies within the Green Belt, with the open fields to the east falling within an 
adjoining area of Protected Open Land. The application site is located approximately 2km to the north 
of Middleton town centre, immediately adjacent to the residential are of Langley and is approximately 
1km to the south of junction 19 of the M62 motorway.

The site adjoins an established residential area of Langley to the south that has its origins in the 1950s 
as an overspill housing area for Manchester City Council. The area to the south and east is 
subsequently characterized by a mix of post-war two storey semi-detached and terraced dwellings and 
more recent detached two storey dwellings and is suburban in its character and appearance. The site 
is within walking distance of a number of key services, including St Anne’s Academy, Hollin Primary 
School, Burnside Pre-School, Middleton Cricket Club and the Gardeners Arms Public House and 
shopping parade at the junction of Hollin Lane and Langley Lane. There are a number of bus stops 
with regular and direct services to Middleton, Heywood, Rochdale and Manchester in close proximity. 

The application site itself comprises agricultural land leftover to pasture with a small group of buildings 
to the north-western corner. The site comprises undulating ground and is relatively open with limited 
tree cover with some younger specimens and the remnants of hedgerows along the boundaries. The 
site is bounded by residential development on Hollin Drive, Hollin Lane and Langley Lane and the 
Hollin Lane and Langley Lane highways to the eastern and southern boundaries. There are open fields 
beyond the northern boundary of the site and to the western boundary. There is a public right of way 
that runs immediately to the west of the site and this extends in a north-south direction. 

PROPOSAL

The application seeks outline permission for a development of up to 88 dwellings on land to the west 
of Hollin Lane, Middleton. The application seeks approval of access only, with the layout, scale, 
landscaping and external appearance of the buildings being reserved for a later stage. 

A single access point to the site is proposed from the west side of Hollin Lane. The access would be 
sited opposite the junction between Hollin Lane and Hazelhurst Drive. It is proposed to form dedicated 
right hand turning lanes and replace the existing pedestrian refuge island with a signalised pedestrian 
crossing. This turning lane would replace the existing refuge marked by hatching to the centre of the 
carriageway and would be immediately adjacent to the right turning lane along the northbound 
carriageway providing access to Hazelhurst Drive. The site access would form a bell-mouth junction 
approximately with Hollin Lane, with give way ground markings and a curved kerb radius achieving 
2.4 metre by 70 metre visibility splays northbound and southbound along Hollin Lane. The access 
(achieving a maximum width of 17 metres at its junction with Hollin Lane) would form a 10 metre wide 
estate road flanked by 2 metre footways running into the site. The indicative internal estate road 
would run westwards into the site with a subsequent secondary road running south into the site and a 
further arm running northwards providing access to the northwest corner of the site. Off these a 
collection of small cul-de-sacs and shared drives are indicated on the masterplan.

The application submission sets a maximum parameter with respect to the number of dwellings (up to 

Page 10



88) and with regards to their scale, it is indicated that the proposed development would provide a 
range of two storey dwellings. The indicative layout shows these to comprise detached dwellings 
arranged in an open plan estate set behind hard and soft landscaped front gardens with a 
combination of in curtilage driveways and detached and integral garage accommodation. The 
indicative masterplan also indicates the provision of a small area of landscaping and public open 
space to the northern corner of the site perimeter of the site. The indicative layout also shows a 
potential link to the adjacent site to the southwest and public right of way running along the west 
boundary of the site which would continuing the line of the indicative estate road.

It should however, be noted that the submitted indicative masterplan is for indicative purposes only, 
with access being the only reserved matter applied for. The matter of access is defined in the 
appropriate Development Management Procedure Order to mean “the accessibility to and within the 
site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms of the positioning and treatment of access and 
circulation routes and how these fit into the surrounding access network.” The layout of the buildings 
and open spaces is for illustrative purposes only.

The application includes the following to be secured through the completion of a section 106 planning 
obligation and a section 278 highways act agreement as follows

 The provision of affordable housing on-site and/or an off-site contribution in lieu of onsite 
provision in accordance with the provisions of UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD: 
Affordable Housing;

 A financial contribution towards provision of primary school places in Middleton Township 
(current calculation of £271,040.22 for up to 88 dwellings);

 A financial contribution towards provision of secondary school places in Middleton Township 
(current calculation of £138,600.09 for up to 88 dwellings);

 A financial contribution towards the provision of outdoor sport and recreation facilities at 
Bowlee Playing Fields calculated by way of either a) £929.16 per dwelling or b) £386.86 per 
person of the population of the development based on ONS Census Figure of people per 
dwelling for Rochdale at the time of commencement (current calculation of up to £81,766.08);

 The provision of two bus stops on Hollin Lane, one northbound and one southbound 
(£20,000);  

 The provision of a signalised pedestrian crossing facility on Hollin Lane;
 Road markings and traffic calming measures to provide right turning lane into the site and 

denote the gateway into the site in order to calm traffic speeds along Hollin Lane, to include 
TRO where necessary; 

 A scheme for the provision, implementation and management of a Locally Equipped Area of 
Play (LEAP); 

 A landscape and public open space plan for the provision, implementation and management 
of the landscape open space within the site; and

 A financial contribution towards the provision of cycle lane improvements comprising new and 
renewed on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction with Langley Lane 
southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road. 

Wider Hollin Lane Masterplan Area

This application is being considered alongside two separate planning applications.  The first relates to 
land to the north of Langley Lane (application reference 15/01195/OUT) for the erection of up to 150 
dwellings, a potential primary school, and associated landscaping, open space, access arrangements 
and car parking and the land the subject of that application adjoins the application site to the west. 
The second relates to land on the eastern side of Hollin Lane (planning application reference no. 
15/01183/OUT) for the erection of up to 205 dwellings and associated landscaping, open space, 
access arrangements and car parking. These two applications were submitted by a different applicant 
and the Council’s Planning and Licensing Committee at its meeting on 12th January 2016 resolved to 
grant planning permission, subject to Legal Agreements for each of the respective sites.  

In terms of the current application, the only matter to be considered in detail as part of this planning 
application is ‘access’, which would be taken from Hollin Lane to the east of the application site. 
Planning applications 15/01183/OUT and 15/01195/OUT were accompanied by a plan indicating the 
‘Wider Hollin Lane Masterplan Area’.  Another parcel of land shown within the submitted Hollin Lane 
Masterplan Area indicates a potential future phase of development immediately to the north of the 

Page 11



application site.

Current Application Detail

The current application remains broadly the same as planning application 15/00358/OUT.  However, 
the current application now includes a revised Transport Assessment (TA) intended to address 
‘cumulative impact’ concerns and the more detailed highways concerns raised by Committee on 12th 
January 2016. The findings of the TA and the assessment of officers is elaborated upon in the 
relevant section of this report. However, the location of the proposed access off Hollin Lane remains 
unaltered. The application now includes the upgrading and relocation of the existing pedestrian refuge 
which lies to the north on Hollin Lane. It is proposed that this crossing be upgraded to a signalised 
pedestrian crossing.   

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance:

National Planning Policy Framework 

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for 
England and how these are expected to be applied.  

National Planning Policy Guidance

The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is intended 
to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single resource for planning 
guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and 
advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national 
advice in the Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

Rochdale Core Strategy (Publication Submission 2013):

The Core Strategy was submitted for examination in 2013 and hearing sessions were held by the 
Inspector to consider the ‘soundness’ of the plan in October of that year.  Following on from these 
sessions the Inspector asked the Council to provide an update of its Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment in order for him to properly consider the housing issues, including the housing target, set 
out in the plan.  This update was carried out and the examination reconvened in June 2015 to 
consider this updated evidence.  The Council has now received a schedule of proposed Main 
Modifications from the Inspector which include recommendations on changes to the wording and 
content of some of the policies in the emerging Core Strategy. These recommended main 
modifications are currently being consulted on.  It is considered that policies not affected by proposed 
modifications can carry significant weight in decision making.  Those policies which are subject to 
proposed modifications are likely to carry less weight at this point but may, as modified, have some 
relevance in the decision making process.  It is anticipated that the Core Strategy will be adopted in 
summer 2016.
The following policies contained in the emerging Rochdale Core Strategy are relevant:- 

SO1 To deliver a more prosperous economy
SO2 To create successful and healthy communities
SO3 To improve design, image and quality of place
SO4 To promote a greener environment

SD1 Delivering sustainable development

SP3/M The Strategy for Middleton
G5 Managing Protected Open Land
C6 Improving health and well being
C8 Improving community, sport, leisure and cultural facilities

Page 12



P2 Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage
P3 Improving design of new development

G1 Tackling and adapting to climate change
G2 Energy and new development
G3 Renewable and low carbon energy developments
G7 Increasing the biodiversity and geodiversity
G8 Managing water resources and flood risk
G9 Reducing the impact of pollution 
G10 Managing mineral resources

T2 Improving accessibility
DM1 General development requirements
DM2 Delivering planning contributions and infrastructure

Unitary Development Plan:

G/D/1 Defined Urban Area
D/10 Protected Open Land

G/RE/1 Countryside and the Rural Economy
RE/2 Countryside Around Towns
RE/3 Development Involving Agricultural Land
RE/5 Access to the Countryside
RE/6 Recreational Rights of Way

G/G/1 Greenspace
G/2 Standards for Recreational Open Space
G/4 New Provision of Local Open Space

G/H/1 Housing
H/3 Residential Development Outside Allocated Areas
H/6 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development
H/7 Affordable Housing

G/CF/1 Community Facilities and Public Service
CF/2 General Criteria for the Development of Local Community and Health Facilities

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/2 Accessibility Hierarchy
A/3 New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People
A/4 New Development – Access for Cyclists
A/5 New Development – Access for Bus Services
A/7 New Development – Access for Service Vehicles
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking
A/11 New Development – Transport Assessments
A/13 Local Walking Route Network

G/BE/1 Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development
BE/8 Landscaping in new Development

G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage
BE/10 Development Affecting Archaeological Sites and Ancient Monuments

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control
EM/2 Pollution
EM/3 Noise and New Development

Page 13



EM/4 Contaminated Land
EM/7 Development and Flood Risk
EM/8 Protection of Surface and Ground Water
EM/9 Development Involving Unstable Land

G/EM/12 Renewable Energy and Energy Conservation
EM/13 Energy Efficiency and New Development

G/NE/1 Nature Conservation
NE/2 Designated Sites of Ecological and Geological/Geomorphological Importance
NE/3 Biodiversity and Development
NE/4 Protected Species

G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands
NE/6 Landscape Protection and Enhancement
NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows

Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide SPD
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG
Energy and New Development SPD
Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing SPD
Affordable Housing SPD

Rochdale Borough Transport Strategy (March 2014)

SITE HISTORY

15/00358/OUT - Outline application (including access) for residential development of up to 88 
dwellings with associated works – Refused September 2015 for the following reasons:

1 The proposed access into the development from Hollin Lane, in conjunction with that 
proposed under application 14/00849/OUT and in close proximity to the junction of Hollin 
Lane and Hazelhurst Drive and access to St Anne’s Academy, with an existing pedestrian 
crossing at the junction, would be harmful to highway and pedestrian safety in this location 
contrary to Policies G/A/1, A/2, A/3, A/9 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

 2 The proposed development, by virtue of the cumulative impact of the additional traffic 
generated by this and other proposed developments in the area, would be detrimental to the 
safe and efficient operation of the highway network and would increase congestion in the 
area, contrary to Policies G/A/1 and A/8 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

3 The proposed development would place additional pressure on local infrastructure, including 
schools and sports facilities, which would be unable to accommodate the additional demand 
that would be placed on local infrastructure as a result of additional residents and resulting 
increase in local population arising from the proposed development. As such, the proposal is 
contrary to Policies H/6, G/CF/1, G/4 and G/5 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Highways and Engineering: Objection. Comments as follows: 

Original Comments:

Page 14



“In considering this application I have also considered the Langley Lane Site and the adjacent Hollin 
Lane application the potential improvements to the nearby Junction 19 and South Heywood 
Development.

Highways England has been consulted regarding this proposal and has raised no objection.  The 
Transport Assessment undertaken is comprehensive and robust. The Transport Assessment 
considers all committed developments in the area and future development scenarios including the 
cumulative impact with the residential developments proposed on the adjacent sites.

In respect of junction capacity, we can only consider the effects upon a junction if a step change 
occurs.  A step change is when a junction’s status changes from within its capacity to above its 
capacity. If a junction is already above capacity prior to a development and is expected to remain 
above capacity no step change has occurred.

Should a step change in the capacity of a junction occur then it becomes necessary to assess 
whether the effects of the step change can be consideredas ‘severe’ as directed under the NPPF.

The Langley Lane/ Hollin Lane junction was assessed using JUNCTION 8 software. JUNCTION 8 is 
industry recognised software and it is generally accepted that this programme has a 15% margin of 
error so an RFC of 0.85 could be deemed to be at capacity.  The Transport Assessment shows that in 
2020 with the in the AM and PM peak the RFC exceeds 0.85. In the AM Peak this results in an 
additional 7 vehicles turning left and from Langley Lane onto Hollin Lane and an additional 5 vehicles 
turning right from Langley Lane onto Hollin Lane. In the PM peak queue lengths increase by 14 
vehicles for left tuners from Langley Lane onto Hollin Lane and 10 vehicles for right turners from 
Langley Lane onto Hollin Lane.

Whilst the developments cumulative impact does have a clear impact upon the Langley Lane and 
Hollin Lane junction, on the basis of the submitted TA, we would struggle to determine the impacts of 
this queue increase as being ‘severe’.

Notwithstanding my agreement with much of the content of the TA submitted there are still a number 
of issues which need to be addressed. The report considers the 350 Dwellings of the adjacent two 
developments. The report should instead consider the 355 dwellings of the adjacent two 
developments along with the school option agreed on the TW site.  An additional parcel of land of 
land immediately to the north of the site is not the subject of a current planning application. An 
average density assessment of this land should be used for sensitivity test purposes and considered 
also under a revised Transport Assessment.

The capacity assessment tables (7.1 and 7.2) do not appear to show Langley Lane right turns and 
instead indicate two Langley Lane left turns. Similarly tables 7.3 and 7.4 show the same for 
Hazelhurst Drive.

In relation to the access, the access to the site and surrounding highways layout has been considered 
as a part of a HD19/15 Road Safety Audit. The Audit raised issues with the access layout for the site. 
The main issue raised by the auditor is that Manual for Streets (MfS) standards should not be applied 
at this location.

However as stated in MfS2 the starting point for all applications should be MfS and as the applicant 
points out Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB) should only be applied on Roads where 
speeds are above 40mph for significant proportions of the day.

The applicant has undertaken speed surveys prior to submitting their Transport Assessment the 
observed 85th percentile speeds are below 40mph. I can only conclude that the auditor’s comments 
are not evidence based, they have not considered the information submitted and I cannot give any 
weight to their comments regarding the visibility splays at the junction.

The visibility splays proposed by the applicant conform to Manual for Streets guidance.  The second 
point made by the auditor is regarding the length of the Right Turn Lane for the site access being of 
an insufficient length to accommodate queuing vehicles according to DMRB. However the evidence 
submitted shows that the length of the vehicle queues could be accommodated within the Right turn 

Page 15



Lane.  The final point made was regarding the Right Turn Lane at Hazlehurst Drive and position of the 
Pedestrian Crossing. In relocating the uncontrolled pedestrian crossing the capacity of the Right Turn 
Lane is reduced and the auditor feels this will be too small to accommodate vehicles queueing to turn 
right into site. The evidence submitted shows that vehicle queues can be accommodated within the 
Right Turn Lane. Notwithstanding the findings of the applicant and auditor, it is considered necessary 
that the existing pedestrian island be upgraded to a signalised pedestrian crossing to facilitate the 
safe movement of pedestrians and cyclists, including children, across the highway of Hollin Lane.

Junction Proximity was a reason for refusal of the previous application and the position of the 
vehicular access has been called into question. Junction proximity requires several access points 
reaching the highway over a short length to be considered as a reason for refusal. The addition of this 
site access would not be considered a new junction at this location but as an additional arm to an 
existing junction therefore junction proximity is not a valid reason for refusal of this location.

Prior to making a recommendation with regards this application I will await the updated content of the 
Transport Assessment to include the items referenced above and a revised scheme of highway works 
showing the WH proposals in the context of the TW proposals.”

Following the provision of additional information by the applicant, Highways have provided the 
following updated comments: 

“The proposed access into the development from Hollin Lane, in conjunction with that proposed under 
this application and in close proximity to the junction of Hollin Lane/Hazlehurst Drive including access 
to St Anne’s Academy, with an existing pedestrian crossing at the junction would be harmful to 
highway and pedestrian safety in this location contrary to Policies G/A/1, A/2, A/3, A/9 of the 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
The applicants proposed site access design has been prepared with reference to guidance contained 
in Manual for Streets 1 and 2 (MfS). Rochdale Borough Council considers that relevant design 
guidance for this location is contained both within the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB), 
Part 6 TD42/95 and MfS2. 
Rochdale Borough Council considers that, by failing to adhere to the design standards prescribed in 
DMRB, the proposed access presents a risk to the safety of motorists and pedestrians in the vicinity 
of the junction, which is therefore contrary to Policies G/A/1, A/2, A/3, A/9 of the UDP, and the NPPF.
Policy G/A/1 of the UDP which states the need for new development to be located designed and 
integrated in such a way as to “minimise the adverse impacts of motorised transport on the wider 
community and environment”.
It also contravenes Policy A/8 of the UDP, which states “New development will be permitted provided 
that the additional traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the 
Highway Network”.
The proposed access into the development from Hollin Lane, in conjunction with that proposed under 
this application and in close proximity to the junction of Hollin Lane/Hazlehurst Drive including access 
to St Anne’s Academy, with an existing pedestrian crossing at the junction would be harmful to 
highway and pedestrian safety in this location contrary to Policies G/A/1, A/2, A/3, A/9 of the 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. The applicants 
proposed site access design has been prepared with reference to guidance contained in Manual for 
Streets 1 and 2 (MfS). Rochdale Borough Council considers that relevant design guidance for this 
location is contained both within the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB), Part 6 TD42/95 
and MfS2. Rochdale Borough Council considers that, by failing to adhere to the design standards 
prescribed in DMRB, the proposed access presents a risk to the safety of motorists and pedestrians 
in the vicinity of the junction, which is therefore contrary to Policies G/A/1, A/2, A/3, A/9 of the UDP, 
and the NPPF.  Policy G/A/1 of the UDP which states the need for new development to be located 
designed and integrated in such a way as to “minimise the adverse impacts of motorised transport on 
the wider community and environment”.  It also contravenes Policy A/8 of the UDP, which states “New 
development will be permitted provided that the additional traffic generated will not be detrimental to 
the safe and efficient operation of the Highway Network”.  The application has failed to demonstrate 
that the proposed site access will facilitate the safe movement of vehicles and pedestrians and that 
the local highway network can safely and efficiently accommodate the additional traffic generated by 
the development.
Highways England: No objection subject to a condition that none of the dwellings shall be first 
occupied until a travel plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Page 16



Authority and all the measures in the approved travel plan have been implemented.

Coal Authority: - Comments as follows: The application site does not fall with the defined 
Development High Risk Area and is located instead within the defined Development Low Risk Area. 
This means that there is no requirement under the risk-based approach that has been agreed with the 
LPA for a Coal Mining Risk Assessment to be submitted or for The Coal Authority to be consulted. In 
accordance with the agreed approach to assessing coal mining risks as part of the development 
management process, if this proposal is granted planning permission, it will be necessary to include 
The Coal Authority’s Standing Advice within the Decision Notice as an informative note to the 
applicant in the interests of public health and safety.

Minerals and Waste Planning Unit: - Comments as follows:
 The application site lies within two Mineral Safeguarding Area (MSA) one for coal and the 

other brick clay. Policy 8 of the Minerals Plan states “all non-mineral development proposals 
within the Mineral Safeguarding area should extract any viable mineral resources present in 
advance of construction.... provided the proposal is in accordance with Policy 2 Key planning 
and Environmental Criteria.”

 The proposed development will sterilise any coal or brick clay reserves which may exist under 
site. We recommend that the applicant is made aware of the reserves at site and Policy 8 of 
the Minerals Plan.

 Policy 8 states that
Proposals for non-mineral development within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas that do not 
allow for the prior extraction of minerals will only be permitted where:

1. The need for the development outweighs the need to extract the mineral; Or
2. It can be clearly demonstrated that it is not environmentally acceptable or 

economically viable to extract the mineral prior to non-mineral development taking 
place; or;

3. It can be clearly demonstrated that the mineral is either not present or of no economic 
value or too deep to extract in relation to the proposed development; or;

4. The development is limited or temporary and would not prevent minerals extraction 
taking place in the future.

 The applicant has submitted a Planning Design and Access Statement dated March 2015 
which states that Rochdale currently does not have a 5 year housing supply. They argue that 
this development is therefore required to help meet housing demand within Rochdale.

 If the Council is in agreement with this position then they may consider permitting the 
development under bullet point 1 of Policy 8, as the development could be considered to 
outweigh the need for extraction.

Contaminated Land Officer: - A condition should be attached to any permission requiring submission 
of an intrusive site investigation and remediation strategy before any development take place.

Environment Agency: - Comments as follows:
 We consider that planning permission should only be granted to the proposed 

development as submitted if the following planning conditions are included as set out 
below. Without these conditions, the proposed development on this site poses an 
unacceptable risk to the environment. 

 Condition 1 - Development shall not begin until a surface water drainage scheme for 
the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the 
hydrological and hydrogeological context of the development, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall 
subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved details before the 
development is completed. The scheme shall also include: 

(i) A sustainable drainage strategy to include SUDS elements with attenuation, 
storage and treatment capacities incorporated as detailed in the CIRIA SUDS 
Manual (C697).

(ii) Infiltration methods on contaminated land carry groundwater pollution risks 
and may not work in areas with a high water table. Where the intention is to 
dispose to soakaway, these should be shown to work through an appropriate 

Page 17



assessment carried out under Building Research Establishment (BRE) Digest 
365.

 Condition 2 - No development approved by this planning permission shall take place 
until a remediation strategy that includes the following components to deal with the 
risks associated with contamination of the site shall each be submitted to and 
approved, in writing, by the local planning authority:

(i) A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
- all previous uses
- potential contaminants associated with those uses
- a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
- potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.

(ii)  A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a 
detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, 
including those off site.

(iii)  The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment 
referred to in (2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation 
strategy giving full details of the remediation measures required and how 
they are to be undertaken. 

(iv) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order 
to demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are 
complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of 
pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. 
Any changes to these components require the express written consent of the 
local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.

 Condition 3 - No occupation shall take place until a verification report demonstrating 
completion of works set out in the approved remediation strategy and the 
effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the 
local planning authority. The report shall include results of sampling and monitoring 
carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan to demonstrate that the 
site remediation criteria have been met. It shall also include any plan (a “long-term 
monitoring and maintenance plan”) for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action, as identified in the 
verification plan. The long-term monitoring and maintenance plan shall be 
implemented as approved.

 Condition 4 - If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found 
to be present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the local planning authority) shall be carried out until the developer has 
submitted a remediation strategy to the local planning authority detailing how this 
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and obtained written approval from the 
local planning authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.

 Advisory notes:-
SUDS - The drainage scheme proposed should provide a sustainable drainage 
strategy to include SUDS elements with attenuation, storage and treatment 
capacities incorporated as detailed in the CIRIA SUDS Manual (C697).
Land Contamination - The EA recommend that the developer undertakes any further 
works in line with the guidance provided within ‘CLR11 Model Procedures’, ‘Guiding 
Principles for Land Contamination’ and ‘Groundwater Protection: Principles and 
Practice’. Where deep foundations are proposed recommended that the developer 
follows the guidance set out within our document ‘Piling and Penetrative Ground 
Improvement Methods on Land Affected by Contamination’ which is available on our 
website.
Waste to be reused on site - Excavated materials that are recovered via a treatment 
operation can be re-used on-site under the CL:AIRE Definition of Waste: 
Development Industry Code of Practice. This voluntary Code of Practice provides a 

Page 18



framework for determining whether or not excavated material arising from site during 
remediation and/or land development works are waste.  Developers should ensure 
that all contaminated materials are adequately characterised both chemically and 
physically, and that the permitting status of any proposed on site operations are 
clear. 
Waste to be taken off site - Contaminated soil that is, or must be disposed of, 
is waste. Therefore, its handling, transport, treatment and disposal are subject to 
waste management legislation, which includes: 
 Duty of Care Regulations 1991
 Hazardous Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2005
 Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2010
 The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011
Developers should ensure that all contaminated materials are adequately characterised both 
chemically and physically in line with British Standards BS EN 14899:2005 'Characterisation 
of Waste - Sampling of Waste Materials - Framework for the Preparation and Application of a 
Sampling Plan' and that the permitting status of any proposed treatment or disposal activity is 
clear. If in doubt, the Environment Agency should be contacted for advice at an early stage to 
avoid any delays.

 The application should consider the hydrogeology of the area, if impacts are identified 
mitigation methods must be put in place. The final planning application should be 
accompanied by a scheme to dispose of surface water. There should be no infiltration of 
surface water on contaminated land or any discharge of any contaminated water to ground. 
Where infiltration techniques are to be used for surface water disposal the appropriate levels 
of treatment must be applied.   

 We note the observation of tanks on the site and evidence of spillage on the site. We concur 
that a Phase 2 generic quantitative risk assessment, including site investigation is required to 
be undertaken on the site.  There may be some private groundwater abstractions in the 
vicinity of the site which we do not have a record of.

Lead Local Flood Authority: - No objections. Comments as follows:
 The principle approach to drainage is acceptable, however further details would be 

required regarding drainage calculations, routes of existing culverts. As this is an 
outline planning application, I would therefore want conditions around the drainage 
included in the approval. This might include proving the drainage and 50% reduction 
in greenfield run off. I don’t think in this case this is an unreasonable request.

United Utilities (UU): - No objections. Comments as follows:
• The site should be drained on separate systems with foul water draining to the public sewer 

and surface water draining in the most sustainable way in accordance with the hierarchy 
identified in the Building Regulations: (i) a soakaway/infiltration system; (ii) a watercourse; (iii) 
a sewer. 

• To reduce the volume of surface water draining from the site we would promote the use of 
permeable paving on all driveways and other hard-standing areas including footpaths and 
parking areas.

• United Utilities will have no objection to the proposal provided that the following conditions are 
attached to any approval: -

(i) This site must be drained on a separate system, with only foul drainage connected 
into the foul sewer. Surface water should discharge to the surface water sewer 
located in Langley Lane at a rate not exceeding 50 litres per second.

(ii) No surface water from this development is discharged either directly or indirectly to 
the combined sewer network.

 A domestic water supply can be made available to the proposed development. The applicant 
must undertake a complete soil survey, as and when land proposals have progressed to a 
scheme design i.e. development, and results submitted along with an application for water. 
This will aid in our design of future pipework and materials to eliminate the risk of 
contamination to the local water supply. Each individual unit will require a separate metered 
supply at the applicant's expense and all internal pipework must comply with current water 
supply (water fittings) regulations 1999.

Page 19



Environmental Health Officer (EHO): - No objection subject to condition securing restrictions on hours 
of construction to 07:30am to 6.00pm Monday to Friday; 9.00am to 2.00pm on Saturdays. No work on 
Sundays.

Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service: Comments as follows:
 The provisions of S63 of the Greater Manchester Act (1981) will be applicable to the scheme. 

This will enable the Fire Authority to request additional provisions for access for the Fire 
Service when proposals are submitted for Building Regulation approval.

 The Fire Service requires vehicular access for a fire appliance to within 45m of all points 
within the dwellings. 

 The access road should be a minimum width of 4.5m and capable of carrying 12.5 tonnes. 
Additionally if the access road is more than 20m long a turning circle, hammerhead, or other 
turning point for fire appliances will be required. The maximum length of any cul-de-sac 
network should be 250 m.

 There should be a suitable fire hydrant within 165m of the furthest dwelling.
 The Fire Service strongly supports the installation of domestic sprinkler systems as a positive 

measure to protect persons.  At a small cost occupants’ can be given the reassurance of a 
high level of protection.  All developers should positively consider the viability of installing 
domestic sprinkler systems.  

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS): Comments as follows:
 The application has been submitted supported by an archaeological Desk Based 

Assessment (DBA) prepared by Nexus Heritage. The Historic Environment Record 
(HER) for Greater Manchester was consulted in preparing the DBA which draws 
together a variety of historic documentary and cartographic sources, and benefits 
from a site visit. Having reviewed the evidence of the HER, historic mapping and 
documentary sources the DBA considers the likelihood that remains of different 
periods may survive within the site boundary. The DBA recognises that opportunities 
for identifying earlier period artefacts through, for example, collection from ploughed 
field surfaces have been few and far between. It is therefore unsurprising that there 
are no finds from earlier periods recorded on the HER within the PDA. However, it 
concludes that apart from the remains of various buildings and features identified on 
the 1848-51 maps, most of which have eighteenth or nineteenth century origins, 
there is only a low potential for unknown archaeology of earlier periods to survive. A 
series of nine heritage assets, all undesignated, are identified from the early mapping 
and include a toll bar cottage and well, a farmstead, trackways associated with Close 
Road Farm (possibly) and Lees Farm, a well associated with Lees Farm, an area of 
clay extraction for brick manufacture, a cottage or cottages fronting Langley Lane 
and a post-medieval township boundary. 

 Topographically the PDA occupies an area of gently sloping, undulating ground from 
which Langley Brook drains south-west down to land below c.120m where eventually 
it joins the River Roch. The DBA concludes there is some potential for evidence 
relating to the identified nine heritage assets to be encountered and that some scope 
for identifying and recording any such remains of these may need to be undertaken 
as a condition of consent. The report suggests that an archaeological watching brief 
undertaken as a condition of planning consent during the development would be 
adequate. GMAAS accepts the general conclusions of the DBA, but recommends 
that a conditioned programme of works should include phased evaluation of the PDA 
using geophysics and targeted trenching to see if earlier remains do survive. The 
evaluation might then lead on to targeted open area excavation. 

 To secure the programme of work GMAAS recommends a condition for a written 
scheme of investigation.  historic

Green Infrastructure Officer: - No objections. Comments as follows:
 Detailed planting plans and a species list, particularly for the woodland areas to the north of 

Page 20



the site given it is in the vicinity of Hopwood Woods Local Nature Reserve, SBIs and Ancient 
woodland areas and the possibility of invasive or problem species being introduced. 

 Pleased that a number of the larger trees along the edge of the proposed site are identified 
for retention and protection during the development.  

Natural England: - No objections. Comments as follows:
 Based upon the information provided, Natural England advises the Council that the proposal 

is unlikely to affect any statutorily protected sites.
 In your letter, you request that Natural England provides advice on European Protected 

Species. Natural England has published Standing Advice on protected species. As Standing 
Advice it is a material consideration in the determination of applications in the same way as 
any individual response received from Natural England following consultation.

 The Standing Advice should not be treated as giving any indication or providing any 
assurance in respect of European Protected Species (EPS) that the proposed development is 
unlikely to affect the EPS present on the site; nor should it be interpreted as meaning that 
Natural England has reached any views as to whether a licence is needed (which is the 
developer’s responsibility) or may be granted.

 This application may provide opportunities to incorporate features into the design which are 
beneficial to wildlife, such as the incorporation of roosting opportunities for bats or the 
installation of bird nest boxes. The authority should consider securing measures to enhance 
the biodiversity of the site from the applicant, if it is minded to grant permission for this 
application. This is in accordance with Paragraph 118 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. Additionally, we would draw your attention to Section 40 of the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act (2006) which states that ‘Every public authority 
must, in exercising its functions, have regard, so far as is consistent with the proper exercise 
of those functions, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity’. Section 40(3) of the same Act 
also states that ‘conserving biodiversity includes, in relation to a living organism or type of 
habitat, restoring or enhancing a population or habitat’.

 This application may provide opportunities to enhance the character and local distinctiveness 
of the surrounding natural and built environment; use natural resources more sustainably; and 
bring benefits for the local community, for example through green space provision and access 
to and contact with nature. Landscape characterisation and townscape assessments, and 
associated sensitivity and capacity assessments provide tools for planners and developers to 
consider new development and ensure that it makes a positive contribution in terms of design, 
form and location, to the character and functions of the landscape and avoids any 
unacceptable impacts.

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU): - The GMEU commented on the previous application 
where it raised no objections.  However given the time lapse since the previous surveys and 
cumulative impacts between this development and the neighbouring site I have updated our 
comments.
Protected Species
The site was assessed for protected species and regarded as low risk for all species including bats.  
We accepted the finds of these assessments previously but it is worth noting that this was partly as a 
result of the neighbouring development ecological assessment that was carried out in far greater 
detail including bat activity surveys and breeding bird surveys that did not occur on this site.  As the 
survey data is now becoming out of date please apply the following conditions and informatives to any 
permission.
If the development hereby approved does not commence before 28th February 2016, all ponds within 
250m will be reassessed for great crested newt breeding potential and the finding supplied to and 
agreed in writing by the LPA.  Reason – GCN were located around 800m NE of the development in 
2013.  
Prior to commencement of earthworks a survey of the site and within 30m of the boundaries for 
badger setts will occur and the findings supplied to and agreed in writing by the LPA. Reason – 
Badgers have been recorded in the locality by the neighbouring developments consultants. 
Prior to operation a ‘lighting design strategy’ for the development shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the LPA.  The strategy shall:

 Identify areas/features on site that are potentially sensitive to lighting for bats 
and;

Page 21



 show how and where the external lighting will be installed  (through 
appropriate lighting contour plans) 

so that it can be demonstrated clearly that any impacts on bats are negligible.  All external lighting 
shall be installed in accordance with agreed specifications and locations set out in the strategy.
Reason – Neighbouring development demonstrated that the hedgerows around the development 
provided commuting habitat for common pipistrelle including the western boundary of this 
development which is contiguous with this development and the southern boundary of this site which 
was surveyed by the adjacent developer.
Breeding Birds
No survey occurred but potential bird nesting habitat will lost as a result of the development including 
the farm buildings where evidence of swallow nests was noted.  All British birds nests and eggs (with 
certain limited exceptions) are protected by Section 1 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as 
amended. 
Please apply the following condition to any permission:
No site clearance including demolition shall occur between the 1st March and 31st August in any year 
unless a detailed bird nest survey by a suitably experienced ecologist has been carried out 
immediately prior to clearance and written confirmation provided that no active bird nests are present 
which has been agreed in writing by the LPA.
Invasive Species
No reference is made within the document to invasive species.  The neighbouring development 
identified Himalayan balsam along the Whittle Brook around 30m from the development boundary.  
This is a highly mobile species and could have spread in to the boundary hedgerow over the last 
couple of years.  Please apply the following condition to any permission.
Prior to any earthworks a survey for invasive plant species including japanese knotweed and 
himalayan balsam will occur and the finding supplied to and agreed in writing to the LPA.  If any 
invasive species are present a method statement detailing avoidance, control and eradication 
measures should also be supplied to and agreed in writing by the LPA, prior to any earthworks.
Habitat Loss and Landscaping
The development site covers approximately 3.9ha of generally low value ecological habitats, 
farmland, with moderate value habitats associated with the hedgerows.   The scale of the 
development is such however that despite the low value of the majority of the site, mitigation should 
be provided in order to comply with guidance within the NPPF (section 109).  No ecological mitigation 
is being offered with this development the design and access noting the low value of the site.  I 
disagree, ecological mitigation is required because of the extent of loss but accept that the low value 
of the habitats to be lost mean that mitigation is possible on site, (as has been provided on the 
adjacent site) through retention and enhancement of boundary features, to act as corridors across the 
site and provision of additional habitat adjacent to these boundaries.   This could be conditioned along 
the following lines.  
No development shall take place until an ecological mitigation strategy been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the LPA.  The content of the mitigation strategy shall include:

a) Provision of around 0.4ha of retained and enhanced semi-natural habitat
b) Mitigation  and enhancement of hedgerow and habitat connectivity 
c) Mitigation for loss of grassland
d) Mitigation for loss of bird nesting habitat including swallows
e) Timing of works 
f) Maintenance
g) Monitoring

The works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details.
Peaks and Northern Footpaths Society: - If planning permission is granted a condition should be 
attached to ensure that there is no obstruction to the public right of way no. 114A.

Public Rights Of Way – Mid Rupp 114 runs along the western boundary of the land which is the 
subject of this application, and joins Mid FP 114 at a point which appears to be just to the north west 
of the land. Both public rights of way must remain clear and unobstructed at all times during any 
works and in particular must not be obstructed by any plant or machinery whilst any works are on-
going. Any application to close or divert, temporarily or otherwise, either public right of way must be 
done through the usual and proper channels.

Page 22



Rochdale Group of Ramblers: - Object.  This would be a loss of amenity and any development would 
have an adverse effect on the environment and the wildlife. These areas are used by local residents 
and visitors for walking and exercise and link in to an extended network of Public Rights of Way which 
includes part of the Rochdale Way.This area is one of the remaining green spaces left between the 
built up urban areas of Middleton and Heywood.
Rochdale is a town full of brown field development opportunities, old mills and factories where there is 
no rural beauty to destroy. It has not gone unnoticed that the developers have chosen a country area 
on the edge of an attractive green belt within easy access of the motorway, factors that would 
influence sales, rather than develop any one of a number of brown field sites available throughout 
Rochdale.

Schools Service: - No objections. Comments as follows:
 In taking a view on developer contributions for this scheme, I have considered the 

school place availability for the Middleton Township as a whole, rather than a 2 mile or 3 
mile walking distance for primary and secondary places respectively. This is because it 
references our place planning areas, and makes overall sense in meeting school place 
demand. The strategy of the Local Authority is to provide additional places to meet that 
expected demand in existing schools, without over-providing too many places. The 
Authority will consult in summer term 2015 on how additional places will be provided to 
meet current projected demand.

 Whilst the Birth data indicates fewer children being born in the township for admission in 
2018, the number of extra Reception Class places to be provided by the Local Authority 
will be reduced to match the reduced demand whilst retaining a margin for preference 
and movement. This shows there would be a shortfall in capacity without the provision 
of the additional planned places to accommodate the peak in demand.

 Additional Reception Class places will be needed in the Township for 2016 to 2018, 
above those already planned. The Local Authority is consulting with schools, parents 
Diocesan Authorities to provide additional places in Middleton. The proposals for 2016, 
2017 and 2018 are to:

(i) increase the admission capacity at Bowlee Park CP from 90 to 120 places and to 
consider whether this should be a permanent enlargement to take account of 
potential housing developments in this area of Middleton; and

(ii) increase the admission capacity at Boarshaw CP from 30 to 60 places for a 
further 2 years, i.e.2017 and 2018 (subject to review)

 To meet the expected increase in demand, and taking account of consultation with 
schools, parents and interested parties, in December 2014 the Borough’s Cabinet 
approved proposals to provide 60 extra Year 7 places in the Township for the period to 
2019. These places would be provided as follows: 30 additional places from September 
2016 onwards at Cardinal Langley RC. There are no proposals for additional places at 
St Anne’s Academy at the time of the preparation of this report.   

 The expected Pupil Yield based on standard BSF formula on the whole development 
(88 houses) is 22 primary places (3 per year group) and 9 secondary places (2 per year 
group) applied to the projections from 2016. There would also be an expected 3 children 
per year group for nursery age children (rising 3’s and 4’s). There would also be an 
expected 2 children per year group post 16.

 Developer contributions would need to support the provision of additional places in the 
Township for both primary and secondary sectors as follows:  

 For the primary sector, additional places could be accommodated within an existing 
primary school:  88 dwellings x 0.25 =22 children x £12,320.01 = £271,040.22

 For the secondary sector, additional places could be accommodated within existing 
secondary schools: 88  dwellings x 0.1 =9 children x £15,400.01 = £138,600.09 

Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM): - No objections. Comments as follows:
 Most of the site other than the northwest corner is within reasonable walking distance of bus 

stops along Hollin Lane which offer services to Manchester, Heywood, Middleton and Bury. 

Page 23



Improvements to public transport infrastructure could make the whole site more accessible by 
public transport. TfGM would reiterate their recommendation made on applications in the 
immediate area that the proposed developments should provide 4 new bus stops on Hollin 
Lane.

 The layout of the site should be designed to maximise the site location in relation to public 
transport and encourage cycling and walking. The indicative layout proposes a public open 
space and footpath links that don’t appear to take full advantage to provide natural 
surveillance. Any proposed footpath link should be designed to be suitable for cycling. 

 It is important to influence peoples travel patterns at the beginning of occupation and 
therefore it is encouraging to note that this application is accompanied by a framework travel 
plan. Should Rochdale BC be minded to grant permission it is suggested that the further 
development, submission, implementation and monitoring of a full residential travel plan be 
attached as a condition.

Strategic Planning: - Assessed within Analysis section of report.  

GM Crime Prevention - Having viewed the submitted Crime Impact Statement, Greater Manchester 
Police (GMP) can confirm that the report falls below the minimum standard required in order to assess 
a development of this nature at this stage; our concerns are based on the following areas:

 The report does not contain certified crime data that is required to inform the risk assessment 
for the development. This then impacts on the rest of the assessment as it lacks credible 
evidence based data to inform the developer of required crime prevention measures to 
incorporate within the scheme. 

 There is a lack of information around the method in which crimes have been committed 
(modus operandi) and thus the report lacks the informed direction for the developer to adopt 
targeted prevention measures for the proposal.

 The current submitted report lacks listed and tested design solutions based on the current 
crime trends in the area.

 There is currently no information included within the report that lists the physical security 
specification for the development or security standards that will need to be achieved in order 
to deliver a robust and secure completed build.

 The current submitted report lacks detailed information around the proposed layout which 
could be assessed at this early stage of development to ensure that designing out crime has 
been considered to its fullest extent. 

 It is essential that all developments of this nature should adopt and build to Secured by 
Design standards as it is a proven accreditation process used to assist in the delivery of 
sustainable environments to reduce crime and improve the future safety of the site and its 
residents. 

The summary above is a brief indication of some of the areas of concern identified within the report.  
It should be noted that whilst the applicant has indicated that future engagement is proposed with 
Design for Security, DFS are keen to consult at an early stage and offer to service to provide a 
preliminary report for submission to the LPA.  Any associated cost of a report prepared at this stage is 
subtracted from the fee when preparing a full report for the proposed development.  
Greater Manchester Police are keen to support future development across the region and the 
planning process and would like to offer our specialist knowledge to the developer in order to assist in 
working towards a remedy for the highlighted issues. This can be achieved by the applicant through 
making contact with our team so that we can assist with addressing the aforementioned issues. 
Officer comments – This could be conditioned as a requirement for submission and consideration at 
Reserved Matters stage.

Community Safety: - No comments to make until detailed design stage.

Page 24



Sport England: - I note that this planning application is the resubmission of 15/00358/OUT.  In the 
previous planning application, my colleague Ms Pudge wrote on the 9th September 2015, that her 
objection was to be withdrawn subject to a suitable level of contribution towards sporting infrastructure 
is made.
I note in the applicants covering letter under section 3; Local Infrastructure and again the Design and 
Action Statement; paragraph 6.4, the applicants are willing to make a S106 contribution towards sport 
which I welcome.
The level of the contribution and where it is to be spent I leave up to the Rochdale Metropolitan 
Borough council, but I would refer both the applicants and the council to our Sports Facility Calculator 
as a guide of the level of contributions which could be justifiably sought for the various typologies: 
https://www.activeplacespower.com/reports/sports-facility-calculator

Sport England, in conjunction with Public Health England, has produced ‘Active Design’ (October 
2015), a guide to planning new developments that create the right environment to help people get 
more active, more often in the interests of health and wellbeing. The guidance sets out ten key 
principles for ensuring new developments incorporate opportunities for people to take part in sport 
and physical activity. The Active Design principles are aimed at contributing towards the 
Government’s desire for the planning system to promote healthy communities through good urban 
design. Sport England would commend the use of the guidance in the master planning process for 
new residential developments. The document can be downloaded via the following link:  

http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/planning-for-sport/planning-tools-and-
guidance/active-design/ 

This being the case, Sport England offers its support for this these applications subject to suitable 
contributions are made to the sporting infrastructure.
REPRESENTATIONS

Direct Publicity: - The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the application by letter. In 
addition, as the proposal represents major development, is a departure from the UDP and has the 
potential to affect public rights of way, notices have also been posted on the site and in the local 
press. A total of 314 letters have been received from individual properties in objection to the 
application.  The letters received are a mix of individual letters and pro-forma type responses.

The points of objection made in the letters, followed by officer responses, are summarised as follows:

 The application doesn’t meet the key criteria identified in RMBC’s own UDP, specifically 
policy D/10 on the ‘Safeguarding of Protected Open Land’.  There is no proven need for this 
development as the application has declined by over 2000 people according to the 2011 
Census.  There are already 800 houses for sale in the Middleton area.

 Developing the land in question will remove its amenity to the Middleton and Heywood 
population who use it for health, recreational and equestrian purposes, contravening the 
Greater Manchester health and wellbeing legislation to which RMBC is a signatory.  Part of 
that legislation mandates that areas of social and urban deprivation, into which Langley and 
Hollin estates fall, are required to be provided with greenspaces for wellbeing and amenity.  
Developing them will remove that ability.

 The neutral letter states that the pumping station is indicated to be located over a culvert and 
well, which serves Langley Lane Farm and this could be detrimental to the ecology of the 
farm land and water way.  

 Green Belt land should be protected from developers wanting to make a profit.  There has 
been no change in circumstances since the refusal of previous applications and the dismissal 
of an appeal on the site to indicate that a different decision should be reached. The site 
performs the same function as the Green Belt and should remain open, as intended by the 
policy in the UDP.

 There are numerous brownfield sites available throughout the borough which should be 
developed as a priority before any more greenfield sites are released for housing. The 
Council’s own figures illustrate that RMBC have enough land on which to build over 11,500 
new properties throughout the borough, thus fulfilling its 5 year housing land supply target 

Page 25

https://www.activeplacespower.com/reports/sports-facility-calculator
http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/planning-for-sport/planning-tools-and-guidance/active-design/
http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/planning-for-sport/planning-tools-and-guidance/active-design/


without any need to build on countryside or farmland. RMBC has an annual quota (laid down 
by government) to construct approximately 400 houses on an annual basis within the borough 
and is currently the only Local Authority in Greater Manchester to be ahead of its building 
quota. Recent applications approved in Middleton (e.g. Langley and British Vita) have allowed 
the construction of over 600 new houses in the township. Houses of the type proposed are 
already freely available on the market and those already for sale are currently struggling to 
sell. Therefore, there is no justifiable need for further housing within the borough at the 
present time, and certainly not within the countryside.

 The development will spoil one of the last few remaining open green spaces in Middleton, will 
detract from the openness of the land and adjoining Green Belt in visual terms and will 
diminish the enjoyment of the countryside for recreational and sporting purposes through the 
loss of green pastures and removal and obstruction of existing bridleways and footpaths 
(including removing this benefit for future generations).  The development of this area of 
Protected Open Land would see the effective merging of Middleton and Heywood and an 
associated 12 mile long urban sprawl between Manchester and Bamford. The land has been 
left open for centuries and designated as Protected Open Land in order to avoid this, and to 
provide a green buffer between the two towns. The release of the land for housing would set 
a precedent allowing the development of additional, adjoining land in the future.

 The development would destroy existing flora and fauna on the site including ancient 
hedgerows, grasslands, ponds and other natural habitats for current species, many of which 
are protected (e.g. bats and great crested newts) and known to exist within the site. 

 The proposed development would lead to a significant increase in traffic generation on the 
already busy thoroughfares of Langley Lane and Hollin Lane. These issues would be 
exacerbated by construction traffic during the course of development and additional vehicles 
associated with future occupiers of the houses. Both schemes propose 2 car parking spaces 
per dwelling, resulting in a minimum of 710 additional vehicles in the locality (355 x 2). There 
is insufficient capacity on surrounding streets and junctions to accommodate this increase in 
traffic and this would also be exacerbated through by the forthcoming construction of a new 
trunk road at junction 19 of the M62, located a short distance to the north of the site. 
Accordingly, the development would have a detrimental impact on road safety. Pedestrian 
safety is also of particular concern in this location given the site’s close proximity to St Anne’s 
Academy.

 The increase in traffic arising from the development, both during the anticipated seven year 
build regime and following the occupation of the houses, would result in an increase in 
airborne pollutants, which would have an adverse impact on air quality in the area and, 
accordingly, the health of surrounding residents. Air quality is already poor and the farmland 
helps to reduce this.  The length of time required to construct the development would also 
mean noise, disturbance, dust and traffic disruption throughout the build period, thereby 
creating a burden on the local community lasting for a number of years

 It is unclear whether the site can be adequately drained in order to prevent future flooding and 
whether the existing sewerage system has the capacity required to deal with the additional 
foul and surface water generated by the proposal.  The site already suffers from poor 
drainage.  The water pressure in the area is already very low and is likely to be further 
impacted as a result of the development.

 The development is intended to provide executive homes and will result in Middleton 
becoming a commuter town for residents working in Manchester. This type of housing would 
not fall within the definition of social housing and the prices would put the houses out of the 
reach of local people.

 The addition of new homes on the site would put increased pressure on local schools and 
other public services (e.g. transport, GPs, dentists, utilities etc.) which are already stretched. 
The development is likely to add a further circa 300 children requiring new schools places. 
These are not presently capable of being provided in the area and the education system is 
already operating at/over capacity. The cost of this will be borne by the Council.

 The development would also increase the potential for crime and disorder both during the 
construction period and once the houses are finished (e.g. through burglaries and trespassing 
onto a construction site). This would increase pressure on the already under-resourced local 
police force.
There is considerable local opposition to the development. The Council should support the 
views of its residents and refuse the application on the basis of this opposition and the force 
of public opinion.

Page 26



An additional representation has been received on behalf of the trustees of St Anne’s Academy. This 
states that St Anne’s is situated just off the main route proposed for access and with no changes to 
the original plan, we the trustees are of the mind that this application if passed, would put the health 
and safety of the children, staff and users at risk. Once again in this second application, the applicants 
have not taken the opportunity to consult with the Academy or trustees as requested, therefore giving 
us no chance to raise our concerns with the applicant, as we had with the other large local 
development lately agreed.

ANALYSIS

Background to the Site and Its Allocation as Protected Open Land

It is important to set out the background to the designation of the Protected Open Land, particularly 
given that over the years, there have been conflicting pressures in respect of the Protected Open 
Land in this area to (a) have it included within the Green Belt and (b) for it to be allocated for 
development.  

Greater Manchester Green Belt Local Plan

The 1984 Greater Manchester Green Belt Local Plan (GMGBLP) shows that the land was not 
included within the Green Belt and formed part of a wider area of open land to the north and west of 
Middleton.  The reasons for this land not being included within the Green Belt are not known but it is 
noted that large areas of undeveloped open land around the urban areas of Greater Manchester were 
left out of the Green Belt at that time to ensure the permanence of the Green Belt by not making it 
overly restrictive in terms of meeting the future development needs of the existing built up area. This 
buffer land has been similarly designated as either Protected Open Land or Safeguarded Land within 
the local plans of other Greater Manchester Districts.  

In the case of the wider designation of land to the north of Middleton, some release of Protected Open 
Land has previously been permitted as a result of development needs at that time. It is noted that land 
was released for residential development to the south of Langley Lane (former Bishop Marshall 
school site) in the late 1980’s and land to the south of the current St. Anne’s Academy in the 1990’s. It 
is also noted land was released for development in the 1980’s to allow for an expansion of Stakehill 
Business Park.

The Greater Manchester Green Belt has not been reviewed since 1984 despite a commitment being 
made in the then regional planning guidance of 2003 to review the boundaries of the Green Belt in 
2011.  

1999 Unitary Development Plan (UDP)

The former UDP adopted in 1999 reaffirmed the Green Belt as set out within the 1984 GMGBLP with 
some minor exclusions.  This again showed that the land at Langley Lane and Hollin Lane was not 
within the Green Belt.  This UDP introduced an Open Land Protection policy (Policy C/9) for land 
between the Defined Urban Area (DUA) and the Green Belt.  Since the land in question falls between 
the DUA and the Green Belt then this policy was relevant to this site.  Policy C/9 of the 1999 UDP was 
as follows:

On land between the Green Belt and the Defined Urban Area, or between the Green Belt and the 
Borough boundary, other than land allocated for development, the Council will normally grant planning 
permission only for development which would be permissible if the land were in Green Belt, or for 
development:-
(a) Which would be acceptable on agricultural land by virtue of Policies C/1 and C/2;
(b) Which would not detract from the visual amenity and environment of open land in general and 

especially adjacent Green Belt; 
(c) For recreational uses, including ancillary buildings required in connection with an outdoor 

facility, subject to the provisions of countryside recreation policies, especially Policy R/27; and
(d) Comprising an extension to, the conversion, re-use or replacement of:-

(i) an existing dwelling;

Page 27



(ii) a building in connection with an existing source of employment; or
(iii) an agricultural building

provided that it is of an appropriate scale and will not cause any significant adverse impact on the 
immediate locality, its amenities and the open character of its surroundings.

(For the avoidance of doubt, the construction of new dwellings and new buildings in connection with a 
new industrial or commercial use will not normally be permitted.)

Land outside the Defined Urban Area which is likely to be suitable and required to meet development 
needs in the years immediately following the end-date of the present Plan will be safeguarded for that 
purpose and is indicated on the Proposals Map.  It is subject to all the provisions of this Policy during 
the currency of the Plan.

At the Inquiry into the 1999 UDP, representations were submitted seeking the inclusion of both the 
Hollin Lane and Langley Lane sites within the Green Belt.  In considering these requests the Inspector 
considered two criteria in relation to including land within the Green Belt: (1) that Green Belts should 
not include land which it is unnecessary to keep permanently open, and (2) that the boundary around 
an existing built up area should not be drawn so tightly that it becomes impossible to make proper 
provision for necessary development in the future.  The Inspector concluded that the addition of these 
sites to the Green Belt was not justified. 

Although the Inspector considered that the land should not be included in the Green Belt, neither was 
he convinced that the land should be released for housing or employment development at that time, 
despite representations received in respect of the land north of Langley Lane.  On this matter, he 
concluded that the land should remain as Protected Open Land. 

2006 Unitary Development Plan (UDP)

The UDP adopted in 2006 did not change the designation of the land off Langley Lane and Hollin 
Lane, in that it remained land between the urban area and the Green Belt.  The only slight change 
was that the term for such land changed to Protected Open Land (as opposed to Open Land 
Protection) and the wording of the related policy (D/10) was simplified to the following:

Within the areas of Protected Open Land defined on the Proposals Map, development proposals will 
be permitted that fall within one or more of the following categories: 

a) development which would be acceptable were it in the Green Belt; or
b) limited infilling within an established pocket of housing or industry where this is in scale with 

the area and will not adversely affect its character or surroundings; or
c) a limited extension to an existing building which:
(i) forms part of an existing source of employment; or
(ii) is necessary for the establishment of a new enterprise or business which satisfies other 

policies of the Plan; and
(iii)  is sited within the existing curtilage of the business concerned, and will not adversely affect 

the character of the surrounding land and its openness.

Where new buildings are permitted, they should be sited to form a group with existing buildings.  
Where this is not possible, buildings, car parking areas and other new structures, should be sited 
where they will be well screened and unobtrusive in the landscape.  All buildings and extensions 
should be of a high standard of design, using materials that are compatible with the landscape, and 
should not detract from the visual amenity and environment of adjacent Green Belt.

As with the 1999 UDP objections were received seeking the inclusion of the application sites within 
the Green Belt and seeking the release of the land for development.

In terms of including the land within the Green Belt, the Inspector concluded that given the size of the 
site any move to include it within the Green Belt should be part of a wider review of Green Belts within 
Greater Manchester. At that time Regional Planning Guidance indicated that such a review was not 
necessary. He added that, considering national and regional guidance, the objectors had not 

Page 28



established the exceptional circumstances sufficient for him to recommend a modification to include 
the land within the Green Belt.   

In terms of considering whether the land should be released for development, the Inspector did not 
deal with this site specifically but it was included in his general view that a review of the approach to 
identifying sites for additional housing should be carried out.  As part of this wider assessment all the 
omission sites should be considered to determine an appropriate number of residential allocations. 
This proposed modification to the plan was not taken forward as it was considered that sufficient land 
would come forward to the meet the relatively low housing target for the Borough as set out in 
regional guidance at that time. 

The extent of the Green Belt to the north of the site has been reviewed by Inspectors during the 
examination of the previous Unitary Development Plan dated 1999 and the examination of the Green 
Belt Local Plan dated 1984.  At the Inquiry into the 1999 UDP, the Inspector considered requests to 
include both the Hollin Lane and Langley Lane sites in the Green Belt. The Inspector concluded that: 
Green Belts should not include land that it is unnecessary to keep permanently open; and the 
boundary around an existing built up area should not be drawn so tightly that it becomes impossible to 
make proper provision for necessary development in the future.  The Inspector ultimately concluded 
that the addition of the Protected Open Land into the Green Belt was not justified.  

It is clear from this that the land the subject of the Protected Open Land designation was not intended 
to remain permanently open, but instead was to be safeguarded to accommodate future development 
needs beyond the period of the 1984 Green Belt Local Plan and the 1999 Unitary Development Plan.  
The Protected Open Land designation was subsequently carried forward into the 2006 UDP.  

Principle of Development

The NPPF and Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

Planning law requires applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
published in 2012 is one such material consideration and whilst it does not change the legal status of 
the development plan, it promotes a presumption in favour of sustainable development, to which there 
are three mutually dependent dimensions: economic, social and environmental.  

Paragraph 9 of the NPPF states that pursuing sustainable development involves seeking positive 
improvements in the quality of the built, natural and historic environment, as well as in people’s quality 
of life, including (but not limited to):
 making it easier for jobs to be created in cities, towns and villages;
 moving from a net loss of bio-diversity to achieving net gains for nature;
 replacing poor design with better design;
 improving the conditions in which people live, work, travel and take leisure; and
 widening the choice of high quality homes. 

Key to its economic dimension is the contribution to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and at the 
right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and coordinating development 
requirements, including the provision of infrastructure.

The social dimension requires supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by creating a 
high quality built environment, with accessible local services that reflect the community’s needs and 
support its health, social and cultural well-being.

Finally, the environmental dimension requires that development contributes to protecting and 
enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve 
biodiversity, use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to 
climate change including moving to a low carbon economy.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for plan-making, the presumption in favour of sustainable 

Page 29



development means that local planning authorities should positively seek opportunities to meet the 
development needs of their area; and Local Plans should meet objectively assessed needs, with 
sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid change unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole; or specific policies in the NPPF indicate development should be 
restricted.  

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF goes on to state that for decision-taking, the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development means: 

 Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without delay, and
 Where the development plan is silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting planning 

permission unless: 
 Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole; or 
 Specific policies in the framework indicate development should be restricted. 

In the context of the above, the site is designated as Protected Open Land in the 2006 UDP 
Proposals Map and the proposal therefore represents a departure from the development plan, 
specifically Policy D/10. The second bullet is therefore relevant and requires an assessment of the 
relevant policies in the development plan to determine whether or not they are out-of-date.  

Whilst the NPPF was published in 2012, paragraph 211 of the NPPF makes it clear that for the 
purpose of decision-taking, the policies in the Local Plan should not be considered out-of-date simply 
because they were adopted prior to the publication of the Framework. Rather, due weight should be 
given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the framework 
- the closer the policies in the development plan to the policies in the framework, the greater the 
weight they may be afforded in decision making.  

The relevant policies in this case are Policy H/3 (residential development outside allocated areas), 
Policy H5 (Residential Density) and Policy D/10 (protected open land) of the UDP. Policy H/5 of the 
UDP requires residential development to achieve a density of between 30-50 dwellings per hectare. 
Minimum density requirements have been removed from national guidance and this policy is therefore 
significantly out-of-date and can be afforded no weight in the determination of this application.

In respect of Policies H/3 and D/10, there are two recent appeal cases of relevance which followed 
the refusal of planning permission for proposed residential development on Protected Open Land in 
the Borough. These are considered further in the subsequent section of this report. 

Release of Protected Open Land in 2013

In allowing two recent appeal decisions relating to the development of Protected Open Land at 
Keswick Street, Castleton (ref APP/P4225/A/11/2158074) and Broad Lane, Rochdale (ref 
APP/P4225/A/12/2184755), Inspectors have concluded as follows: 

• The relevant saved policies of the UDP, including both D/10 and H/3, which seek to prevent 
the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five year land supply, have been overtaken 
by events and the national policy emphasis on delivery of housing, and are therefore 
effectively out-of-date.

• The Council acknowledges that it is unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing land. 
The proposed development would assist in meeting an identified need for market and 
affordable housing in the area. In accordance with the Framework this weighs substantially in 
favour of the proposal.

• The proposition that a 20% buffer is warranted in Rochdale at present and that the land 
supply is perhaps as low as around 3 years, but around 3.66 years if the accrued shortfall is 
spread over the balance of the RSS period to 2021, was clearly not challenged by the Council 
at the Inquiry and it accepts in any event, that it cannot demonstrate a five year supply.

• Given that it is common ground between the Council and the appellants that the five year 
supply requirement is not currently met, and the development plan is manifestly out-of-date in 
terms of housing land, paragraph 14 of the Framework is undoubtedly engaged.

Notwithstanding the fact that Policy H/3 permits the development of greenfield sites when the supply 

Page 30



of land available for residential development falls below five years, Policies D/10 and H/3, which seek 
to prevent the release of greenfield sites in the presence of a five year land supply, have been 
overtaken by events and the national policy emphasis on delivery of housing and are therefore 
patently out-of-date.

Where policies are out-of-date, the NPPF directs that planning permission should be granted unless 
any adverse impacts significantly and demonstrably (emphasis added) outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the NPPF as a whole; or unless specific policies indicate development should be 
restricted.  It is noted that the site is not subject to any of the designations listed in the NPPF that 
would indicate development should be restricted. Therefore, an assessment of the adverse impacts 
and benefits is necessary to determine whether the proposal comprises sustainable development as 
defined by the NPPF.  

Material Change in Circumstances

Since the Inspectors decisions concerning the release of Protected Open Land at Broad Lane and 
Keswick Street, there have been material changes in circumstances of relevance to this application: 
the submission of the Core Strategy for Examination in May 2013; the subsequent suspension of the 
examination following the Inspector’s direction that an update to the evidence base was necessary; 
and the updated evidence base itself.  This is considered in further detail below.

Emerging Core Strategy and Land Supply

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF recognises that from the date of publication, decision-takers may also 
give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: the stage of preparation of the 
emerging plan; the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less 
significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF (the closer the 
policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be 
given).  

The Core Strategy was submitted for examination in May 2013.  An independent Inspector was 
appointed to hold the examination and the examination in public hearing sessions took place in 
October 2013. Following the initial hearing sessions, and in view of more recent evidence emerging 
from the 2011 census indicating higher than projected population growth and household formation 
rates, the Inspector sent a letter to the Council in November 2013 which set out his views in respect of 
the approach to housing.  His concerns related to the evidence regarding objectively assessed 
housing need supporting the target set out in the submitted Core Strategy. 

In order to address this issue, the Inspector directed that an update of the Council’s Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment (SHMA) was required and that the examination should be suspended in order for 
the updated SHMA and any associated work to be undertaken.  The Council agreed to suspend the 
Core Strategy at a Cabinet meeting in February 2014 to update the housing evidence.  

Following consultation on a draft SHMA in October 2014, the updated SHMA was finalised in 
February 2015 and the Core Strategy examination was recently reconvened in June 2015 to consider 
the updated housing needs evidence. The Inspector’s report and recommendations are currently 
awaited. 

The SHMA proposes that a figure of 460 dwellings per annum (dpa) would be an appropriate annual 
housing target reflecting current evidence on objectively assessed housing need, taking account 
levels of population and household growth emerging from the 2011 Census data.  It is important at 
this point however to clarify that the SHMA considers a range of need between 460 dpa up to 750 dpa 
based on various growth scenarios and it is for the Inspector to determine the appropriate housing 
target.  Until the Inspector issues the final report, the Council does not have a tested housing target 
for the plan period that would determine the number of dwellings to be delivered per annum and any 
emerging housing target, whether it be 460 or otherwise would therefore have limited weight at this 
time.   However, it is however clear that in light of this most recent evidence of housing need that the 
UDP policy requirement for 240 new homes per annum is out of date.  

Page 31



In determining whether or not a five year land supply can be demonstrated, it is necessary to consider 
the availability of land for housing against the latest tested housing target.  Recent appeal decisions 
have taken what is referred to as the recalculated Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) target into 
account.  The RSS dates back to 2003 and whilst the RSS was revoked in May 2013, the evidence 
base supporting the document remains relevant.  The RSS target for the Borough was 400dpa and 
the recalculated element refers to ‘unmet need’ arising as a result of completion rates per annum 
falling below this target since 2003.  
In considering housing land supply housing targets, the NPPF requires that a buffer of 5% be included 
in order to ensure that any target continues to be met. This would typically be land brought forward in 
the plan period to provide choice and competition in the market for land. However, this approach 
would not apply here. In circumstances where there has been a record of persistent under delivery of 
new housing, the NPPF makes clear that this buffer should be increased to 20% brought forward in 
the plan period. In Rochdale Borough’s case, housing completions in recent years, and taken as a 
whole since 2003, are well below the previous target of 400 dpa set out in Regional Spatial Strategy 
(RSS) largely as a result of the major demolition programmes within the former Housing Market 
Renewal areas, which applied from 2003.

Therefore, in considering the current five year land supply since the publication of the NPPF, Planning 
Inspectors on recent appeals have taken the view that a 20% buffer should be applied in assessing 
whether or not a five year supply can be demonstrated within the Borough.  This is the approach 
taken by Planning Inspectors in determining recent appeals in the Borough relating to the 
development of Protected Open Land at Broad Lane and Keswick Street and designated green space 
for housing elsewhere within the Borough.  
If the recalcuated RSS target is to be met by 2021 (i.e. the end of the RSS period) this would give an 
annual target of 621 dwellings per annum (as at 1st April 2015).  This figure could be met from the 
current published five year supply (i.e. as at 1st April 2015) with the 5% supply buffer but cannot be 
met with the application of the 20% buffer.  

Housing Delivery Rates

Notwithstanding the above, looking at the housing target alone also ignores the particular issues 
faced within the Borough in terms of the delivery of new homes, and the recent background of 
clearance and demolition of housing as part of the Housing Market Renewal pathfinder programme. 
Indeed, between 2003/4 and 2009/10 a total of 1,334 dwellings were demolished across the Borough. 
As a result, during the period between 2008/09 and 2012/13 there was an average net delivery of only 
302 dwellings per year, thus well below the RSS target and significantly below the recalculated target.  
Following the submission of the Core Strategy for examination, the rate of housing completions 
across the Borough has been below that set out within the RSS with a total of net completions of 267 
in 2013/14 and 313 for 2014/15, thus below both the original RSS requirement and the recalculated 
requirement.  

The Core Strategy seeks to manage the supply of land between the period of 2013 until 2028 and 
now proposes a higher housing requirement to respond to more recent evidence of population growth 
and household formation rates.  As of 1st April 2015, it must be therefore recognised that, were the 
Inspector to accept that an appropriate annual housing target for the Borough is 460, the Council 
would already be facing a shortfall of 340 housing completions against this target for the first two 
years of the Core Strategy period.  It is therefore concluded that the 20% buffer as advocated within 
the NPPF and accepted by the Inspectors as being relevant for the Borough in 2013 at the Broad 
Lane and Keswick Street appeals would similarly apply at the present time..  

Going forward, the Borough will face an ongoing and challenging pressure in terms of the delivery of 
new housing against any plan target given a significant number of dwellings are proposed to be 
demolished over the next few years as part of the continued regeneration of existing housing areas.  
The demolitions would need to be offset by an increase in new housing completions in order to avoid 
a further shortfall in new housing delivery.  

To meet targets going forward will require a significant uplift in the current rate of delivery of new 
housing and a deliverable supply of housing sites attractive to the market will be needed to ensure an 
acceleration in the rates of housing delivery can be maintained to ensure housing needs are met over 
the Core Strategy plan period.  . The Inspector, in considering the soundness of the Core Strategy, 

Page 32



may therefore instruct that unmet need is moved forward and dealt earlier in the plan period.     

Irrespective of the uncertainty surrounding the appropriate housing target, it is clear that the housing 
policies and targets within the adopted UDP are out-of-date. In such cases, paragraph 14 of the 
NPPF very clearly directs that the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ means planning 
permission should be granted unless the adverse impact of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits (emphasis added) when assessed against the Framework as a 
whole; or where specific policies indicate development should be restricted.  

The submitted Core Strategy includes policy G5, Managing Protected Open Land, which is relevant to 
the application site. This policy seeks to retain the general protection of land between the Defined 
Urban Area and the Green Belt.  However, section 3 of the policy acknowledges that if there is 
evidence development needs cannot be met elsewhere then the development of protected open land 
may be acceptable provided that all of the criteria within the section are satisfied.  This has been 
incorporated in order to provide flexibility and seeks to reflect the guidance within NPPF that 
recommends that policies included in Local Plans are sufficiently flexible and responsive to deal any 
changes to development needs over the plan period.  Again, at the current time it is not clear whether 
this policy will be carried forward without modification given the Core Strategy must meet objectively 
assessed housing need for the purpose of soundness.  

Whilst the Core Strategy has not yet been adopted and the policies within it carry limited weight at this 
time, it nevertheless sets out the approach to assessing applications for housing developments within 
such locations and accordingly reflects the approach within the NPPF in providing a more flexible and 
responsive approach to dealing with changes to development needs over the plan period.  However, 
the Core Strategy covers a period between 2013 up to 2028. As reported previously, consistent 
undersupply against the housing target in the Core Strategy, particularly in the early years of the plan 
period, would further exacerbate the undersupply of housing in the Borough and would prejudice the 
delivery of the Core Strategy in the plan period. It would also be contrary to the NPPF requirement to 
boost significantly the supply of housing. The Inspector may therefore instruct that unmet need is 
moved forward and dealt earlier in the plan period.     

With regards to the golden thread of sustainable development running through the NPPF, it is also 
noted that the site is located adjacent to a bus route that runs along Langley Lane immediately to the 
south of the site which provides hourly services into Middleton. However, a more frequent bus service 
is located along Hollin Lane to the east of the site. This route provides 3 services into Middleton Town 
Centre, Bury and Manchester with a frequency of a service every 10 minutes during the day provided 
on one of these services. The site is immediately adjacent to a secondary school, and it is noted that 
there are a number of primary schools within a 20 minute walking distance from the site. With regards 
to other local facilities, three small retail and commercial units are located at the junction of Hollin 
Lane and Langley Lane, and a public house and further small convenience shop are located within 
walking distance further along Hollin Lane to the south of the site. A wide variety of employment, 
leisure, retail, health and other community facilities and amenities located within Middleton and 
Heywood, accessible within short bus journey times of 10 minutes, with the regional centre of 
Manchester located approximately a 30 minute journey. Having regard to the above, the application 
site is considered to be within a sustainable location for the purposes of the NPPF. 

It is noted that, under both options, the number of dwellings proposed would make a significant and 
valuable contribution towards the supply of housing within the Borough.  In the context of the above, 
significant weight is afforded to the benefits of the proposal in respect of its contribution to the supply 
of housing in the Borough.  

Education Provision

Paragraph 72 of the NPPF states:

“The Government attaches great importance to ensuring that a sufficient choice of school 
places is available to meet the needs of existing and new communities. Local planning 
authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative approach to meeting this 
requirement, and to development that will widen choice in education. They should:

• give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools; and

Page 33



• work with schools promoters to identify and resolve key planning issues before 
applications are submitted.

Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential developments provide for 
social infrastructure including education facilities to meet the demand for additional school places 
created by such developments.  Whilst the weight that can be afforded to the Core Strategy policies is 
limited, the proposed residential development would generate additional demand for primary and 
secondary school places within the local area.  In accordance with the NPPF, the impact of the 
development on education provision should be mitigated. 

The Council’s Schools Service notes that the existing primary and secondary schools within the local 
area are at capacity and have evidenced immediate and future need for additional places to be 
provided within the township of Middleton. The Schools Service has subsequently requested that the 
proposed development mitigates for this additional demand for education places by providing financial 
contributions to be utilised towards providing additional education facilities at Primary and Secondary 
Schools within the local area. It is considered that the provision of such additional education places 
and facilities would be necessary in order to provide for sustainable communities and achieve the 
golden thread of sustainable development running through the NPPF. 

Accordingly, the applicants have agreed to enter into a section 106 agreement to provide financial 
contributions towards the provision of primary and secondary school places off-site. The basis for 
calculating the scale of financial contributions towards providing for primary and secondary education 
places has through these discussions been agreed with the Council as Education Authority. A more 
detailed breakdown of the calculation of the necessary financial contributions towards mitigating for 
the education need generated by the proposed development is discussed in the planning obligations 
section of this report.  

Impact on Availability of High Quality Agricultural Land

Paragraph 112 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should take into account the 
economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land. Where significant 
development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning authorities should 
seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher quality. Best and most 
versatile agricultural land is classified as grade 3A, 2 and 1.  Land of lesser quality is classified as 
grade 3B, 4 and 5. 

It is noted that the proposed development would take up approximately 3.6 Ha of agricultural land 
most recently been left over for pasture and grazing purposes.  A survey has been undertaken by the 
applicant which has concluded that due to the soil quality and climatic considerations the land within 
the site constitutes grade 3B (moderate quality). Therefore, the proposals would not result in the loss 
of best and most versatile agricultural land, which accords with the NPPF and the loss of the 
moderate quality agricultural land is necessary to secure the provision of housing. The proposal 
therefore accords with the NPPF.    

Open Space, Recreation and Sports Facilities

Paragraph 70 of the NPPF states that to deliver the social, recreational and cultural facilities and 
services the community needs, planning policies and decisions should: 

 Plan positively for the provision and use of shared space, community facilities (such as local 
shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses, and places of 
worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities and residential 
environments; 

 Ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses and 
community facilities and services. 

The need to provide for outdoor recreation and sports facilities is reflected in local planning policies in 
the UDP, where policy H/6 requires new housing developments to make adequate provision for 
recreational open space – comprising elements of both local (at a rate of 1 hectare per 1000 
population) and formal (at a rate of 1.1 hectare per 1000 population) provision. In the case of 
developments involving more than 100 bedrooms this provision is to be met through a financial 

Page 34



contribution towards the laying out (including maintenance) and/or improvement of recreational open 
space off site. Contributions to off-site recreational open space are calculated on the basis of the 
number of bedrooms being created by a development and the resulting demand for recreational open 
space arising from the occupation of the new houses.

As of the 6th April 2015, the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations now prevent more than five 
contributions being pooled towards a single form of infrastructure, such as recreation and sport 
facilities.  The Council has entered into more than 5 separate contributions for open space outdoor 
sport and recreation facilities and therefore any further contributions sought would not comply with the 
requirements of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations, unless specific projects are 
identified.

Notwithstanding this, it is noted that paragraph 73 of the NPPF highlights that access to high quality 
open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the 
health and well-being of communities.  In this regard, the indicative layout demonstrates the proposal 
would provide on-site open space, the detailed layout of which will be determined within future 
reserved matters applications. The provision of a Locally Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) within the 
linear area of public open space would provide formal children’s play facilities for the future 
occupants. Maintenance of on-site facilities would be the responsibility of the developer and it is 
intended that a landscape open space implementation and management plan will be secured by way 
of a section 106 Agreement.  

In relation to formal sports and recreation facilities, the applicant has agreed to enter into an s106 
agreement to provide financial contributions in accordance with the Sport England Sports Facilities 
Calculator, towards the provision of new, or improvement of existing sports facilities, at Bowlee 
Playing Fields to mitigate the impact of the development on sports facilities.  As such, the proposal 
includes on and off site provision of formal and informal sport and recreation facilities in accordance 
with the NPPF. It is therefore concluded that a refusal on the basis of the impact of the development 
on infrastructure in respect of sports would not be justified. 

Impact on Character of Surrounding Area and Landscape

Section 11 of the NPPF sets a wide context to conserving and enhancing the natural environment and 
requires that valued landscapes are protected and enhanced and requires that the level of protection 
is commensurate with the status and importance of landscapes. 

Policy G/BE/1 of the UDP states that new development (both buildings and their settings) will be 
required to contribute to the provision of an attractive, safe and accessible built environment, and in 
particular contribute to the quality of the townscape and landscape, and accord with the best of its 
surroundings. Developments that engender local distinctiveness will be encouraged.

Policy BE/2 further requires that development be compatible with or improve their surroundings and to 
enhance or create views, landmarks and other townscape features which make a material contribution 
to the character of the area.

Policy G/NE/5 of the UDP specifically states that in considering the impact of development proposals, 
special emphasis will be placed on the effect of development on the visual and cultural character of 
the landscape and features of acknowledged cultural, natural and historic significance. 

Policy NE/6 of the UDP goes on to states that: 

“Development will be permitted where it conserves the physical and cultural attributes of the
landscape and contributes, as appropriate, to the regeneration, restoration, enhancement or
maintenance of the landscape likely to be affected. Proposals with potential landscape and visual 
implications will be assessed having regard to the extent to which they would:

a) Make a positive contribution to the visual amenity of the area (including views into and from 
the site and surrounding area);

b) Remove incongruous landscape features;
c)  Assist the conservation of:

Page 35



(i) Landscape elements that contribute to local distinctiveness;
(ii) Historic elements which make a significant contribution (individually or cumulatively) to 

landscape character and quality (e.g., field, settlement or road patterns, existing 
buildings, sites and features of archaeological interest);

(iii) Semi-natural vegetation which is characteristic to the landscape type;
(iv) The visual condition of landscape elements; and
(v) Tranquillity and the amenity and informal recreation value of the landscape.

Development which adversely affects the character or physical structure of the landscape or which 
would detract from the physical record of the historic and cultural evolution of an area will not be 
permitted.”

With regards to the character of the wider area the site sits within the Manchester Pennine Fringe 
national character area (no. 54) which sits between the Southern Pennines to the north and 
Manchester Conurbation to the south. This area includes the towns of Bury Rochdale and Oldham 
and is described as a transitional zone between elevated, open moorlands and densely populated 
urban areas on lower ground. The landform is described as a transition from upland to lowland with 
smooth shoulders of land divided by steep-sided valleys, and with vantage points provided on 
elevated areas providing views across Greater Manchester. This notes that much of the countryside 
has been influenced by recreational use of adjacent urban areas and diversification of farmland 
resulting in a distinct urban fringe character.

The site lies to the north of the urban area of Middleton, with open fields to the north leading to the 
M62 motorway corridor, and the urban area of Heywood beyond. The application site sits within an 
undulating topography of open fields separated by hedgerows with small farm complexes interspersed 
and set within open fields. The site is located within what is characterised as settled farmlands within 
the Landscape Character Areas defined in policy NE/6 of the UDP. This notes that these areas are of 
more domesticated farmscape with occasional small settlements on lower slopes and valley edges; 
improved grasslands used for cattle, sheep and horse grazing, with a varied mix of open land uses 
including farming, equestrian, outdoor sports and managed areas of countryside.

The applicants have submitted a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment in support of the 
application. This provides a detailed assessment of the impact of the proposed development on the 
landscape and visual amenity of the surrounding area both during construction and throughout the 
lifetime of the development and also considers the cumulative impact with the other schemes.  From 
this, it is noted that the proposed development would result in effects of negligible to moderate 
adverse significance. Whilst some of these effects would reduce over time to negligible, residents in 
close proximity to the site and users of the local footpath network close to the site would experience 
the changes with the most adverse significance. Distance from the site and the degree of intervening 
vegetation serves to diminish this experience particularly in the context to housing to the south, and 
east. In many cases views of the new housing development will be seen in the context of existing 
urban features and existing housing and so would not, particularly over time be considered an 
intrusive feature.  The site has the ability to absorb change and allow the process of development 
without impacting adversely on adjacent landscapes given appropriate development layout and 
mitigation to be determined at reserved matters stage.  

The report concludes that the proposals would not represent a significant adverse effect on both the 
landscape resource and to visual receptors except where receptors are in close proximity to the site. 
The retention of existing tree and shrub vegetation would assist in assimilating the proposed 
development into the adjacent landscape and the existing urban features will allow the site to 
establish a new character without significant adverse effects. Over time it is considered that new 
landscaping as part of the development will provide positive landscape benefits.  

Having regard to the above, the character of the surrounding area and its location on the urban fringe, 
although the development would inevitably change the character of the site, it is considered that it 
would not cause significant over-riding harm to the character, qualities and visual aesthetics of the 
surrounding landscape both individually and cumulatively, in accordance with policies G/NE/5 and 
NE/6 of the UDP, and the NPPF.  It would be necessary to ensure that the detailed scale, layout and 
form of the development responds to the context of the site at reserved matters stage.  

Page 36



Highways and Traffic Implications

Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that all developments that generate significant amounts of 
movement should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment. Planning 
decisions should take account of whether:

 the opportunities for sustainable transport modes have been taken up depending on the 
nature and location of the site, to reduce the need for major transport infrastructure;

 safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people; and
 improvements can be undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit the 

significant impacts of the development. Development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe.

UDP policy A/11 states that the submission of Transport Assessments will be required alongside 
planning applications where:

a) The development has the potential to lead to a material increase in the volume of road traffic 
or increased impact because of the type of traffic, and it is necessary to determine whether 
highway works or other measures are necessary; and

b) The development is major, and thus may involve a number of individual elements or uses 
which involve major generators of travel demand, and it is appropriate to illustrate 
accessibility to the site by all modes and the likely model split of journeys to and from the site.

Emerging Core Strategy policy T2 requires development proposals, in all circumstances, to ensure 
the safety, accessibility and amenity of those who live or have business in the area to have priority.  
Policy T2 also requires the submission of Transport Assessments in circumstances such as this. This 
policy is considered to hold significant weight in decision making due to the advanced stage of this 
policy.

UDP policy indicates that the scope and detail of Transport Assessments should reflect the size of a 
development and the extent of the transport implications and should illustrate what highway works 
and other transport measures are necessary to improve access, manage parking demand, address 
the impact of the development on air and noise pollution levels, and improve accessibility by walking, 
cycling and public transport. Any necessary measures identified in the Transport Assessment must 
support and complement the Local Transport Strategy set out in the Local Transport Plan.

The application has been supported by a detailed Transport Assessment and an updated Transport 
Assessment and this concludes the proposed development, in accumulation with the development 
proposed by the other applications, can be accommodated on the highway network. The assessment 
has been reviewed by the Highways Authority, Highways England, and TfGM.

Amendments following Refusal of Previous Application

In light of the reasons for refusal pertaining to planning application 15/00358/OUT, the highways 
proposals have been reviewed by the applicant, the Council and independent consultants appointed 
by the Council. The Council’s Casualty Reduction Team has carried out a Road Safety Audit of the 
highway network which included an assessment of the highway works proposed by this scheme, and 
the proposals on nearby land (planning references 15/01183/OUT and 15/01195/OUT). An 
independent safety audit has also been undertaken. The current application includes a revised 
Transport Assessment (TA) which has considered the above, and the previous reasons for refusal.  

The revised TA and plans do not propose significant changes to the access off Hollin Lane per se. 
The proposed vehicular access to the site from Hollin Lane comprises a right turn facility for turning 
into the site and turning into Hazlehurst Drive.  This would be 3m wide.  The application proposes that 
the existing pedestrian refuge located to the north be relocated and upgraded to a signalised 
pedestrian crossing.  It is noted that this crossing was approved under application 15/01183/OUT, but 
the applicant is prepared to deliver this if this scheme was to come forward before the 15/01183/OUT 
scheme.  

Members will be aware that this resubmitted application has been twin-tracked with the submission of 
an appeal against the Council’s refusal of the original planning application. As part of the appeal 
proceedings, an independent transport consultant has been appointed in order to assess the appeal 

Page 37



scheme and the Council’s reasons for refusal. The view of the independent transport consultant 
supports the Council’s first reason for refusal in terms of the proximity of the proposed access to the 
junction of Hollin Lane and Hazelhurst Drive, which is the point of access for St Anne’s Academy due 
to the potential conflict with vehicles and pedestrians and the arrangement of the access generally.  
The Council’s independent consultant is of the view that the access should be assessed in line with 
guidance contained within both Manual for Streets 2 (MfS) and Design Manual for Roads and Bridges 
(DMRB).  The independent transport consultant raises a number of concerns in respect of the 
proposed access:

- Manual for Streets paragraph 9.4.4 states “Crossroards and multi-armed junctions have much 
higher numbers of conflicting traffic movements and therefore tend to perform worse in terms 
of road safety”.  Officers do not consider that Hollin Lane has a primarily residential function 
and the primary function of Hollin Lane is for the movement of traffic.

- The proposed site access is positioned directly opposite Hazelhurst Drive and therefore, 
forms a staggered crossroads arrangement.  The Council’s independent consultant considers 
that this proposal does not meet the required standard for a staggered layout.  DMRB 
requires a minimum stagger distance of 50m, and 50m for ghost island junctions.  The 
stagger distance between the site access and Hazelhurst Drive is significantly lower than the 
required 50m.  

- Pedestrian movements associated with the provision of a signalised pedestrian crossing, 
combined with the sub-standard layout described above, would increase the likelihood of 
pedestrian/vehicle conflicts and therefore, present a risk to the safety of motorists and 
pedestrians in the vicinity of the junction.  There is also a risk of driver confusion due to the 
presence of a signal controlled crossing in close proximity to a crossroads.  The resultant 
potential safety risk contravenes the NPPF in that if fails to minimise conflict between traffic 
and cyclists or pedestrians.  

The Council’s Highways Service has assessed the current application in light of the revised Transport 
Assessment and the independent review presented by the consultant and the Highways Service now 
objects to the proposal as it is considered that the scheme has failed to demonstrate that the 
proposed site access will facilitate the safe movement of vehicles and pedestrians for the reasons 
listed above. 

As a consequence, it is considered that the proposed development would result in a severe impact on 
highway and pedestrian safety in terms of the unacceptable relationship of the proposed access in 
close proximity to the junction of Hollin Lane and Hazelhurst Drive and access to St Anne’s academy 
and the pedestrian crossing facilities on Hollin Lane.  The inadequacy of the access arrangements 
would also be of detriment to the safety and efficiency of the highway network resulting in vehicles 
queuing on the highway. The proposal is therefore considered to conflict with policies G/A/1, A/2, A/3, 
A/9 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  The 
application is also considered to conflict with policy T2 of the emerging Core Strategy insofar as it 
would unacceptably affect the accessibility and safety of existing users of the local highway network, 
and future occupiers of the proposed housing development.

The submitted revised TA includes cumulative traffic impact assessments for a range of development 
scenarios. In addition to the assessment referring to the schemes in the immediate vicinity of the site, 
whilst the NPPF does not require future sites to be considered, the TA also includes the potential 
future site immediately to the north which does not currently have the benefit of planning permission. 
The applicant does not consider that the impact is significant and certainly not severe. 

The Council’s Highways section consider that whilst the developments cumulative impact does have a 
clear impact upon the Langley Lane and Hollin Lane junction, on the basis of the submitted TA, it 
cannot be determined that the impacts of this queue increase would be ‘severe’.  Consequently they 
raise no objection.  The Council’s appointed independent consultant also considers that there is 
potentially a cumulative impact on the surrounding highway network, but they also consider that this is 
unlikely to constitute a ‘severe’ impact as defined by the NPPF.  In respect of cumulative highways 
impact, the proposed development is considered to be acceptable and the recommendation does not 
therefore include a refusal reason in respect of the capacity of the highway network. 

Page 38



Notwithstanding this, it is noted that the Taylor Wimpey applications include mitigation in the form of 
improvements to the Hollin Lane and Langley Lane junction and a contribution could be sought from 
each developer under the associated section 278 agreements to collectively fund works to this 
junction to mitigate the impact of the proposals on this junction. There is sufficient flexibility for this to 
be secured through any permissions granted, including those the subject of the resolution to grant 
planning permission following the Planning and Licensing Committee meeting in January 2016. 

Public Rights of Way

UDP policy A/13 stipulates that PROW and other pedestrian routes identified in the Council's 'Local 
Walking Route Network' will be protected where they fall within sites proposed for development, 
subject to consideration of opportunities for local re-routing where this would improve convenience 
and safety for pedestrians. Improvements to the walking environment and the provision of new links 
will be a priority on the Local Walking Route Network and such improvements should address safety, 
convenience, attractiveness, comfort and accessibility for disabled people and other people with 
restricted mobility.

There a number of rights of way in the vicinity of the site and pedestrian crossing improvements 
across Hollin Lane would be necessary to ensure the development links with these PROW networks 
and provides safe crossing points for future occupants.  As a result, it is considered that the proposed 
indicative scheme would provide for a safe and accessible environment in accordance with the above 
policies of the UDP and the policy objectives set out in the NPPF.

Ecological and Nature Conservation

The NPPF requires that applications should conserve and enhance biodiversity, valued landscapes, 
minimise impacts and recognise the benefits of ecosystems. The impacts on nature conservation 
interests are also protected by a series of legislation including the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act which requires Local Authorities to have regard to nature conservation and article 10 
of the Habitats Directive stresses the importance of natural networks of linked corridors to allow 
movement of species between suitable habitats, and promote the expansion of biodiversity.

The third bullet point to paragraph 109 of the NPPF indicates that the planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising impacts on biodiversity 
and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible, contributing to the Government’s commitment 
to halt the overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that 
are more resilient to current and future pressures.

Paragraph 118 of the NPPF states that, when determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following (relevant) 
principles:

• if significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating on an 
alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused;

• proposed development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest likely to 
have an adverse effect on a Site of Special Scientific Interest (either individually or in 
combination with other developments) should not normally be permitted. Where an adverse 
effect on the site’s notified special interest features is likely, an exception should only be 
made where the benefits of the development, at this site, clearly outweigh both the impacts 
that it is likely to have on the features of the site that make it of special scientific interest and 
any broader impacts on the national network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest;

• opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be encouraged.

UDP policy NE/2 stipulates that development proposals adversely affecting sites and areas of 
ecological and geological/geomorphological importance will not be permitted (the Council seeking to 
protect and enhance them). In assessing proposals, the Council will apply national planning policy as 
it relates to international (e.g. Special Areas of Conservation – SAC), national (e.g. Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest – SSSI) and regional/local (e.g. Sites of Biological Importance – SBIs) designations 
in order to ensure that development does not adversely affect the integrity and fundamental nature 

Page 39



conservation value of these sites, and that appropriate mitigation and safeguarding is put in place.

UDP policy NE/3 indicates that, in areas where the designations in policy NE/2 are not applicable, the 
effect of land use changes on existing features, species and habitats of ecological value will be taken 
into account in assessing proposals. Development should seek to retain such features and 
incorporate them into the development. Where this would place an unreasonable constraint on the 
development, steps to provide compensatory features or habitats of an equivalent nature and value, 
commensurate with the scale and type of development permitted may be required. Developments 
which establish new landscaping and open spaces that contribute to nature conservation and local 
biodiversity will be supported and encouraged, especially where this will:

• Help to address local habitat deficiencies or the needs of species and habitats of conservation 
concern;

• Help to provide accessible, high quality natural greenspace in urban areas; or
• Create or extend wildlife corridors both within the urban area and connecting the urban areas 

with the wider countryside around towns

UDP policy NE/4 states that development proposals which would affect a species protected by 
National or European law or its habitat will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated that:

• There is no adverse impact on the species concerned;
• Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where required, 

adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current levels of the 
population of the species; and

• Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate criteria for 
development as set out in National and European legislation.

UDP policy NE/8 (a – d) indicates that proposals on sites containing trees and woodlands should 
ensure:

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and hedgerows;
• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on the 

amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root spread, 
stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully considered;

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
• The nature conservation value of existing hedgerows, trees and woodland has been 

safeguarded where appropriate including the incidence of protected species.

Both Natural England and GMEU have been consulted on the scheme and have raised no objections 
to the proposed development subject to conditions. It is considered that subsequent reserved matters 
applications and the proposed development overall would ensure that adequate mitigation and 
satisfactory precautionary measures can be put in place to ensure that the development would not 
result in significant adverse effects on the nearby Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve and the nature 
conservation value of the site or the favourable conservation status of any protected species. It is 
noted that GMEU require additional survey work to be carried out due to the length of time that has 
lapsed since the initial surveys were undertaken.  However, there is sufficient ecological information 
contained within the application in order to ensure that the Council has given due regard to the 
provisions of the Habitats Directive and planning policy concerning habitat/species protection and 
enhancement – subject to the imposition of appropriate planning conditions.  The proposed 
development is therefore considered to be in accordance with the requirements of UDP policies NE/3, 
NE/4 and NE/8, and the policies contained within the NPPF.

Impact on Trees and Important Landscape Features

UDP policy NE/7 states that no work of any nature should be carried out which could possibly affect 
the health of a tree or trees included in a Tree Preservation Order without the proper written authority 
of the Council. This includes any work which is carried out to trees or other works which could 
damage root systems or any part of the tree above ground. Any works carried out to trees must 
constitute good arboricultural practice. 

In addition, UDP policy NE/8 (criteria a – c, g and h) indicates that development proposals on sites 
containing trees and woodlands should ensure:

• Suitable space and conditions for the successful retention of trees, woodland and hedgerows;

Page 40



• That new tree planting is of an appropriate scale and species and that the impacts on the 
amenity of the development and surrounding area in the longer term e.g., root spread, 
stability, loss of daylight, leaf fall and personal safety have been fully considered;

• Suitable care and protection of trees and their environment during construction;
• Suitable arrangements for future maintenance and management of trees and woodland 

(which may need to be secured by means of a legal agreement); and
• Replacement planting of trees in the event of death or failure during a 5 year period.

The application site includes a network of hedgerows and trees running along the field boundaries 
within the site and along the site edges defining the extent of the existing fields. Otherwise the site 
comprises open fields laid to pasture and tree cover is low and it is noted that none of the trees within 
or adjacent to the site are protected by way of a Tree Preservation order. 

The indicative layout demonstrates that trees and hedgerows can be retained in the layout of the 
development.  The Councils Green Infrastructure Officer has raised no objections to the proposed 
development, subject to conditions securing the protection and retention of the existing hedgerows 
and trees to be retained, and the submission and approval of detailed planting plans for the site.  

A condition has been recommended requiring a detailed landscaping and planting scheme for the site 
to be approved in writing for the site and, or each phase, including the use of local native species 
given the sites proximity to the Hopwood Woods Nature Reserve and ancient woodland to the east, 
and the enhancement of the tree and hedgerow cover along the boundaries of the site.   

Therefore, in principle it is considered that the proposed development would not result in the loss of 
important landscape features and through the implementation of a comprehensive tree planting and 
landscaping scheme across the site secured in reserved matters applications, it is considered that 
there would be a significant gain in the quantity and spread of trees on the site as a result of the 
proposed development. Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would enhance 
biodiversity and would accord with the requirements of UDP policies NE/7 and NE/8 and the NPPF. 

Neighbour Amenity Implications and Relationship with Surrounding Uses

UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, both in 
terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the amenity of future 
residents.

Criterion (i) and (j) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by:
• Ensuring adequate provision for natural light is made both within and between buildings.
• Minimising their potential environmental impact, including noise, air and water pollution.

Bullet points 1 and 2 to Paragraph 123 of the NPPF indicate that “planning policies and decisions 
should aim to:

• avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life as a 
result of new development;

• mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and quality of life arising 
from noise from new development, including through the use of conditions.”

Criterion (a) of UDP policy EM/3 indicates that development will not be permitted where would lead to 
unacceptable levels of noise nuisance to nearby existing or future occupants of buildings, or users of 
open space.

In addition, the spacing standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note “Guidelines 
and Standards for Residential Development” recommend that a minimum separation distance of 21 
metres should be retained between principal elevations of opposing dwellings and a distance of 14 
metres between principal and secondary elevations.

The site adjoins existing residential dwellings on Hollin Lane, Hollin Drive and Langley Lane.  Whilst 
the layout is indicative and would be considered further at reserved matters stage, it is considered that 
in principle the development, subject to appropriate layout, external appearance and privacy distances 
to be determined at reserved matters stage, would not unduly impact on the amenity of the occupants 

Page 41



of adjoining properties.  These properties would experience a change in outlook, however it is an 
established principle in planning law that there is no right to a view.  The provision of an access in 
close proximity of existing properties on Hollin Lane is not considered detrimental to the amenity of 
the occupiers of these properties.

Therefore, subject to conditions, in principle the proposed development would be compatible with 
surrounding uses, both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact of surrounding uses 
upon the amenity of future residents, and would be in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policies H/3 and BE/2, the objectives of the SPG ‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential 
Development’ and the NPPF.

Air Quality, Noise and Lighting Implications

Under policies, G/EM/1, EM/2 and EM/3 it is established that environmental protection and pollution 
control should be taken into account, with care taken to ensure that air, water and noise pollution is 
kept to an acceptable level.

With regards to noise, the Council’s EHO is satisfied that external levels within the gardens would be 
within acceptable levels.  The EHO recommends a condition be attached to the permission in order to 
ensure internal noise levels meet required standards.  Subject to this condition, it is considered that 
the proposed development would in principle provide for a satisfactory level of amenity for future 
occupants and would not harm the amenity of the existing surrounding residents, and occupiers of 
surrounding uses.

In terms of air quality, an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) has been submitted in support of this 
application which concludes that the proposed development would have the potential to cause air 
quality impacts resulting from dust emissions during the construction of the development and from 
road traffic exhaust emissions during its long term operation. However, it concludes that subject to the 
implementation of dust control measures throughout construction works at the site, there would be no 
significant adverse impact on air quality in the area during this phase, and that following the modelling 
of road vehicle exhaust emission from traffic associated with the residential development there would 
be no significant adverse impacts on sensitive receptors including surrounding residents.  

A condition is recommended requiring the submission and approval of a construction management 
plan to ensure the construction impacts are mitigated. This would also ensure appropriate site working 
hours to protect the amenity of the occupants of adjoining properties to the south.  

Given the sites location on the urban fringe adjacent to open fields and the Green Belt, and roosting 
opportunities for bats, in order to ensure that any strategic lighting scheme would not result in any 
significant harm to surrounding dwellings to the south, and to the character and openness of the rural 
area to the north, a condition has been recommended requiring the submission and approval of a 
detailed lighting scheme for the site. 

Therefore, having regard to the above it is considered that subject to the above conditions the 
proposed development through its construction and ongoing use and associated activity, would not 
cause any significant harm to the surrounding environment and its respective receptors by way of 
noise, air quality and light pollution. The proposed development would therefore be in accordance with 
the requirements of UDP policies G/EM/1, EM/2, EM/3 H/3 and BE/2, and the objectives of the SPG 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” and the NPPF.

Flood Risk and Drainage Implications

Paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding [land 
within Flood Zones 2 and 3; or land within Flood Zone 1 which has critical drainage problems and 
which has been notified to the local planning authority by the Environment Agency] should be avoided 
by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but where development is necessary, 
making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere.  

Paragraph 101 of the NPPF refers to the sequential test for the location of development, which aims 
to steer new development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding.  Flood zone 1 is the lowest 

Page 42



probability of flooding, with flood zone 3 the highest. 

The non-statutory technical standards for SUD’s dated March 2015 require that for:
• Peak flow control for greenfield developments, the peak runoff rate from the development to 

any highway drain, sewer or surface water body for the 1 in 1 year rainfall event and the 1 in 
100 year rainfall event should never exceed the peak greenfield runoff rate for the same 
event.

• Volume control where reasonably practicable, for greenfield development, the runoff volume 
from the development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water body in the 1 in 100 year, 
6 hour rainfall event should never exceed the greenfield runoff volume for the same event.

UDP Policy EM/7 states that development will not be permitted in areas identified as flood plains, or 
other areas where development could contribute to increased flood risk, unless an appropriate flood 
risk assessment has been carried out and all of the following criteria are met:

• It will not increase the risk of flooding within the flood plain or in adjoining areas by reducing 
flood storage capacity, increasing flows within a flood plain or through the additional 
discharge of surface water;

• It will not itself be at risk from flooding;
• Appropriate sustainable drainage systems are used;
• Adequate access adjacent to the water course for maintenance is provided;
• Existing or proposed flood defences are protected;
• It would not result in extensive culverting; and
• Flood defence works required as a consequence of development are provided at the 

developer’s expense.

The application site falls within flood zone 1 and is therefore at a low risk of flooding (less than 1 in 
1000 or 0.1% annual probability of river or sea flooding in any year). However, the application site 
does comprise a major residential development and accordingly the application has been supported 
by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA).  

The submitted FRA considers the risk of flooding to the site from various sources including rivers, 
groundwater, artificial sources and surface water to be low. The Council as Lead Local Flood 
Authority has stated that the principle approach to drainage is acceptable, however further details 
would be required regarding drainage calculations and routes of existing culverts. It is also noted that 
the EA and UU have raised no objection to the proposal subject to conditions.  As this is an outline 
planning application, conditions are therefore recommended to require the submission of detailed 
schemes for the disposal of foul and surface waters, to incorporate attenuation methods and flow 
control devices to limit the discharge rates and sustainable urban drainage system (SUDS) measures.  

Subject to conditions, it is therefore considered that in principle adequate measures can be put in 
place in order to ensure that the development poses no unacceptable risk in terms of flooding (either 
on the site itself or elsewhere) in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy EM/7 and the 
policies within the NPPF.

Heritage and Archaeological Assets

With regard to the planning application, Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that in considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  Section 72 of the above act similarly requires that 
LPA’s pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance 
of any conservation area where relevant. Furthermore, the Court of Appeal has held that decision-
makers should give considerable importance and weight to the desirability of preserving the setting of 
listed buildings when carrying out the balancing exercise.

The first bullet point to paragraph 131 of the NPPF indicates that, in determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities should take account of the desirability of sustaining and 
enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation. Heritage assets (both designated and non-designated) are defined in Annex 2 of the 

Page 43



NPPF. 

Paragraphs 132, 133 and 137 of the NPPF identify that:
• When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated 

heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. The more important 
the asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be harmed or lost through 
alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development within its setting. As heritage 
assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear and convincing justification.

• Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to or total loss of significance of 
a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse consent.

Paragraphs 139 and 141 of the NPPF indicate that:
• Non-designated heritage assets of archaeological interest that are demonstrably of equivalent 

significance to scheduled monuments, should be considered subject to the policies for 
designated heritage assets.

• Local planning authorities should make information about the significance of the historic 
environment gathered as part of plan-making or development management publicly 
accessible. They should also require developers to record and advance understanding of the 
significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in a manner proportionate to 
their importance and the impact, and to make this evidence (and any archive generated) 
publicly accessible. However, the ability to record evidence of our past should not be a factor 
in deciding whether such loss should be permitted.

In addition, UDP policy BE/10 states that:
• Developers must take full account of the presence of known Ancient Monuments and sites of 

archaeological importance and their settings in proposals. Planning permission will be refused 
where developers do not sympathetically accommodate such structures or remains, 
particularly where the proposal has a significant affect on the site itself or its setting.

• Proposals should accommodate the physical preservation of archaeological features in situ. 
In exceptional circumstances where this is not possible, and where the site is of lesser 
significance, archaeological excavation to secure the preservation of features either on or off 
site may be appropriate to enable preservation by record. In such cases, the applicant may be 
required to carry out a programme of proper recording of archaeological evidence before 
development takes place. Such a programme could be secured by planning conditions or 
through a Section 106 obligation negotiated with the applicant. In all cases there should be a 
full and appropriate prior evaluation of the archaeological resource detailing its value, the 
likely impact of proposals and mitigation as required.

It is noted that there are no conservation areas or listed buildings on or immediately adjacent to the 
application site. The site being bordered by open fields, and to the south by existing housing.  The 
nearest listed building comprises the Grade II* listed Hopwood Hall dating back to the 16th century 
and grade II listed Hopwood Hall Chapel, which are approximately 950 metres to the east. Given the 
intervening distance and the presence of the substantial amount of mature tree coverage at Hopwood 
Woods and ancient woodland, and the undulating topography, it is noted that the proposed 
development would not impact on the curtilage of the hall and chapel and nor would it be visible from 
these buildings, and nor would they be both visible within the same context and setting. Therefore, it 
is considered that the proposed development would have no impact on the setting of these heritage 
assets.

With regards to the presence of Conservation Areas it is noted that the Middleton Town Centre 
Conservation Area is located approximately 900 metres to the south of the application site. Given the 
intervening distance between the site and conservation area and the existing scale and variety of built 
form suburban residential expansion between the northern edge of the conservation area and the 
application site it is not considered that the proposed development would impact on its setting, and 
nor would it impact on the character and appearance of the conservation area. 

It is also noted that the Birch Village Conservation Area is located in excess of 1 km to the west of the 
application site. Given the intervening distance, the undulating topography of the open farmland, and 
the context of the conservation area being located on lower ground within a valley along Heywood old 
Road and bordered by mature trees, it is noted that the proposed development would not be seen 

Page 44



within views of the conservation area and nor would it be seen from the conservation area itself. As a 
result, it is not considered that the proposed development would cause any significant impact on the 
character and appearance or the significance of this heritage asset.

With regards to the implications on sites of archaeological importance, it is noted from comments of 
the Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS) that given the sites location, the 
surrounding topography, and close proximity to watercourses the site offers potential for records of 
archaeological interest to be found of earlier periods prior to those that are contained within the 
historical environment record. In accordance with the recommendations of the GMAAS and in order to 
ensure that due record and understanding of any archaeological remains is undertaken in accordance 
with paragraph 141 of the NPPF, a condition has been recommended requiring that an appropriate 
written scheme of investigation is approved and implemented.

Therefore, having regard to the above and subject to the conditions set out above, it is considered 
that the proposed development as set out in the indicative masterplan would not in principle cause 
any harm to nearby heritage assets and that sufficient measures would be in place to ensure that the 
importance of potential archaeologically significant assets are recorded. The proposed outline scheme 
is therefore considered to accord with policies BE9, BE15, BE17 of the UDP and the policies within 
the NPPF.

Land Contamination and Site Conditions

Paragraph 120 of the NPPF identifies that where a site is affected by contamination or land stability 
issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner.

Paragraph 121 of the NPPF indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure that:
• the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land instability, 

including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, pollution arising from 
previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation or impacts on the 
natural environment arising from that remediation; 

• after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 
contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and

• adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is presented.

In addition, UDP policy EM/4 stipulates that:
• Where there are reasonable grounds to suspect that land which is the subject of a 

development proposal has the potential for contamination, the Council will require a detailed 
survey of ground conditions, details of any proposed remedial treatments and a completion 
report to establish that the work has been carried out in accordance with the agreed 
remediation scheme. In considering proposals for new development or change of use, the 
Council will take account of their potential for contamination of land and will seek to prevent 
further contamination by refusing proposals likely to give rise to significant contamination or 
by imposing stringent conditions.

The site is located on the edge of the urban area of Middleton and comprises open fields leftover for 
pasture and grazing. The application has been supported by a phase 1 environmental assessment 
report that concludes that the site poses a low to moderate risk of contamination. It also does not 
predict that there would be any significant sub surface obstructions.  As a result, it is noted that there 
are no risks that in principle would prevent the site from being used for residential purposes, and the 
report recommends that to allow for a full assessment that further detailed intrusive site investigation 
and analysis be undertaken. The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer is satisfied that any ground 
based contamination, land stability issues which may exist on the site can be adequately identified 
and addressed by the imposition of this condition.  The Environment Agency has requested detailed 
conditions in respect of groundwater and remediation and these are incorporated into the 
contamination condition accordingly.  

Therefore, subject to a condition securing the submission and approval of an intrusive site 
investigation report and risk assessment, and the approval and subsequent implementation of a 
scheme of remediation works and enabling ground works, it is considered that the proposed site 
would be suitable for the proposed residential development and the requirements of UDP policy EM/4 

Page 45



and guidance contained within the NPPF would be met.

Impact on Mineral and Coal Interests

With regards to mineral interests policy 8 of the Greater Manchester Minerals Plan states that 
proposals for non-mineral development within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas that do not allow for 
the prior extraction of minerals will only be permitted where:

1. The need for the development outweighs the need to extract the mineral; or
2. It can be clearly demonstrated that it is not environmentally acceptable or economically 

viable to extract the mineral prior to non-mineral development taking place; or;
3. It can be clearly demonstrated that the mineral is either not present or of no economic value 

or too deep to extract in relation to the proposed development; or;
4. The development is limited or temporary and would not prevent minerals extraction taking 

place in the future.

The application site forms part of an allocated Mineral Safeguarding Areas for Coal and Brick Clay 
within the Greater Manchester (GM) Minerals Plan. The proposed development would not allow for 
the prior extraction of minerals from the site and as a result of the nature of the proposed residential 
development would sterilise any clay or brick reserves which may exist below the site. Comments 
have been received from the Greater Manchester Minerals and Waste Planning Unit and whilst they 
do not accept that prior extraction would not be unviable and impossible, it is noted that they do 
consider the need for the proposals in the absence of a five year supply would outweigh the need for 
extraction of the brick and clay minerals and have raised no objections to the proposal if this is the 
case. 

In this instance in the absence of an adopted Core Strategy and confirmed and tested housing land 
supply, it is noted that the residential development would need to be assessed with regard to the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development and the objective of boosting housing provision set 
out in the NPPF. As a result, it is considered that the need for the proposed development to form up 
to 88 dwellings would outweigh the need for mineral extraction. Therefore, having regard to the 
above, it is considered that the proposed scheme would accord with policy 8 of the GM Minerals Plan.

Sustainable Construction and Energy Use

UDP policy EM/13 states that development proposals which include measures to conserve and assist 
the efficient use of energy will be supported where this can be successfully incorporated into the 
design and layout, and where there are no adverse impacts on the amenity of the surrounding area 
(e.g., by virtue of visual impact, pollution and environmental disturbance). Measures which will be 
especially encouraged include:

• The maximum use of local materials and recycled building materials for appropriate 
construction tasks where this would not adversely affect the quality, character and setting of 
the development;

• The use of design, layout, landscaping and materials which help to conserve energy through 
the ongoing use of the development; and

• The use of sustainable power generation systems such as solar and photovoltaic, small-scale 
combined heat and power, and other appropriate installations based on renewable and low 
carbon technologies.

The Council’s SPD “Energy and New Development” requires all new residential developments of 5 or 
more dwellings to meet Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. The SPD intended that this 
requirement was to rise to Level 4 from 2013, Level 5 from 2016 and Level 6 from 2020. 

However, in a Ministerial Statement made to the House of Commons on 25 March 2015, the then 
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government, Eric Pickles, set out the government’s 
new planning policy on the setting of technical standards for new dwellings which should be taken into 
account in applying the National Planning Policy Framework. The Code for Sustainable Homes was 
also withdrawn on 27 March 2015. This is an important material consideration which needs to be 
given significant weight and which also represents a material change in planning circumstances 
following the previous grant of planning permission on the site.

Page 46



Between 26 March 2015 and 30 September 2014, the government’s policy is, ‘that planning 
permissions should not be granted requiring, or subject to conditions requiring compliance with any 
technical housing standards other than for those areas where authorities have existing policies on 
access, internal space or water efficiency… where there is an existing plan policy which references 
the Code for Sustainable Homes, authorities may continue to apply a requirement for a water 
efficiency standard equivalent to the new national technical standard or in the case of energy a 
standard consistent with the earlier part of this statement, concerning energy performance’. The 
Council does not have a specific policy in respect of water efficiency. In late 2016 the Building 
Regulations will be amended to require new dwellings to meet an equivalent of what was Code Level 
4. 

As this application is in outline with all matters other than access reserved to a later date, details of 
the design and construction of the dwellings are not yet known. The direction of travel for Government 
is clear that sustainability requirements for new dwellings should be brought forward through the new 
national technical standards, making reference to up to date Local Plans and the Building 
Regulations. Given that the new technical standards are optional and if the Council wishes to refer to 
them in decision making this should preferentially be through new policies in a Local Plan and the 
Council’s current policy refers to a Code which has now been revoked and is therefore out of date, it 
is considered most appropriate that the sustainability requirements of this development are dealt with 
by the Building Regulations. 

Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions

The previous application (15/00358/OUT) was also refused on the basis that it would place additional 
pressure on local infrastructure, including schools and sports facilities, which would be unable to 
accommodate the additional demand that would be placed on local infrastructure as a results of the 
additional residents and resulting increase in population.  In this respect, this resubmitted application 
reaffirms that the applicant is willing to make appropriate S106 contributions to the Local Planning 
Authority as detailed below. Sport England has offered its support to the proposals on this basis and 
the education authority has raised no objection. It is therefore recommended that the Committee 
accept that the impact of the development on infrastructure including schools and sporting facilities 
would be mitigated. 

The size and nature of the development would require financial contributions towards affordable 
housing, recreational open space and outdoor sport provision in accordance with UDP policies H/6 
and H/7 and their associated Supplementary Planning Documents: Provision of Recreational Open 
Space in New Housing and Affordable Housing.  It is important again to note that policies in the NPPF 
and legislation introduced subsequent to the adoption of the UDP and SPDs can take precedence. 
Although limited weight can be afforded to the Core Strategy, it is noted that the emerging policies 
DM2, C4, C7, C8) also seek to ensure the impact of development is mitigated and that development 
contributes to physical and social infrastructure requirements.  

In accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations paragraph 204 of the NPPF 
states that planning obligations should only be sought where they meet the following three tests:

• necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
• directly related to the development; and 
• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

In addition, from April 2015 the CIL Regulations now prevent further contributions being collected by 
an authority for the funding or provision of an infrastructure project, or type of infrastructure, once five 
or more such contributions have been obtained by separate section 106 obligations made on or after 
6 April 2010.  This restriction applies to infrastructure of a kind which could be the subject of a 
community infrastructure levy and therefore applies to tariff style contributions (with the exception of 
affordable housing).  As the Council has entered into more than five obligations towards recreational 
open space, no further contributions can be pooled to this type of general infrastructure provision.  
The object of the regulations is to encourage Council’s to introduce charging through the adoption of a 
CIL instead of imposing requirements for contributions through section 106 obligations, however it has 
been acknowledged that the pooling restriction should not prevent the delivery of infrastructure.  
Contributions may therefore be sought to specific infrastructure projects if they meet the three tests 

Page 47



above. 

In this context, paragraph 173 of the NPPF is clear that pursuing sustainable development requires 
careful attention to viability and costs in plan making and decision taking.  Therefore, the scale of 
development identified in the plan should not be subject to such a scale of obligations and policy 
burdens that their ability to be developed viably is threatened.  To ensure viability, the costs of any 
requirements applied to development, such as requirements for affordable housing, standards, 
infrastructure contributions or other requirements should, when taking account of the normal cost of 
development and mitigation, provide competitive returns to a willing land owner and a willing 
developer to enable the development to be deliverable. As this application is in outline form, any 
detailed assessment of viability would occur at reserved matters stage once the precise number and 
nature of dwellings to be delivered is identified. It is clear that there will be a need to ensure that 
contribution requirements do not undermine viability and deliverability, having regard to site specific 
requirements and a need to ensure the impacts of the development are adequately mitigated.

Details of the contributions sought as part of the development (including how they meet the three 
tests) are outlined below.  

Education Provision:

As noted above, the NPPF in paragraph 70 requires that in decisions Local Planning Authorities 
should plan positively for the provision and use of community facilities and other local services to 
enhance the sustainability of communities and residential environments. Paragraph 72 also states 
that great weight should be given to the need to create, expand or alter schools.

It is also noted Policies C7 and DM2 of the emerging Core Strategy require that residential 
developments provide for social infrastructure including education facilities to meet the demand for 
additional school places created by such developments. In this instance, it is noted that the proposed 
residential development of up to 88 dwellings would generate additional demand for primary and 
secondary school places within the local area. As set out above, due to the lack of capacity in the 
existing primary and secondary schools, the Council as Local Education Authority have requested that 
by way of financial contributions the proposed development mitigates for this additional demand for by 
providing financial contributions to be utilised towards providing additional education facilities at 
Primary and Secondary Schools within the local area.

The necessary financial contributions would be calculated using the Building Schools for the Future 
(BSF) standard formula for calculating pupil yields from housing (presently 0.25 per dwelling for 
primary education and 0.1 per dwelling for secondary) and the respective basic need funding (BNF) 
per place provided to the Education Authority (presently £12,320.01 for primary and £15,400.01 for 
secondary).  Based on these figures and the maximum number of dwellings, the primary education 
contribution would be £271,040.22 (pupil yield of 22 (88 x 0.25) = 22) multiplied by the basic need 
funding of £12,320.01). The secondary education contribution would be £135,520.09 (pupil yield of 
8.8 pupil places (88 x 0.1) multiplied by the basic need funding of £15,400.01). The contributions 
would provide additional school places in Middleton Township and these contributions are necessary 
in order to mitigate the effect of the additional school place demand arising from these developments.

It is considered that the financial contributions are necessary to enable the development to proceed 
and to ensure they are directly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development in 
accordance with the CIL Regulations, the contribution would be calculated at reserved matters stage 
and paid in an appropriate phased manner dependent on the number of units in each phase, the BSF 
pupil yield and the BNF.  

Recreational Open Space and Outdoor Sports Provision:

It is noted that paragraph 73 of the NPPF highlights that access to high quality open spaces and 
opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the health and well-being 
of communities.

In this regard, the site provides for an area of on-site open space on the site. The detailed layout of 
this will be subject to detailed design within future reserved matters applications. However, with 

Page 48



regards to its future maintenance and management, it is intended that a landscape open space 
implementation and management plan will be secured by way of a section 106 Agreement.
 
With regards to mitigating for and providing for formal outdoor sport and recreations needs generated 
by the 88 new homes, in terms of formal outdoor sports facilities it is proposed that a contribution of 
£190,477.80 be secured by way of a section 106 agreement towards the provision of improved 
outdoor sport facilities and playing pitches at Bowlee Playing Fields to the southwest of the application 
site. It is proposed that these would be calculated using the figures provided by Sport England and 
used within their Sports Facility Calculator. This would be equivalent of £929.16 per dwelling or 
£386.86 per person derived from Sport England Sports Facility Calculator figures (Sport England 
correspondence dated 30th June 2015). Utilising the Sport England formula, the following financial 
contributions would be applicable:

 £929.16 per dwelling, i.e. 88 x £929.16 = £81,766.08; or 
 £386.86 per person of the population derived from the proposed development. The 

population derived from ONS Census 2011 figure of 2.4 people per dwelling in 
Rochdale. i.e. (88 x 2.4) = 211.2 x £386.86 = £81,704.83

It is considered that the financial contribution would mitigate the impact of the development by 
providing contributions towards the creation of new, or the improvement of existing sports facilities.  
The contribution is necessary to enable the development to proceed and to ensure it is directly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the development in accordance with the CIL Regulations, the 
contribution would be calculated at reserved matters stage in accordance with a formula within the 
s106 agreement and paid in an appropriate phased manner in accordance with the NPPF.  

Affordable Housing:

UDP policy H/7 and its associated SPD identify that, subject to viability considerations, residential 
developments of over 15 dwellings will be expected to make a contribution towards the provision of 
affordable housing in the borough through either on or off site means as appropriate. This is also 
taken forward by policies C4 and DM2 of the emerging core strategy. 

Paragraphs 7.3 and 7.4 of the SPD indicate that “an average figure of 15% Affordable Housing will be 
required on all sites across the Borough. This percentage of units will be subject to a discount of 50% 
of the average market cost of the dwellings on the site. This will equate to a maximum 7.5% 
contribution of the total scheme value to affordable housing for each site in accordance with the 
formula below:

It is recommended that a legal agreement include the requirement to submit an affordable housing 
scheme with reserved matters applications to include the appropriate provision of affordable housing 
on site or off-site in accordance with the above policy and SPD.  The proposed measures are also 
considered to comply with the requirements set out in policy DM2 of the emerging Publication 
Rochdale Core Strategy.

Local Transport Infrastructure Mitigation and Improvements:

As discussed in earlier sections of this report, in accordance with the recommendations of the 
Highways Authority, Highways England and TfGM, it will be necessary to enter into a s106 agreement 
and a s278 highway act agreement to secure a series of on and off-site highway works to ensure 
necessary improvements and alterations are undertaken on the local highway network in accordance 

Page 49



with paragraph 204 of the NPPF.  These are also necessary to ensure the site provides suitable 
facilities for pedestrians and cyclists and provides access to the bus network to encourage the take up 
of sustainable transport modes.  

The following measures would be secured through s278 agreement:
1. Provision of pedestrian crossing facility on Hollin Lane;
2. Traffic calming – additional road signing, markings and traffic calming measures to 

provide right turning lane into the site and denote the gateway into the site in order to 
calm traffic speeds along Hollin Lane, including any necessary TRO.

The following measures would be secured through s106 agreement:
1. The provision of two bus stops on Hollin Lane (a contribution of £20,000);
2. A financial contribution towards cycle lane improvements comprising new and renewed 

on carriageway cycle lanes along Hollin Lane from its junction with Langley Lane 
southeast to its junction with Rochdale Road. 

As noted above, it is considered that the access arrangements and mitigation would not address the 
concerns in respect of the safety of all users of the highway. 

Conclusions and the Balancing Exercise

Policies within the UDP relating to the management of housing land and protection of open land are 
out of date and can be afforded limited weight in the determination of this planning application. Taking 
account of the most recently tested housing target for the Borough, the recalculated RSS target, the 
Council would be unable to demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing land. The NPPF must therefore 
be afforded significant weight in the determination of this application and the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development is engaged.

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF very clearly directs that where policies are out-of-date, the ‘presumption in 
favour of sustainable development’ means planning permission should be granted unless the adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits (emphasis added) 
when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as a whole; or where specific policies in the NPPF 
indicate development should be restricted.

Whilst policies relating to housing in the existing UDP are considered out-of-date, significant weight 
can be attributed to a number of policies in the emerging Core Strategy, including those relating to 
highways and infrastructure. 

In assessing the merits of the scheme, it is clear that there are no specific policies in the NPPF that 
would indicate the development should be restricted. It is also evident that previous appeals in the 
Borough concerning the release of Protected Open Land for housing have been allowed in the 
context of the need to boost significantly the supply of housing within the Borough for the reasons set 
out within the NPPF, and in recognition of the fact that such land was originally safeguarded to meet 
future development needs.

Since these appeals were allowed in 2013, the Rochdale Core Strategy has been submitted for 
examination and the most recent evidence prepared by the Council to support this suggests that a 
higher housing requirement is needed for the Borough above that originally identified within the RSS. 
 Furthermore, going forward the Borough will face an ongoing and challenging pressure in terms of 
the delivery of new housing against any planned target given the fact that a significant number of 
further dwellings are proposed to be demolished as part of the continued regeneration of existing 
housing areas. To ensure there is no ongoing deficit in supply, the total number of demolitions will 
need to be matched by an equivalent uplift above the annual target of housing completions.  The 
evidence demonstrates that significant weight must therefore be afforded to the benefits of the 
scheme in respect of its contribution to the supply of housing in the Borough.  

In terms of benefits, the proposal would provide a significant number of new dwellings to meet 
housing needs adjacent to an existing urban area within an accessible and sustainable location and 
would contribute to the provision of affordable housing in the Borough.  Biodiversity enhancements 
would be secured and economic and social benefits would arise through direct capital investment; 
additional spending of household income on local services and facilities; and the creation of direct and 

Page 50



indirect jobs throughout construction and through the longer term additional spend of households 
within the local area.

It is accepted that the proposal would result in the loss of agricultural land.  It is also accepted that the 
proposal would result in the loss of an area of Protected Open Land valued by the local community in 
providing an open and landscaped buffer on the urban fringe. Subject to appropriate mitigation, the 
impact of the development on protected or priority species and nature conservation, the amenity of 
existing and future occupants, archaeological assets, surface water and drainage and contamination 
would be acceptable and the development would provide on and off-site recreation and outdoor 
sports provision for the future occupants of the dwellings.
 
In terms of the third reason for refusal of planning application 15/00358/OUT, the applicant has 
confirmed that they are willing to mitigate the impacts on local infrastructure, including schools and 
sports facilities, by entering into a S106 agreement.  Therefore, the scheme is considered to comply 
with policies H/6, G/CF/1, G/4 and G/5 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework and policy DM2 of the emerging Rochdale Publication Core Strategy.

In respect of cumulative highways impacts, the scheme has been assessed by the Council’s 
appointed independent consultant and the Council’s Highway Service and it is considered that the 
cumulative traffic impacts in combination with the other applications adjacent would not be severe.

In relation to the access proposals and pedestrian arrangements, it is concluded that the proposed 
development would lead to an unacceptable conflict of traffic and pedestrian movements and this 
would be detrimental to the safety and efficiency of the highway network. This impact is severe and 
therefore it is considered that the first reason for refusal in respect of planning permission 
15/00358/OUT can be substantiated and the minor alterations proposed by the applicant and 
additional detail provided, do not overcome this reason for refusal. 

The adverse impacts of the scheme in respect of highway safety and the safety of other users of the 
highway, are considered to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.  The application is 
considered to conflict with policies G/A/1, A/2, A/3, A/9 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
and the NPPF, including paragraphs 32 and 35.  The application is also considered to be in conflict 
with policy T2 of the emerging Publication Rochdale Core Strategy and the highways mitigation 
proposed through S106 and S278 improvements would not address the concerns in respect of the 
safety of all users of the highway network, in conflict with policy DM2 of the emerging Rochdale Core 
Strategy.

Thus, in terms of the decision-making approach set out in paragraph 14 of the Framework, it is 
considered that the proposal does not comprise sustainable development and planning permission 
should be refused.

RECOMMENDATION

REFUSE for the following reason:- 

The proposed access into the development from Hollin Lane, in close proximity to the junction of 
Hollin Lane and Hazelhurst Drive and thus the access to St Anne's Academy, and the 
pedestrian crossing facilities on Hollin Lane, would be significantly harmful to highway and 
pedestrian safety in this location, culminating in a severe highway impact.  The application fails 
to demonstrate that the proposed site access will facilitate the safe movement of vehicles, 
pedestrians and other users of the highway, to the detriment of the safety and efficiency of the 
local highway network contrary to Policies G/A/1, A/2, A/3, A/9 of the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework and in conflict with policies T2 
and DM2 of the emerging Rochdale Publication Core Strategy.  As such, it is considered that 
the adverse impacts of the proposal would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
and consequently the proposal does not comprise sustainable development.

Report Author Matthew Woodward

Page 51



Application Number: 15/1461/FUL    Ward: Central Rochdale

Proposal: Change of use of part of restaurant into hot food take-away, including 
extension of the opening hours of the premises from 11.00am-11.00pm to 11.00am to 
03.00am, Monday to Sunday inclusive (Retrospective)

Site Address: Eastern Restaurant
30 Spotland Road
Applicant:  Mr Imran Azeem
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Refuse

Page 52



UPDATE

The application was considered by the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee at their 
meeting on 22nd March 2016. The Committee resolved that it would be minded to grant the 
application with the hot food takeaway permitted to open until 1:00am (with no extension to 
the restaurant opening hours) and referred it to the Planning and Licensing Committee in 
accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation as this resolution is contrary to a 
previous decision of the Council (ref. 12/D55246). 

SITE

The application relates to the former ‘Highland Laddie’ Public House on Spotland Road in 
Rochdale.  The property was recently converted to a restaurant (Eastern Restaurant) and this 
change of use did not require planning consent under the provisions of the Use Classes 
Order 1987 (as amended). However, recently part of the premises has been converted to a 
hot food takeaway, which requires planning permission.

It is assumed that the property is currently open from 11.30am to 00.00 (midnight), seven 
days a week as specified on Eastern Restaurant’s website.

No external alterations have taken place. The works to reconfigure part of the premises to a 
hot food takeaway use are internal only.

The premises is located at the end of a row of flats known as ‘Thetford’, although the property 
does extend further out at both the front (towards Spotland Road) and the side at ground floor 
level. Where this building extends out at ground floor level, it is single storey with a flat roof, 
and above part of the building are the residential flats of ‘Thetford’.  

On the ground floor at the front of the ‘Thetford’ block are three existing commercial 
properties, two A1 retail shops and an A2 professional service (bookmakers). These 
neighbouring commercial properties follow the same footprint as the flats above and are 
therefore set further back from Spotland Road than the application property. 

In April 2012, a planning application was refused for the change of use of the former public 
house to a hot food takeaway and restaurant (reference 12/D55246). The proposal also 
included external alterations to the building and the installation of external roller shutters and 
shutter boxes. 

In June 2012, planning permission was granted for external alterations to the building, 
including new windows and doors (reference (12/D55490). This application included details of 
the property being converted into restaurant but planning consent was not required for this, 
given the previous use of the building as a public house. 

After this approval, three extraction flues were erected on the flat roof of the building and 
retrospective planning permission was refused (13/00671/FUL) on visual appearance and 
residential amenity grounds. In January 2014 planning permission was again refused for the 
erection of two flues (13/01205/FUL) on residential amenity grounds, on the advice of the 
Council’s Environmental Health Officer.  

In July 2014, planning permission was granted for the erection of one flue, which 
incorporated a modern extraction system to prevent nuisance to nearby residential 
occupants. 

Page 53



PROPOSAL

This application seeks permission to regularise the use of part of the premises (hatched red 
on the submitted ground floor plan) as a hot food takeaway.

The application seeks permission to operate the hot food takeaway from 11:00-03:00 seven 
days a week.

The opening hours of the restaurant would continue from 11.00-23.00 each day.

It is assumed that the property is currently open from 11.30am to 00.00 (midnight), seven 
days a week as stated on the website of the premises. 

A supporting report was submitted alongside the application, raising the following points:
 The change of use from former pub to restaurant has been carried out under 

permitted development rights, and is now operational.
 Part of refusal for a previous application was with regards to the ventilation facilities 

proposed. The current flue was approved in 2014, and it is intended that the hot food 
takeaway use will utilise the existing restaurant kitchen, ventilation and extraction 
systems. As such, the previous refusal reason regarding amenity of residents is no 
longer sustainable.

 The premises is located within a Local Centre. It is noted that there is already an 
established restaurant at the site and the hot food takeaway will only encompass a 
small area within the existing building, utilising existing facilities.

 Spotland Road is part of the main orbital route around the town centre and carries 
large volumes of traffic throughout the day and night, and as such residents already 
live with an element of noise and disturbance throughout the early hours of the 
morning. The introduction of the hot food takeaway would not materially increase the 
disturbance already experienced. There are also a number of other food 
establishments nearby, most of which have late opening hours.

 Parking for the restaurant is along Spotland Road and it is considered that this will 
suffice for the hot food take-away use also. Residents of Lower Falinge have their 
own parking facilities and occupiers of houses on the opposite side of Spotland Road 
park on Ashworth Street.

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these 
are expected to be applied.  

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 

Page 54



G/D/1 Defined Urban Area

G/BE/1 Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/9 Access for General Traffic
A/10 Provision of Parking

G/S/1 Hierarchy and Role of Centres 
S/6 District Centre, Local Centres and Linear Commercial Areas
S/10 Food and Drink Outlets 

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control
EM/3 Noise and New Development 

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

14/00503/FUL – Erection of flue – Granted subject to conditions.

13/00670/ADV – Two internally illuminated fascia signs – Granted subject to conditions.

13/01205/FUL - Erection of 2 flues on roof of building resubmission of 13/00671/FUL – 
refused for the following reason – 

1) The proposed extraction flues, by virtue of their close proximity to dwellings within the 
flats immediately above, will cause an unacceptable nuisance for the occupiers of 
residential properties in the immediate vicinity of the site through noise and odour 
generation. These problems would be particularly severe for the occupiers of the flats 
directly above the restaurant which have window and door openings positioned close 
to where the flues terminate and emit odours. The proposal is therefore contrary to 
the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework and Unitary 
Development Plan Policies S/10 (Food and Drink Outlets) and EM/3 (Noise and New 
Development) which seek to ensure that new development does not have a negative 
impact upon the amenity of neighbouring uses, particularly residential.

13/00672/FUL - Installation of roller shutters to front and side elevations – Granted subject to 
conditions. 

13/00671/FUL - Erection of 3 flues on roof of building (Retrospective) – Refused for the 
following reasons – 

1) The extraction flues, by virtue of their close proximity to dwellings within the flats 
immediately above, will cause an unacceptable nuisance for the occupiers of 
residential properties in the immediate vicinity of the site through noise and odour 
generation. These problems would be particularly severe for the occupiers of the flats 
directly above the restaurant which have window and door openings positioned close 
to where the flues terminate and emit odours. The proposal is therefore contrary to 
the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework and Unitary 
Development Plan Policies S/10 (Food and Drink Outlets) and EM/3 (Noise and New 
Development) which seek to ensure that new development does not have a negative 
impact upon the amenity of neighbouring uses, particularly residential.

Page 55



2) The building occupies a prominent position forward of the adjoining shops and 
fronting onto the A680 (Spotland Road), Rochdale. The three flues, projecting up to 
2.3m above the roof of the building, introduce dominant and incongruous features 
which cause significant harm to the visual amenity of the area by virtue of their size, 
siting, utilitarian appearance and poor design. The development fails to 
accommodate the ventilation flues/ducting without harming the visual amenity of the 
building and surrounding area, and is therefore contrary to the requirements of 
Unitary Development Plan policies S/10 (Food and Drink Outlets) and BE/2 (Design 
Criteria for New Development), and the National Planning Policy Framework.

12/D55490 – External alterations to building including installation of two new windows and 
new entrance door to front elevation and one new window in both side elevations - 
Resubmission D55246 – Granted subject to conditions.
 
12/D55246 – Change Of Use From Public House To Hot Food Takeaway (Class A5 Use) 
And Restaurant Including Formation Of 2 New Windows And New Entrance To Front 
Elevation And One New Window To Side Elevation And Installation Of Roller Shutters To 
Front And Side Elevations Of Premises – Refused for the following reasons:

1) The proposed change of use of this Public House to a hot food takeaway and 
restaurant would give rise to nuisance being caused through noise, late night 
disturbance and most significantly through cooking odours to the occupiers of the 
adjacent residential properties.  These problems would be particularly severe for the 
occupiers of the flats directly above the property. The layout of the ground floor unit 
in relation to the flats above prevents the installation of a suitable extraction system 
to the rear elevation of the building. Any flue installed on the rear elevation of the 
premises would terminate very close to the flats resulting in cooking odours being 
emitted directly towards the residents above. Any ventilation flue installed on the front 
elevation of the building would be incompatible with the appearance of the building 
and the street scene. An adequate system for extraction and filtration of cooking 
odours could not be accommodated at the premises without compromising the 
amenities of the occupants of the flats above or harming the visual amenity of the 
building and street scene. Given the proximity to and relationship with neighbouring 
dwellings, the proposal would cause a significant and unacceptable nuisance to 
neighbouring residents through inadequate extraction of cooking odours. The 
proposal is therefore contrary to the requirements of Unitary Development Plan 
Policies BE/2 (Design Criteria for New Development), S/6 (District Centre, Local 
centres and Linear Commercial Areas), S/10 (Food and Drink Outlets) and EM/3 
(Noise and New Development)

2) The building occupies a relatively prominent position forward of the adjoining shops 
and fronting the busy Spotland Road. The proposed solid roller shutters would 
represent a crude and discordant feature when pulled down in their closed position, 
and their appearance exacerbated by the front elevation of the building be set further 
forward and closer to the highway than the neighbouring commercial properties. As 
such it considered that the shutters would adversely affect the appearance of the 
building and the surrounding area. The proposal is therefore contrary to the 
provisions of Policies BE/2 (Design Criteria for New Development) and BE/5 (Shop 
Fronts) of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan, as well as the Council’s 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: Design Guidelines for Shop Fronts and 
Associated Advertisements.

Page 56



CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Highways and Engineering – No objection. Comments as follows:
o No dedicated parking has been provided. However the proposed development will 

operate as a hot food takeaway, therefore customers will visit the development for a 
short period of time whilst ordering/collecting food.  This development will not have a 
significant negative impact upon road safety, outside the development existing 
'Limited Waiting Restrictions' will deter on street parking. The development is just 
outside Rochdale Town Centre; operates as a local centre and has a high pedestrian 
foot fall that is likely to attract customers to the development. 

o Therefore I have no objections regarding this proposal.  A development of this size 
and nature at this location will not have a negative impact upon the local network 
capacity. 

o I have no concerns regarding refuse collection from this location. 
o This application will not impact upon the highways layout. 
o No new access to the highway will be created by this development.  
o Existing highways drainage will not change as a result of this development. 
o No public right of way will be obstructed by this development

Env Health - Noise/Odours - This section cannot support the application to extend the 
opening hours to 03:00. If retrospective permission is given for the takeaway, we would 
recommend the hours of business are the same as the restaurant 11:00-23:00. If the hours 
of business are extended it will lead to complaints of nuisance through noise, odour and 
general disturbance. 

Previous applications to change the former Highland Laddie public house into its current 
form have been refused, largely due to concerns over noise nuisance and general 
disturbance.  The main source of concern centred around the extraction system that would 
be used at the venue.   The successful planning application for the restaurant was achieved 
through an extensive pre-application process that centred upon the extraction system and 
hours of operation.  The system that was designed was done so to achieve a level of 40 
dB(A) and it was felt that this noise level combined with and 23:00 end time would allow 
operation within a densely populated residential area without giving rise to complaints of 
noise/odour nuisance and general disturbance.

The 23:00 time was used as it is recognised by relevant standards as the end of day 
time/start of night time and this is significant as it represents what the average person would 
be reasonable doing at that time (going to bed) and as such assessment of statutory 
nuisance would alter accordingly, additionally the ambient noise levels will also drop off 
significantly therefore providing less screening and making the extraction noise more 
dominant in the residential area.  These factors would significantly increase the likelihood of 
nuisance occurring if trading went beyond 23:00.

If the hours of use are extended at all past 23:00, we would potentially be giving consent for 
a business to operate whilst causing nuisance and general disturbance.  The Public 
Protection Service would have a statutory requirement to investigate any complaints 
received and if a nuisance was established take the relevant action and although a business 
does have a Best Practicable Means defence (BPM) I feel there BPM includes closing at 
23:00.

It is also worth noting that the Public Protection Service currently has three active complaints 
regarding noise and odour.

REPRESENTATIONS

Page 57



Letters of notification were sent to surrounding neighbours, and a site notice displayed 
adjacent to the site. 

14 letters of objection have been received, and a petition has been submitted with 95 
signatures objecting to the application. One of the letters of objection has been submitted by 
Lower Falinge Tenants’ and Residents’ Association, and one has been submitted by 
Rochdale Boroughwide Housing.

The main issues raised in the objections are listed below, and the relevant planning matters 
are considered within the Analysis section of this report:

 Concerns regarding proposed opening of premises to 3am. Residents surrounding 
takeaway would be witness to noise nuisance from the takeaway and its customers.

 Increased litter in public areas and in private gardens as a result of the proposal. 
 Litter levels have increased since the premises opened.
 Noise nuisance late at nights from people shouting.
 A takeaway just several feet from residential properties is not appropriate. There is 

already a takeaway along Spotland Road.
 A previous application for a hot food takeaway was refused, but this operation began 

in November 2015. The applicant therefore has a disregard for planning laws.
 No other businesses along Spotland Road between St Mary’s Gate and Emma Street 

open at night – apart from the Lidl supermarket which closes at 22.00. This road is 
not an orbital route around the town centre as the supporting letter claims, and is 
relatively quiet at night.

 Owners already operate a hot food takeaway on Spotland Road, away from 
residential properties. This is a more suitable location for the use.

 The restaurant is not acceptable and should not have been granted consent.
 The smells from the extraction system are unacceptable, detrimental to the nearby 

residents within the flats above and surrounding the premises.
 Noise will inevitably increase, with increased people and traffic movements, in 

addition to further noise from the extraction system.
 The submitted information in support of the use is disputed. Claims that after 

approximately 8pm the area is quiet and the traffic levels are not high, contradicting 
the information provided by the agent.

 Since the unauthorised use has begun, traffic and pedestrian vehicle movement 
levels have increased, in addition to car horns, and other noises.

 Other hot food takeaways within the area do not have an unacceptable impact upon 
the residents above this premises, but this would directly affect them.

 Issue raised of inconsiderate parking by the operators of the premises.
 Deliveries have taken place to the property late at night. 
 CCTV cameras being utilised at the premises without relevant notices/warning signs 

informing people of this.
 Several complains received regarding the issue that a representative from the 

premises has approached local businesses and/or members of the public, requesting 
that they provide their signature in support of the business, but these people have not 
been made aware of the late night opening proposal at the premises. Many of the 
people who signed were not aware of this proposal, and were misinformed by the 
representative.

 The use would increase anti-social behaviour late at night and would increase litter in 
the area.

 Letters in support of the application state that the flats above have their own parking 
facilities. This is not the case, and customers of the premises have used the shared 
parking facilities. This has made parking difficult and created hazards for children.

Page 58



 The premises has an illuminated sign within the front window, which is switched on 
24 hours a day.

27 letters of support have been received. The points raised in these letters are summarised 
below:

 Supports the Eastern premises.
 Support the newly opened takeaway.
 The premises serves good food, and is operated by friendly people.
 The premises is very clean, and is of a high standard.
 CCTV helps to assist with no anti-social behaviour. Supports this hot food takeaway 

to stay open.
 The premises is in a good location. 
 Have to support the takeaway as it is near my property.

Officers would like to make the Committee aware that several objectors have contacted the 
Council regarding one of the above objection matters, which is that members of the public 
were approached by a representative of the business, requesting that people provide their 
signature in support of the business and that they were not made aware at the time that the 
application would propose extended opening hours. A number of these people have 
contacted the Council following this, expressing concern about this matter, and some have 
requested that their support letters be removed from this application. In response, the 
Council sent out a second consultation letter to nearby residents, and erected two new site 
notices, which made clear the extended opening hours proposed under this application.

ANALYSIS

Impact upon surrounding uses

Policy S/10 (Food and Drink Outlets) of the Unitary Development Plan states that such uses 
will only be permitted provided that “It will not unduly affect the amenity of nearby residents 
or businesses by reason of noise, smell, litter and hours of opening”. 

UDP Policy EM/3 (Noise and New Development), does not permit development where:

a) It will lead to unacceptable levels of noise to nearby existing or future occupants of 
buildings, or users of open space: or

b) It involves a noise sensitive use (such as housing, a school or hospital) which 
would be sited in or close to an area that is, or likely to become, subject to 
unacceptably high levels of noise generation.

The restaurant currently opens from 11:00 until 23:00, seven days per week. The current 
application seeks to introduce a hot food takeaway use to the premises, and extend the 
opening hours to between 11.00 and 03.00, seven days per week. 

The application site is located on Spotland Road within a row of commercial units, but 
surrounding these units at first floor level and ground floor level are flats in residential use, 
within the Falinge Estate.

As noted above, the change of use of the premises from a public house to a restaurant was 
permitted under the provisions of the Use Classes Order and did not require planning 
permission. More recently, part of the restaurant has been converted to a hot food takeaway, 
and the premises has been operating within a mixed use, with part of the building dedicated 

Page 59



to restaurant use and part of the building dedicated to a hot food takeaway use. The hot food 
takeaway use does not currently benefit from planning permission.

Given the location of the site and as a food outlet is established at the site, the hot food 
takeaway use and proposed extended hours of opening has been assessed against the 
provisions of Policies S/10 (Food and Drink Outlets) and EM/3 (Noise and New 
Development).  

 Policy S/10 criterion (b) states that development of hot food takeaways will be 
permitted provided that – “it will not unduly affect the amenity of nearby residents or 
businesses by reason of noise, smell, litter and hours of opening”.

 Policy EM/3 criteria (a) also states that development will not be permitted where – “it 
would lead to unacceptable levels of noise nuisance to nearby existing or future 
occupants of buildings”.

Although the comings and goings to and from the premises would inevitably increase as a 
result of the mixed use, the site does lie within a Local Centre. The use of the premises as a 
mixed use hot food takeaway and restaurant would not in itself significantly intensify the use 
over the current permitted use of the premises solely as a restaurant. However, the 
proposed extension of the opening hours would increase activity into the early hours of the 
morning, thereby increasing the potential for disturbance from noise and activity at these 
times to the detriment of the amenity of the occupants of neighbouring residential properties. 
The Council’s Environmental Health Department do not support the proposed increased 
opening hours on this basis.  

Whilst some steps can be taken to mitigate the effects (e.g. it is noted that a modern 
ventilation flue system has already been installed at the premises, reducing noise and 
smells), the possible additional noise outside the premises, especially late at night and into 
the early morning, would have a detrimental effect on the amenity of residential properties 
adjoining at first floor level, and within other dwellings located near to the premises. It is 
noted that a significant number of local residents who live in adjacent properties have 
objected to the proposals, with three active complaints relating to noise and odour currently 
being investigated by the Environmental Health Department.

Although it is accepted that this area of Spotland Road is a busy vehicular and pedestrian 
route and that this section of the highway is in general commercial use at ground floor level, 
the living conditions of the neighbouring first floor residents and residents located in 
dwellings close by must be safeguarded. Whilst it is acknowledged that traffic along 
Spotland Road inevitably provides a significant backdrop of noise and disturbance for those 
living in and around the immediate area. However, later at night when levels of traffic are 
likely to be much lower, the areas around the road will be quieter than during the day. As 
such, local residents are likely to value a degree of peace and quiet at night after the noise 
and disturbance that is experienced during the day. The extended opening hours would be 
likely to cause a noise nuisance to residents in the early hours of the morning when this area 
is generally quieter.

The main concern is the potential noise and disturbance being generated by the coming and 
going of customers outside the premises late at night, in addition to the continuation of the 
operation of the ventilation systems and the cooking of food orders into the early hours of the 
morning. The arrival and departure of customers on foot and by car and the congregating of 
customers outside the premises as orders are cooked all have the potential for generating 
noise and disturbance through the shutting of car doors, the starting of engines and the talk 
and shouts of customers. These activities are likely to conflict with the desire of those living 
nearby for some peace and quiet at the late hours.

Page 60



The successful planning application for the restaurant was achieved through an extensive 
pre-application process that centred upon the extraction system and hours of operation.  The 
system that was designed was done so to achieve a level of 40 dB(A) and it was felt that this 
noise level combined with and 23:00 end time would allow operation within a densely 
populated residential area without giving rise to complaints of noise/odour nuisance and 
general disturbance.

The 23:00 time is recognised by relevant standards as the end of day time/start of night time 
and this is significant as it represents what the average person would be reasonably doing at 
that time (going to bed) and as such, assessment of statutory nuisance would alter 
accordingly. Additionally the ambient noise levels will also drop off significantly after 23:00 
therefore making the extraction noise more dominant in the residential area. These factors 
would significantly increase the likelihood of nuisance occurring if the business were to 
operate beyond 23:00.

In addition, the control of litter is also a concern raised by objectors. However, in the case of 
this application, Environmental Health has raised no concerns regarding this element of the 
business. However, if waste and vermin become a statutory health risk, the Environmental 
Health department has powers to ensure that the business implements minimum standards. 
In light of these factors and with the provision of adequate waste storage provisions, it is 
considered that there are no planning reasons to refuse the application on the above 
grounds and the application is acceptable in this regard. 

In light of the above, it is considered that the current application for extended opening hours, 
would have an unacceptable impact upon the amenities of the occupants of nearby 
residential property contrary to the requirements of UDP Policies S/10 and EM/3 of the 
Rochdale unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework, which 
seeks to secure a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupiers and avoid 
noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life..

Highways

Although no dedicated off-street parking is provided, the premises currently operates as a 
restaurant with no off-street parking provision. The Officer notes that there are limited waiting 
restrictions controlling on-street parking during daytime hours, and that there is a high 
pedestrian foot fall within this area. The lack of objection raised by the Highways Department 
is noted.

It is noted that objections have been received regarding inconsiderate parking within private 
shared parking areas. If this is the case, this cannot be considered as part of this application 
and is a private matter. In addition, if illegal parking is apparent, this would be dealt with 
through the Police and Civil Enforcement Officers.

In light of the above, the impact of the development upon the current parking and highways 
situation within the area is considered to be acceptable, and it is not believed that a 
highways reason for refusal can be substantiated.

Summary

In conclusion, it is considered that the activity associated with the opening hours proposed 
would lead to a degree of noise and disturbance late into the night/early morning which 
would be significantly harmful to the amenity of the nearby residential occupiers contrary to 
Policy S/10 and Policy EM/3 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework, which seeks to secure a good standard of amenity for 

Page 61



all existing and future occupiers and avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse 
impacts on health and quality of life. The application is therefore recommended for refusal.  

RECOMMENDATION

REFUSE for the following reason:

The application site lies in close proximity to a number of residential properties and as such 
the activity associated with the opening hours proposed would lead to a degree of noise 
and disturbance late into the night/early morning which would be harmful to the amenity of 
the nearby residential occupiers.  The application is therefore contrary to Policy S/10 (Food 
and Drink Outlets) and Policy EM/3 (Noise and New Development) of the adopted 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework, which 
seeks to secure a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupiers and avoid 
noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life.

Report Author Ben Sandover

Page 62



Application Number: 15/01450/FUL    Ward: West Bamford   

Proposal: Erection of two dwellings to enable the restoration of Red House 
(Resubmission of 14/00684/FUL)
Site Address: Land South Of 13 Broadhalgh Avenue
Rochdale

Applicant:  Mr & Mrs M Doheny
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Refuse

Page 63



UPDATE

At their meeting on 22nd March 2016, the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee 
resolved to recommend that the application be approved subject to a S106 legal agreement 
to secure the restoration of the Red House. This decision conflicts with a previous decision of 
the Council and therefore falls to be determined by the Planning and Licensing Committee in 
accordance with the Scheme of Delegation. 

SITE

The application relates to the substantial garden area of the large two storey dwelling at 13 
Broadhalgh Avenue in Bamford. The dwelling is commonly known as ‘Red House’, because 
of its striking red brick façade and red roof tiles, which positively contrast with the properties 
either side which have white cement render finish. Whilst the dwelling is not listed, it is 
considered to be locally important and stands within the Moorgate Avenue Conservation 
Area. 

The application site is accessed from Broadhalgh Avenue to the north; however the front 
elevation of Red House faces south into the large and well maintained formal garden area. 
Directly to the west is the neighbouring Grade II Listed Building, Stainley, at 15 Broadhalgh 
Avenue, designed by Unwin and Parker.  This building is also orientated with what would be 
considered the front elevation facing south and the rear elevation facing the highway of 
Broadhalgh Avenue. The rear elevation of Red House is relatively simple; however the south 
facing front elevation is contrastingly grand and attractive in design, and the building as a 
whole, as a result of its massing, roof form, chimneys and materials, gives the building a 
positive presence within the Moorgate Avenue Conservation Area. 

Red House dates from around 1920 and is one of several large dwellings built at this time 
along Broadhalgh Avenue. The property was extended to the west shortly after construction. 
The garden area to the south of the building measures between approximately 62m to 82m 
in length by 36m wide, and shares a boundary with a number of neighbouring residential 
properties, including several properties to the east on Moorgate Avenue (nos. 23 to 29), 
whose rear elevations face towards the application site. To the south the garden shares a 
boundary with two large properties fronting onto Canterbury Close (nos. 4 and 6). Both the 
side, and rear, boundaries of the garden are well screened at present from neighbouring 
properties by a number of mature trees and shrubs.   
     
In 2006/7 an application to demolish Red House and erect five detached dwellings within the 
grounds was refused by the Council, and the subsequent appeal dismissed by the Planning 
Inspectorate (06/D47365). In 2007, a further application for the erection of two dwellings in 
the garden area was refused by the Council (07/D49159). In 2014 a fresh application was 
made to the Council for the erection of two dwellings within the grounds of the Red House, in 
this case in order to fund the restoration of the application property. More details, including 
the reasons for refusal, in relation to these applications can be found in the ‘Relevant 
Planning History’ section of this report.

PROPOSAL

The application seeks permission for the erection of two dwellings in the garden area, to 
enable the restoration of Red House. 

Restoration of Red House

The submitted application outlines that Red House is in significant and urgent need of repair, 
including a number of critical structural problems. In order to support these claims an 

Page 64



engineering survey has been submitted. This survey was carried out by Clancy Consulting 
Limited in February 2013. The survey noted that the property is suffering from a ‘general lack 
of routine maintenance and decoration’, raising a large number of serious issues including: 

External issues:

 Significant levels of cracking, gaps and lateral movement is evident within brickwork;
 Diagonal cracking in south west corner of building;
 Timber window frames rotten;
 Bricks and lintels dropped;
 Open mortar joints; and
 Clay tiles on various parts of roof are in poor condition.

Internal issues: 

 Cracked/hollow plaster;
 Cracks in ceilings;
 High levels of damp throughout, including large scale staining; 
 Diagonal cracks in walls;
 Door frames not square; and
 Rising floors.

The survey concludes that large scale works need to be carried out on the building to 
address the above issues. The author of the survey explains that whilst they are not cost 
consultants, their approximate estimate of the costs involved would be £150,000 to £200,000 
plus VAT (£180,000 - £240,000). 

On the figures sheets submitted with the current application, the cost of repairing the Red 
House has been stated as £500,000. Although no further information on the calculation of 
this figure has been submitted to the Council within the 2015 submission, the 2014 
application provided copies of a report carried out by a Chartered Quantity Surveyors 
(Calvert & Webster) who carried out an assessment of the building in March 2014. The 
report (titled: ‘Approximate Estimate of Building Costs for Proposed Repair and 
Refurbishment Works’) has been submitted with the application and details all the works 
required at Red House, with a cost assigned to each requirement, e.g. underpinning = 
£12,300, damp proof course = £6,200, repointing = £14,500, strip and re-roof = £28,700, 
replacement timber windows and doors = £41,000, wall and ceiling finishes = £31,000 etc.

The Surveyors report estimates that the cost of all the works would be £325,000, plus 
£33,500 for labour and a £36,000 (10%) contingency allowance. In conclusion, the submitted 
report(s) estimate that the total cost for the applicant to restore Red House would be 
approximately £395,000 plus VAT (£474,000) at the time of assessment, excluding a 
number of additional costs including consultant’s fees, planning and building control fees, bat 
surveys etc.

A RICs homebuyers survey states, that as of January 2013, Red House is worth £500,000 
and if the required works were to be carried out the potential value of the dwelling would be 
£800,000. As such, according to the above reports the amount/cost of works required would 
exceed the potential value of the house and therefore the application seeks permission to 
erect two dwellings in the garden area which would enable/fund the required works at Red 
House.

Page 65



Erection of Two Dwellings      

As stated above the application seeks permission to erect two dwellings (both two-storey in 
height) in the garden area to the south of Red House. The most southern section of the 
garden area, measuring approximately 1500sqm, would be designated for the two dwellings 
with a proposed conifer row separating the dwellings from the existing property, sited 
approximately 30m from the existing building at Red House.

The proposed dwellings would be sited side by side, with a stepped arrangement, and 
orientated so that the front elevations would face north towards Red House. The proposed 
dwellings would be identical in design, being of rectangular shape, measuring 14.1m wide by 
10.6m deep, and 5.1m high to the eaves and 9.2m to the ridge. Each dwelling would have 
five bedrooms and be designed in an Arts and Crafts style with a traditional hipped roof and 
white render finish. Both dwellings would have their own designated curtilage which would 
include a detached double garage, measuring 6m by 6m, a rear garden area and 
hardsurfacing for the parking of vehicles. 

Access to the dwellings would be provided via a new access road which would be created 
directly off Broadhalgh Avenue to the north. The new access would be located to the east of 
Red House and the track would run along the eastern boundary of the site down to the 
proposed dwellings. At present the eastern boundary is well screened by a mixture of trees 
and other vegetation. The proposed access road running close to this boundary will 
inevitably require the removal of a number of these trees and therefore an arboricultural 
report has been submitted with the proposal, detailing 38 individual trees and two large 
groups (G1 & G2). The trees are not protected by Tree Preservation Orders. However, being 
located within a Conservation Area, notification is required (therefore forming part of this 
submission) to remove them. The submitted arboricultural report states that trees T5-T10 
(Hollies) would need to be removed for the proposed access and trees T25-T29 removed for 
the proposed dwellings along with the majority of the Rhododendron along the boundary.        

Along the western boundary, shared with the neighbouring listed building at 15 Broadhalgh 
Avenue, is a row of attractive and mature trees which provide screening between the 
application site and the listed building. Whilst the trees appear to be within the curtilage of 
the listed building, they do overhang the application site. The submitted tree survey 
comments that eight trees would be potentially impacted by the proposal, and accepts that 
these trees are valuable contributors to the landscape as a group. The tree report explains 
that the trees can be protected through the use of a Root Protection Area (RPA) and that the 
construction of the western elevation of one of the proposed dwellings could be modified to 
reduce the damage to the roots. The report also states that the garage could be moved so 
that it is in line with the western elevation of the dwelling closest to this boundary. The 
submitted information/plans appear to show the revisions as suggested in this report, with 
the western dwelling having been shifted marginally eastwards, and the garage brought in 
line with the altered western building line of the same. 

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework 

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s 
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.  

National Planning Policy Guidance

Page 66



The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 
made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate.

Enabling Development and the Conservation of Significant Places

Historic England (at the time known as English Heritage) published its guidance on Enabling 
Development on 30th September 2008. The policy and guidance applies only to development 
contrary to established planning policy, not proposals to secure the future of significant 
places that are in accordance with the local development framework and national policy. The 
policy itself now sits within the framework provided by English Heritage’s Conservation 
Principles, Policies and Guidance for the Sustainable Management of the Historic 
Environment (2008), which promotes a values-based approach to assessing heritage 
significance. The detailed practical guidance provided should be applied within the context 
provided by the Principles. Despite recent changes to the Government's Planning Policies, 
namely, the publication of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the overriding 
policy approach is unlikely to change. This Guidance still stands as Historic England's 
position on Enabling Development. References to PPS5 Policy HE11 can now be replaced 
with NPPF paragraph 140.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP):

G/D/1 Defined Urban Area

G/H/1 Housing
H/3 Residential Developments Outside Allocated Areas
H/4 Backland Sites
H/6 Provision of Recreational Open Space in New Housing Development

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking 

G/BE/1 Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development
BE/8 Landscaping in New Development

G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Heritage
BE/11 Protection of Locally Important Buildings and Features of Architectural and 

Historic Interest
BE/15 New Development Affecting the Setting of a Listed Building
BE/16 Demolition of Buildings in Conservation Areas
BE/17 New Development Affecting Conservation Areas

G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands
NE/6 Landscape Protection and Enhancement
NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands & Hedgerows

Page 67



Supplementary Planning Guidance Documents:

Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development SPG

Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

06/D47365 Conservation area consent – demolition of existing property and 
erection of five detached dwellings – submitted in tandem with the 
below planning application - Refused. Subsequent appeal to the 
Planning Inspectorate dismissed.

06/D47366 Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of 5 detached 
dwellings – Refused for the below reasons. Subsequent appeal to 
the Planning Inspectorate dismissed.

07/D49159 Erection of 2 detached dwellings in rear garden of 13 Broadhalgh 
Avenue (resubmission of D47366) – Refused for the following 
reasons:

1. The application relates to the rear garden of the dwelling of No. 13 
Broadhalgh Avenue, ‘The Red House’, which lies within the Moorgate Avenue 
Conservation Area. This well-maintained garden contains a number of mature 
and attractive trees that make a positive contribution to the visual amenities of 
the vicinity, which enhances the setting of ‘The Red House’ and which also 
contributes to the relatively spacious and well landscaped character of the 
conservation area. The proposed development of the site with two dwellings 
and of the size proposed, would represent the over-development of the site. 
The proposal would reduce significantly the size of the garden, which would 
detract from the setting of the ‘Red House’, as well as the character of the 
surrounding conservation area. The proposal would therefore fail to satisfy 
policies H/4 Backland development, BE/2-Design criteria for new 
development and BE/20-New development affecting Conservation Areas, of 
the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Area.

2. The design and external appearance of the proposed dwellings lacks 
sufficient quality and does not respect the design and character of the 
existing surrounding built development within the Moorgate Avenue 
Conservation Area. The proposal would therefore fail to satisfy policies BE/2-
Design criteria for new development and BE/20-New development affecting 
Conservation Areas, of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Area.

3. The proposed means of access to the site would necessitate the felling of 
several mature and attractive trees at the side of ‘The Red House’, which 
make a positive contribution to the visual amenities of Broadhalgh Avenue 
and the Moorgate Avenue Conservation Area. The proposed dwellings 
themselves would stand close to a number of the other trees within the site, 
which also contribute to the visual amenities of the conservation area. The 
close proximity of the proposed houses to these trees would be likely to result 
in an unacceptable degree of damage being caused to the roots and the 
branches of those trees during the construction period and would therefore be 
likely to result in long term harm to the future health and well-being of those 
trees. Such a close proximity between the houses and the trees would also 
be likely to give rise to future strong pressure to subsequently prune or even 

Page 68



fell the trees. The proposal would therefore fail to satisfy policies H/4-
Backland sites, BE/2-Design criteria for new development or NE/8-
Development affecting trees, woodlands and hedgerows of the adopted 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.

4. The section of Broadhalgh Avenue which adjoins this site is only some 4 
metres in width and does not have segregated footway provision. The 
proposed access will be from Broadhalgh Avenue, lying adjacent to no. 11 
Broadhalgh Avenue. The visibility for both pedestrians and drivers at this 
junction would be inadequate in that it does not meet the Council’s adopted 
junction standards of 2.4 x 33 metre splays for vehicles and 2.4 x 2.4 metres 
splays for pedestrians. It is therefore considered that the proposed 
development is detrimental to road safety, contrary to the requirements of 
Policies H/4 (Backland Sites) and BE/2 (Design of New Development) of the 
adopted Unitary Development Plan.

5. The gable elevation of the proposed eastern most dwelling would lie in close 
proximity to the rear boundary of no. 29 Moorgate Avenue. This gable 
elevation extends almost the full width of the boundary with no. 29 Moorgate 
Avenue and it is considered that by reason of its design, height and massing 
this proposed dwelling would be an unduly imposing and oppressing feature 
which will unduly spoil the enjoyment of the use of the rear garden at no. 29 
Moorgate Avenue. The proposal is considered to be contrary to the 
requirements of Policies H/4 (Backland Sites) and BE/2 (Design criteria for 
new development) of the adopted Unitary Development Plan.

13/01203/WTCA Proposed 20% thinning of seven trees positioned along the shared 
boundary of numbers 11 and 13 Broadhalgh Avenue, Bamford – 
No objection

14/00684/FUL Erection of two dwellings to enable the restoration of Red House – 
Refused for the following reason:

The application seeks to erect two dwellings in the attractive rear garden area of Red 
House, a valuable heritage asset within the Moorgate Avenue Conservation Area. 
The proposed dwellings would have a negative impact upon Red House and the 
Conservation Area through the loss of a considerable section of the attractive 
garden, the scale of the new dwellings and views of them from the surrounding area, 
and the impact upon a number of visually important trees which contribute to the 
quality of the area. The proposal would therefore neither preserve nor enhance the 
character of the Conservation Area and as such is contrary to Unitary Development 
Plan Policy BE/17, as well as National Guidance within the NPPF. Additionally, the 
application fails to fully demonstrate how the proposed development would impact 
upon the trees located along the western boundary, shared with the neighbouring 
Grade II Listed Building, and hence it is unclear how the proposal would impact upon 
the character of this Listed Building, particularly if these trees were to be lost. The 
application has been submitted on the grounds of enabling development, meaning 
that the applicant accepts there is harm, but considers the benefits of restoring Red 
House outweigh this harm. The submitted figures, and in particular the applicant’s 
final development appraisal, which brings all the figures together, includes a reduced 
income estimation (£250k - £350k less than applicant’s own estate agent valuation) 
and fails to take into account any increase in the value of Red House as a result of 
the proposed restoration works (Red House value will increase by anything between 
£300k - £400k).  As such, whilst the final figures submitted by the applicant state that 
the development would run at a loss of approximately £60k, when considering the 

Page 69



two above issues/figures which have been excluded from the final appraisal, the 
likely profit will be between £500k - £700k, in addition to the 20% developers profit 
already accounted for. The proposed development is therefore not considered to be 
the minimum required to cross fund the restoration of Red House and the application, 
submitted on the grounds of enabling development, is therefore not considered to be 
acceptable and conflicts with English Heritage’s Guidance on Enabling Development.  
The excessive amount of development does not preserve or enhance the 
Conservation Area nor does it preserve the setting of the Listed Building and this 
harm is not justified by the enabling development case submitted.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Highways and Engineering:- A development of this size and nature requires a 200% 
dedicated parking proposal. The applicant’s proposal exceeds this therefore I have no 
objections regarding this proposal. In addition to this the development is within walking 
distance of the B6222-Bury Road which is a major bus route providing sustainable transport 
links to a variety of destinations.

This development will not have a significant negative impact upon the local network capacity. 
The surrounding highway network will adequately accommodate vehicles from the 
development. This development will not have a significant negative impact upon road safety. 
Ample dedicated parking has been proposed therefore on street parking outside the 
development will not be an issue. A new access to the highway will be created by this 
development. The proposed access is sufficient to serve a development of this size and 
nature. Visibility is clear at the proposed access point; vehicle conflict will not be a significant 
issue due to a low existing volume of traffic on Broadhalgh Avenue. The proposed 
carriageway and footway facilities are sufficient to serve a development of this size and 
nature.

I have no concerns regarding refuse collection from this location. This application will not 
impact upon the highways layout. Highways drainage will not change as a result of this 
development. No public right of way will be obstructed by this development.

Greater Manchester Fire Service:- The above proposal should meet the requirements for 
Fire Service access. The Fire Service requires vehicular access for a fire appliance to within 
45m of all points within the dwellings. The access road should be a minimum width of 4.5m 
and capable of carrying 12.5 tonnes. Additionally if the access road is more than 20m long a 
turning circle, hammerhead, or other turning point for fire appliances will be required. The 
maximum length of any cul-de-sac network should be 250 m. There should be a suitable fire 
hydrant within 165m of the furthest dwelling.

The Fire Service strongly supports the installation of domestic sprinkler systems as a 
positive measure to protect persons.  At a small cost occupants’ can be given the 
reassurance of a high level of protection.  All developers should positively consider the 
viability of installing domestic sprinkler systems.  

The access requirements for a dwelling fitted with an approved sprinkler system can deviate 
from the required standard detailed above, further consultation will be required.

United Utilities:- No comments received to date.

Public Protection:- Recommend that should permission be granted, a standard condition be 
attached regarding site investigation and assessment measures.

Page 70



Green Infrastructure Officer:- The group of mature trees on the eastern boundary of number 
15 Broadhalgh Ave make an important contribution to the conservation area, and provide 
screening between the new development and the listed building.  

I consider the dimensions of the RPA proposed to be inadequate and should be at least 6m 
from the boundary fence rather than the 2m proposed.  Should the proposed RPA be used 
the construction works would affect a significant area of roots, causing significant damage to 
these trees, even if pile and beam foundations were used as proposed.  These are mature 
trees, less able to adapt to the loss of such a significant area of roots.      

Assuming the trees survived the construction process, the house would be very significantly 
shaded by such large trees, leading to problems for future occupiers and possible disputes 
with the tree owners.

Any proposed works to trees T31 - T38 would require the developer to submit a section 211 
notice and the permission of the tree owners.

Conservation and Design:- I have considered this proposal for two dwellings within the 
curtilage of The Red House at 13 Broadhalgh Avenue. This site is located within the 
Moorgate Avenue Conservation Area and is adjacent to the Grade II listed 15 Broadhalgh 
Avenue.

The proposed development is to the rear of The Red House and the site is well screened 
from 15 Broadhalgh Avenue at the present time.  If the development results in the loss of 
trees this screening would be reduced and there would be harm to the setting of the listed 
building.

Although I consider the overall design of the proposed dwellings to be appropriate in this 
area, the design details are missing from the application.  It does not include the location and 
colour of the render and brick, cill and head details - what are the materials and style? 
Timber/steel windows and doors, colour of joinery - which is steel and which is timber, what 
is the configuration, what are the glazing details?  There are no details of the paviours and 
how they will be laid or details of how the boundary of the new dwellings is designed in 
relation to the Red House - is it dry stone walling, rebuilt garden wall, hedges or other 
material?  What will the entrance and driveway detail be like and what will be done to the 
boundary and garden of The Red House facing Broadhalgh Avenue?

The application states that the profit from this project will enable The Red House to be 
restored. This building makes a positive contribution to the conservation area and any efforts 
to restore it are welcomed. If this project is approved I would like to ensure that the 
restoration is sympathetic and guaranteed. The existing features including sash windows, 
doors, rainwater goods and downpipes, roofing materials, etc. should be restored wherever 
possible and where they are beyond repair they should be replaced like for like. Any pointing 
should be carried out in the same mortar as the original building; this is likely to be lime 
mortar. It is essential that the restoration of The Red House is secured if the application is 
approved.

The application shows the demolition of the outbuildings of The Red House. I consider them 
to make a positive contribution to house as they are interesting functional ancillary buildings 
and I do not consider that their demolition is essential for the proposed development.

I have concerns about the scale of the proposed buildings.  The external walls are sited very 
close to the boundary of the site and together with the potential loss of trees, these walls 
could be visible from adjacent streets including Moorgate Avenue which is within the 
conservation area.  I would advise the applicant to reduce the scale of the dwellings, whilst 

Page 71



retaining the tree screening on the site.  This could be achieved by siting the buildings 
further within the plot to retain the trees, and redesigning the dwellings to include the upper 
floors within the roof space, enabling the height of the buildings to be reduced.

Although the development clearly causes harm to the conservation area I do not consider 
this harm to be significant, and if the tree screening is retained I do not consider it to harm 
the significance or setting of the neighbouring listed building.  The rear of the two dwellings 
to the east of the site have already been altered over the years with modern windows, 
conservatory and garden structures / extensions.

In principle the benefits to The Red House could outweigh the less than substantial harm to 
the conservation area. However I consider the scale and massing of the proposed dwellings 
to be excessive and the potential loss of trees could impact on the setting of the listed 
building and views within the conservation area. I object to the demolition of the ancillary 
buildings to The Red House.

REPRESENTATIONS

Letters of notification were sent to surrounding properties, a notice positioned close to the 
site and the application was advertised in the local press. Seven letters of objection have 
been received. The points raised are summarised below:

1. Problems that have been highlighted in several previous applications have not been 
addressed.

2. Loss of beautiful established trees on the boundary of the land between numbers 13 
and 11 Broadhalgh Avenue. The trees are visible from the highway and add to the 
overall beauty of the lane. If these were to be destroyed it would have a considerable 
adverse effect on the tranquillity and privacy of the occupants of no. 11.

3. Concern regarding the impact on Broadhalgh Avenue if additional housing is built – it 
is a historic coaching lane, centuries old, and presently has very light traffic with a 
semi-rural feel to it and attracts many walkers. Do not believe that the new plans, 
with a slightly wider entrance to the road, will reduce the impact and potential danger.

4. Position of new vehicular access – potential for safety issues and conflict with 
vehicles reversing from the vehicular access at 11 Broadhalgh Avenue.

5. Concern regarding proposed bin storage on the boundary with 11 Broadhalgh 
Avenue – a potential hazard with regard to odour, flied, rats, mice and urban foxes 
etc. and a potential impact on the aesthetics of the street scene to the detriment of 
the conservation area.

6. Layout of the site – new buildings would be extensive modern houses with little 
garden area, out of character with the surrounding buildings.

7. The houses will bring noise and light pollution.
8. The plans conflict with the character of the conservation area.
9. Precedent – other applications regarding the Red House and its garden have been 

refused, there is no change in circumstances and permission would now be contrary 
to previous appeal decisions.

10. Concern that monies raised would not meet the needs of restoring the Red House 
and that the properties in the rear garden would not be saleable. 

11. Question as to whether ‘the enablement’ solution is the right and proper one for the 
restoration of the Red House.

12. The application is a re-submission of that made less than two years ago; little seems 
to have changes and the financial rationale has not been addressed.

13. Concern that the current owners have no intention of restoring the Red House and 
fear that the new houses will be built but the Red House will remain in its present 
state.

Page 72



14. Suggestion that the calculation for the enabling process are naïve at best – the 
building of one property projects a loss but that the building of two exactly breaks 
even. 

15. Objection to the house being restored with the proceeds from the building of two 
houses in the rear garden – appalled that the house has been allowed to fall into 
disrepair by the present owners.

16. Highlight previous appeal decisions on the site and whether these have been taken 
into account.

Four letters of support have been received. The points raised are summarised below:

1. Feel that given the ‘ongoing saga’ of attempts to obtain planning approval that it is 
now time something is allowed as the condition of the Red House is deteriorating 
rapidly.

2. The Red House is in need of renovation and the scheme seems a sensible plan for 
generating the necessary money for this. Two additional houses will not cause any 
undue extra traffic along the road.

3. It would benefit the area if the Red House could be salvaged. Fully support the 
intentions of the conservation area but would like to see the house restored. Would 
wish to see sufficient legal obligations to ensure any profits from development are 
used solely for this purpose.

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development

The application relates to a significant section of the attractive garden area of Red House on 
Broadhalgh Avenue in Bamford. Residential gardens are specifically excluded from the 
definition of ‘Previously developed land’ in Annex 2 of the NPPF and the land therefore 
comprises ‘Greenfield’ land. Criterion (a) of UDP policy H/3 states that proposals for housing 
on sites not allocated for housing or any other use in the plan will be permitted where the site 
is located on previously developed land. 

The policy adds that the release of Greenfield sites for housing will only be permitted if the 
supply of housing land falls below five years as defined by the projected annualised rate (i.e. 
the annual target for additional new homes). The Council is presently unable to demonstrate 
a five year supply of housing land. Resultantly, the release of several windfall sites on 
Greenfield land has been permitted. The deficiencies in the Council’s housing land supply 
have been highlighted in a number of appeal decisions from the Planning Inspectorate, and 
whilst the proposal would result in residential development on a Greenfield site, it is not 
considered that this alone is sufficient grounds to resist development. 

Criteria (b), (c) and (e) of UDP policy H/3 state that proposals for housing development on 
sites not allocated for housing or any other use in the plan will be permitted providing that:

 The site is well located in terms of access to jobs, shops and services by modes of 
transport other than the car.

 The development provides a mix of dwellings in terms of type and size;
 The proposed development is compatible with surrounding uses, including highways, 

both in terms of its impact upon these uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon 
the amenity of future residents.

The site falls in an established residential setting within a short walking distance of the 
B6222 (Bury Road) – a strategic route well served by public transport which provides a 

Page 73



convenient link into Rochdale Town Centre and other areas both within and outside the 
borough by sustainable modes of transport. Local amenities are also available within the 
nearby Bury Old Road Local Centre. The site is located within an established residential 
area with good transport links to the major highways and as such benefits from good access 
to jobs, shops and services by modes of transport other than private car in accordance with 
the requirements of UDP policy H/3 (b).

Policy H/4 relates specifically to sites within the curtilage of an existing dwelling house, 
where access is restricted by surrounding land uses. The requirements of this policy are very 
similar to those of H/3, although criterion (b) seeks to ensure the residential curtilages of the 
proposed dwellings, and the existing property, are sufficient to meet the needs of the 
residents. In this case, a large garden measuring 30m in length and approximately 1,075 
square metres in area would still remain at Red House. The gardens for the proposed 
dwellings would be considerably smaller than that provided for the Red House, however this 
is assess in full in the below sections of the report. The remaining considerations of policy 
H/4 regarding the impact on surrounding land uses, the character of the area, amenity of 
neighbouring residents, highways implications and the impact on ecological features are 
considered in the relevant sections below.
 
In addition to the above, the site is within a sensitive location both within the conservation 
area and within the setting of the adjacent listed building. Paragraph 137 of the NPPF 
encourages local planning authorities to look for opportunities for new development within 
Conservation Areas and within the setting of heritage assets to enhance or better reveal 
their significance – proposals that preserve those elements of the setting of better reveal the 
significance of the asset should be treated favourably. This is assessed in the subsequent 
sections of the report. 

Enabling Development

The submitted application seeks to justify the erection of the two dwellings in the garden of 
Red House by demonstrating that the development is required in order to provide funding 
which will be spent on the restoration of Red House. Paragraph 140 of the NPPF states: 

“Local planning authorities should assess whether the benefits of a proposal for 
enabling development, which would otherwise conflict with planning policies but 
which would secure the future conservation of a heritage asset, outweigh the 
disbenefits of departing from those policies.” 

Consideration, therefore needs to be given to the benefits that would arise from the 
restoration of Red House, which the applicant states would be funded by the new dwellings 
and whether, on balance, any disbenefits that are considered to arise would be outweighed 
by the restoration works and the positive contribution the restored Red House would make to 
this non-designated asset, in addition to the Conservation Area and adjacent Listed Building.

Historic England guidance states:

Enabling development that would secure the future of a significant place, but contravene 
other planning policy objectives, should be unacceptable unless:

a. it will not materially harm the heritage values of the place or its setting
b. it avoids detrimental fragmentation of management of the place
c. it will secure the long-term future of the place and, where applicable, its continued 

use for a sympathetic purpose
d. it is necessary to resolve problems arising from the inherent needs of the place, 

rather than the circumstances of the present owner, or the purchase price paid

Page 74



e. sufficient subsidy is not available from any other source
f. it is demonstrated that the amount of enabling development is the minimum 

necessary to secure the future of the place, and that its form minimises harm to 
other public interests

g. the public benefit of securing the future of the significant place through such 
enabling development decisively outweighs the disbenefits of breaching other 
public policies. 

It is acknowledged that Red House is not listed and there are no grants or other sources of 
funding available that would assist with the funding of the works required in order to restore 
this building. The various reports submitted with the application seek to demonstrate that it 
would not be financially viable to restore Red House without some form of cross funding. 
There remains uncertainty as to whether this would be the case. 

The above guidance exposes fundamental issues regarding the application of the Enabling 
Development concept to the site and proposal. As stated above, Enabling Development 
should be unacceptable unless it is necessary to resolve problems arising from the inherent 
needs of the place, rather than the circumstances of the present owner. Whilst it is 
acknowledged that some of the damage to the Red House has arisen due to settling of the 
land and subsidence, the submitted structural report states that the Red House has suffered 
from a ‘general lack of routine maintenance and decoration’, which in turn has led to the 
large number of the identified issues. This suggests that the current state of the heritage 
asset has arisen not due to the inherent qualities of the asset itself but due to the 
circumstances of the owners, with the result that the building has deteriorated over time. 

Notwithstanding the above, with regard to the financial assessment of the application 
proposal, the applicant has put forward the following summaries of the costs and benefits 
involved in the proposed development.

Conservation deficit met by enabling development for erection of one dwelling

Acquisition costs (value of Red House pre development) 500,000
Repair costs including fees etc. 500,000
Build costs enabling development 330,000
Sales, legal, professional costs etc. 15,000
Developer’s profit (20%) 66,000
Total cost 1,411,000
Less market value of historic building 800,000
Market value of enabling development 500,000
Balance -111,000

Conservation deficit met by enabling development for erection of two dwellings

Acquisition costs (value of Red House pre development) 500,000
Repair costs including fees etc. 500,000
Build costs enabling development 609,000
Sales, legal, professional costs etc. 20,000
Developer’s profit (20%) 121,000
Total cost 1,750,000
Less market value of historic building 800,000
Market value of enabling development 950,000
Balance 0

Page 75



Based on the submitted financial information, which it is noted has not followed the Historic 
England best practice guidelines with regard to presenting a full Enabling Development 
appraisal breakdown, it is not considered that sufficient justification has been provided to 
enable the Council to accurately assess the application and be confident that the proposed 
development does not exceed the minimum required level of development to fund the 
restoration of the Red House. Notwithstanding this, the local planning authority does not 
accept the principle that this development would be the only viable means of restoring Red 
House. 

The guidance on Enabling Development states that a pure entrepreneurial residential 
developer will look for an overall return on costs of between 15% and 20% whilst a 
builder/developer may seek only a 10% return on the construction cost element. As noted in 
the Officer’s Report on the previous submission of this application, it is therefore considered 
that the above predicted developer’s profit is excessive in the circumstances. The inclusion 
of acquisition costs is also questionable. 

No evidence has been submitted to provide background to the market valuation of the 
proposed two dwellings (quoted at being £950,000 above) and this figure must therefore be 
viewed with caution. Furthermore, it is noted that evidence submitted in the previous 
application included a memo from the applicant’s estate agent commenting that the 
proposed new dwellings would sell for between £625,000 and £675,000 each, significantly 
differing from the figure quoted above. If these higher figures were to be used in the 
calculations in the second table above, the total market value of the enabling development 
would be £1,250,000 to £1,350,000, resulting in an overall excess profit of £300,000 to 
£400,000. 

Whilst it is acknowledged that the resubmission has sought to address the previous reason 
for refusal in taking account of the increase in value to the Red House following the works, it 
is noted that there remain further outstanding issues. One of the reports submitted 
(Homebuyers Survey Jan 2013) states that the house value is currently £500,000 and after 
works have been completed its value would increase to £800,000. The Council’s estates 
department previously agreed that the value of the restored house would be in the region of 
£800,000; however it is their opinion that the current house is only worth £400,000 in its 
current state. Therefore the homebuyers report (January 2013) suggests an increase in 
value of Red House of £300,000, whereas the Council believe a figure of £400,000 to be 
more realistic. 

The applicant has submitted a number of different reports with different figures and this, 
whilst somewhat confusing, is understandable given that different professionals will have 
different views. However, the above calculations suggest that interpretations of the 
submitted information vary significantly. With this in mind, the LPA has serious questions 
over the validity of the figures submitted, in particular the reduced income figure from the 
projected sales, and failure to adequately assess the potential increase in value of Red 
House. It is therefore considered that the submitted figures still fail to justify the level of 
works required and that as the development is not considered to preserve or enhance the 
Conservation Area and setting of the Listed Building, the excessive level of new build 
proposed is not appropriate as the minimum amount of enabling development to improve 
Red House.  

It is further noted that no schedule of works has been included in the submission to 
demonstrate when the works to Red House would be carried out. If the LPA were minded to 
approve the application, it would be essential to ensure that a mechanism is in place to 
require that the profit achieved is indeed used to fund the works to Red House. It would 
therefore be necessary to enter into a legal agreement (Section 106) in order to ensure that 
the funding gained from the development is spent on restoring Red House. It is noted that 

Page 76



the applicant has not submitted a draft S106 agreement with the application nor any heads 
of terms. Such an agreement would be essential to ensure that the heritage objectives of the 
scheme (restoration works) are met, in terms of both the funding and timing of the proposed 
works to Red House. 

Design, Appearance and Impact upon the Setting of a Listed Building and Character of the 
Conservation Area, Including Impact upon Trees

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as 
amended) states that in considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  

Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as 
amended) states that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas.

Criteria (a), (g) and (h) of UDP policy BE/2 require proposals to demonstrate good design by:

 ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their 
scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and 
means of enclosure;

 providing for safe and convenient access and circulation;
 minimising opportunities for crime against people or property.

Principles of good design in housing schemes are also outlined within the Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD): Oldham and Rochdale Residential Design Guide.

Paragraph 58 of the NPPF encourages good design by stipulating that planning policies and 
decisions should aim to ensure that developments:

 will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term 
but over the lifetime of the development;

 establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create 
attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit; 

 respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings 
and materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation; 

 create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion.

Paragraph 129 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that in determining 
applications, local planning authorities should assess the particular significance of any 
heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by development affecting the 
setting of a heritage asset) and should consider the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, 
to avoid or minimise conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of 
the proposal. When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of 
a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. 
Significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the asset or 
development within its setting. The ‘setting’ of a heritage asset is defined within the NPPF 
as:

‘The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent it not fixed and 
may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may 

Page 77



make a positive or negative contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect 
the ability to appreciate that significance or may be neutral.’

Policy BE/11 of the Council’s UDP is concerned with protection of locally important buildings 
and features of architectural and historic interest and states that the Council will permit 
development proposals that do not adversely affect buildings and features which are of local 
interest and which contribute to the character of an area and/or are important in townscape 
terms. 

The application site lies within the Moorgate Avenue Conservation Area, designated in 2005, 
and as such policy BE/17 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan is relevant to the 
determination of the proposal. The policy states that development proposals will be 
permitted that preserve or enhance the character or appearance of a conservation area and 
that decisions will be made on account of the relationship of the development to existing 
buildings, the site and its surrounding along with the design of the development and its 
retention and enhancement of landscaped areas, trees and natural features. The 
conservation area is a designated heritage asset. 

Red House is considered to be a significant, although undesignated, heritage asset within 
the Conservation Area, because of its imposing architecture and the fact that it contrasts 
positively with the neighbouring listed building. As such the LPA are keen to see this building 
retained and restored. It is considered that the loss of a significant proportion of the garden 
to allow for the erection of two dwellings would have a negative impact upon Red House, 
particular as its large attractive garden is a defining feature of the property. However, 
approximately 50% of the garden would remain with Red House and as the garden area to 
be lost is not particularly prominent from public vantage points within the Conservation Area, 
being largely hidden by neighbouring dwellings, the harm is considered to be somewhat 
limited. Notwithstanding this, consideration also needs to be given to any harm arising from 
the loss of mature landscaping and the new built development itself which is discussed 
further below.  
          
The arboricultural report submitted with the application highlights that the proposed new 
access and dwellings would necessitate the removal of 11 individually identified trees within 
the grounds of the Red House and along the boundary shared with the neighbouring 
residential dwellings on Moorgate Avenue and number 11 Broadhalgh Avenue. Alongside 
the 11 individually plotted trees, it is acknowledged that some the trees in Group 1 would 
need to be removed, however no specifics are provided. The report states that the trees to 
be removed are not particularly good specimens. In the determination of the previous 
application the Council’s Green Infrastructure Officer visited the site, assessed the trees and 
evaluated the submitted report. The Officer agreed that the trees are not good specimens 
and is of the opinion that none of the trees within the application site are worthy of 
protection. 

A number of neighbouring properties have commented that the existing trees along the 
boundary provide screening between the application site and their properties, however for 
the reasons mentioned in the below section of the report on the relationship with surrounding 
residential development, the proposed dwellings comply with the recommended separation 
distances in relation to neighbouring properties, and as such there are no issues with regard 
to loss of privacy. Should the recommendation be for approval, it is recommended that a 
landscaping condition be attached which would allow the LPA to control some screening 
along the boundary with neighbouring properties, however it must be noted that it is not 
simply for the applicant to provide screening, if neighbouring properties are concerned they 
can plant/construct their own screening on their side of the boundary, rather than relying on 
trees owned by the applicant. 

Page 78



In terms of the appearance of the proposed dwellings, they would be designed in an Arts 
and Crafts style, with a white render finish, both in-keeping with other properties on 
Broadhalgh Avenue, but also providing a contrast to the Red House, which itself differs from 
other properties in the area. The Conservation Officer has highlighted that key detailed 
design information is missing from the application, including details on window and door cills 
and heads, window and door styles and materials and boundary treatments amongst others. 
Although much of this could normally be dealt with by condition, the Historic England 
guidance on Enabling Development states that the appearance of the development is often 
crucial to its acceptability and therefore full details should be available from the outset in 
order to prevent a dilution of the quality or integrity of design following the granting of 
permission. 

Notwithstanding the above, the Conservation Officer has raised concerns regarding the 
scale of the proposed buildings. The external walls would be sited very close to the 
boundaries of the site and this would in itself undermine the integrity of the trees, which 
provide screening and contribute to the character and appearance of the conservation area. 
The scale and massing of the development, including the extent of built form, would be 
visible from adjacent streets including Moorgate Avenue which is also within the 
Conservation Area.  

The Conservation Officer has stated that the development clearly causes harm to the 
Conservation Area but does not consider the harm to be significant. Paragraph 134 of the 
NPFF states that where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to 
the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the 
public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable use. In principle, the 
benefits to the Red House in the form of the proposed repairs and renovations could 
outweigh the less than substantial harm to the Conservation Area; however, the harm that 
would arise as a result of the development proposed by this application would not be 
outweighed by the public benefits of the proposal. 

Policy BE/16 of the Council’s UPD is concerned with demolition of buildings in Conservation 
Areas and states that when considering proposals for the demolition of unlisted buildings in a 
Conservation Area, the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance 
of the Conservation Area in which the building is situated will be considered. The applicant 
has clarified that, although omitted from the proposed site plan, the existing outbuildings 
associated with Red House, will not be demolished as part of the proposal and as such no 
objection is raised in this regard.

Policy BE/15 of the UDP is concerned with new development affecting the setting of a listed 
building and states that development will not be permitted, where through its siting, scale, 
design or materials, would harm the setting of a listed building. The neighbouring property 
‘Stainley’ at 15 Broadhalgh Avenue, a fantastic example of the ‘Arts and Crafts’ architectural 
styling, and was therefore Grade II listed in 1985, the listing text of which reads as follows:

House. 1907-09. By Parker and Unwin for Mrs Ashworth. Roughcast with ashlar 
dress- ings and graduated stone slate roof. Rectangular plan linked by a covered 
walkway at the front to a boiler room wing and billiard room at left and right 
respectively. Each of the 3 blocks has one storey (plus attic rooms) and is 
dominated, in the C Voysey manner, by a large hipped roof. Ashlar plinth, battered 
angled corner buttresses and overhanging eaves. The door which has a leaded glass 
panel and copper ironmongery is centrally placed with 4 small windows to left. The 
eaves are supported on timber posts creating a walkway. Long mullioned dormer 
window. The left wing has 6 bays each with 3 or 4-light recessed flat-faced stone 
mullion windows and dormer windows which break through the eaves. The billiard 
room wing is of 2 bays and is obscured at front by a flat-roofed garage. The principal 

Page 79



elevation (rear) has 2 square bay windows; the main roof sweeping down to cover 
them. Between them are double-doors and a 3-light window on either side a 1-light 
window. 9-light dormer window. The windows have leaded panes and doors retain 
original fittings. Tall chimney stacks with wide cornices. A pergola and double-gates 
with a hipped roof supported on massive piers enclose the front courtyard. Interior: 
Design dominated by a full-height room, the deep plan being lit by the domer 
windows. A floor was inserted in 1930s but most of the original fittings including 
timberwork, light fittings, panelling, doors and fitted furniture (wardrobe, desk etc) 
survive. Large inglenock fireplace. "The house exemplifies, more than any other I can 
call to mind, the application of those qualities and principles of architecture for which I 
have been contending." Parker, The Craftman, 1910. Charles Jones Ltd, Modern 
Building Record; 1912, Vol III.

With regard to the setting of the neighbouring Listed Building, at the nearest point the 
proposed development would be located 49m from Stainley, with mature vegetation 
screening the application site and as such at present the Listed Building cannot largely be 
seen from the garden. However, one of the proposed new dwellings, and its detached 
garage, would be sited very close to the garden. Concerns were raised in the determination 
of the previous application in 2014 as to whether the western property could be constructed 
without resulting in the loss of some trees along the boundary, or at least significant pruning 
works. The application states that these trees would be protected by providing a Root 
Protection Area (RPA) and a more detailed tree survey has been undertaken as part of the 
current resubmission. 

The Arboricultural survey concludes that the additional trees, numbered T31 to T38 on the 
submitted plans, located within the garden of Stainley are likely to be affected by the 
development proposal; however those marked as being within Group G2 are far away 
enough that they would not be affected. The proposed RPA has been calculated at a circle 
with a radius 12 times the diameter of the trees and as a consequence the proposed 
development would fall inside the RPA adjacent to trees 33 to 38. The architect 
consequently amended the plans for the current submission, both by moving the western 
proposed dwelling further to the east and bringing the associated garage in line with the 
building line of the proposed house and proposed that the foundations on the western 
elevation would be of a pile and beam design. 

However, the Council’s Green Infrastructure Officer considers the dimensions of the RPA to 
be inadequate and proposes that the RPA should instead be at least 6m from the boundary 
fence rather than the 2m as proposed. Should the proposed RPA be used during the 
construction works, the development would affect a significant area of roots, causing 
significant damage to the trees within the garden of Stainley. The trees along the boundary 
are mature specimens and as a consequence would be less able to adapt to the loss of such 
a significant area of roots. The proposal is therefore likely to undermine the integrity of these 
trees. 

Contrary to the submitted Arboricultural Report, the Council’s Green Infrastructure Officer is 
of the opinion that the positioning of the western dwelling and associated garage so close to 
these trees is likely to have a significant impact. It is therefore considered that a number of 
these trees would need to be removed or significantly pruned in order to accommodate the 
development. It is also unclear from the submission whether the height and scale of the 
dwellings could be accommodated under the canopies of the trees without requiring 
significant pruning works. 

It is therefore considered that the proposed works would have a detrimental impact upon the 
health of the trees, resulting in their future removal. These trees are very mature and can be 
viewed from surrounding roads, and thus have significant amenity value in the Conservation 

Page 80



Area. In addition, these trees provide important screening between the application site and 
the neighbouring Listed Building. Furthermore, if the western dwelling was constructed so 
close to the boundary and trees, it would suffer from large levels of overshadowing and 
shading as a result of these trees, which in addition to overshadowing of the garden area to 
the detriment of the amenity of the future occupants, would also result in pressure from the 
future occupants to fell these trees in future. 

In summary, whilst some of the trees to be removed along the eastern boundary could be 
carried out without negatively impacting upon the character of the Conservation Area, it is 
considered that the proposal would undermine significant trees that make both a positive 
contribution to the conservation area and provide essential screening of the adjacent listed 
building. The fact that these trees make a significant contribution to the Conservation Area 
and the setting of the Listed Building it is vitally important that they are retained as part of the 
proposal. The application is therefore considered contrary to policies NE/6 and NE/8 of the 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

The Council’s Conservation Officer has noted that the site is well screened from 15 
Broadhalgh Avenue at the present time, however, if the development results in the loss of 
trees, as suggested by the above, this screening would be reduced and there would thus be 
harm to the setting of the Listed Building. The submitted information and tree survey 
therefore fails to fully consider the potential impact on the trees within the garden of 15 
Broadhalgh Avenue from the proposed development or propose adequate mitigation 
measures. From the level of information submitted, and based on the advice of the Council’s 
Green Infrastructure Officer, it is not possible for the LPA to confidently reach a conclusion 
that the development would not impact on the setting of the adjacent Listed Building.

Given the advice of the Green Infrastructure officer, it could reasonably be concluded that 
the development would undermine the trees on the western boundary of the application site. 
The advice of the Conservation Officer is predicated on the retention of the trees, therefore it 
follows that the proposal would result in harm to the setting of the adjacent Listed Building. 
As stated within paragraph 134 of the NPPF, where a development proposal will lead to less 
than substantial harm to the significance of a designate heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable 
use. Whilst the non-designated Red House is acknowledged to contribute to the significance 
of the Conservation Area, it is not considered that sufficient Public Benefits would arise from 
the proposed renovations to outweigh the identified harm to both the Conservation Area and 
the neighbouring Grade II Listed Building. The application is therefore considered contrary to 
policies BE/15, BE/16 and BE/17 of the Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. – add in other policies as per updated refusal reasons

Relationship with Surrounding Residential Development

UDP policy H/3 (e) requires development proposals to be compatible with surrounding uses, 
both in terms of its impact upon those uses and the impact surrounding uses would have 
upon the amenity of future residents of the proposed dwelling. Criterion (i) of UDP policy 
BE/2 requires proposals to ensure adequate provision for natural light is made both within 
and between buildings. 

In addition, the space standards outlined in paragraph 5.2 of the Council’s SPG Note 
“Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development” state that a minimum separation 
distance of 21 metres should be retained between principal elevations of opposing dwellings 
and a distance of 14 metres between principal and secondary elevations. Where these 
separation distances cannot be achieved, proposals should be “compatible with the density 
and character of surrounding development”.

Page 81



The principal front elevations of the proposed dwellings would face north towards Red 
House. The front elevation of the nearest dwelling would be 43m from the principal elevation 
of Red House and the development therefore comfortably complies with recommended 
distances set out in the SPG for Residential Development in relation to Red House. To the 
rear the dwellings on Canterbury Close are screened from the application site by mature 
trees, and in any case with a separation distance of over 25m at the nearest point the 
relationship with these properties would comply with the SPG and is therefore acceptable.

To the east the side elevation of one of the proposed dwellings would face the rear elevation 
of 25 Moorgate Avenue. One of the reasons for the previously refused application in 2007 
was that the proposed dwelling shared an unacceptable relationship with 29 Moorgate 
Avenue. The 2014 proposal and that which forms the current application have relocated this 
dwelling further south within the site, increasing the separation distance between the 
proposed dwellings and the existing houses on Moorgate Avenue. The proposed separation 
distance between the secondary (side) elevation of the application dwelling, and the principal 
(rear) elevation of 25 Moorgate Avenue would be 17m which is greater than the 14m 
recommended in the Council’s SPG. With the above in mind, subject to the application of an 
obscure glazing condition to any permission, it is considered that the proposed siting and 
window positions of the proposed dwellings would have no undue impact on the privacy and 
amenity of adjoining occupiers through loss of privacy. 

It is acknowledged that the eastern most proposed dwelling would span the majority of the 
width of the boundary of the rear garden of 25 Moorgate Avenue, offset from the boundary 
by only 2.5m. Given the two-storey scale of the proposed dwelling, with a height of 9.2m to 
the ridge, it is considered that the proposal has the potential to impact on the occupiers of 25 
Moorgate Avenue by way of overbearing impact and undue overshadowing of the garden of 
this property. However, on balance, and given that the separation distance meets the above 
SPG requirements, it is not considered that a refusal on these grounds would be 
sustainable.

The rear gardens of the two proposed dwellings would measure between 9m and 16.5m for 
the western dwelling and 8m to 15.5m for the eastern dwelling and as such fall below the 
expected minimum 10.5m separation distance as set out within the Residential Development 
SPG. This raises concerns as to whether the proximity of the proposed dwellings to the rear 
boundary would feel overbearing to gardens of properties on Canterbury Close. On balance, 
given the tapered boundary line and the orientation of the proposed dwellings within the site, 
it is considered that the proposed dwellings would not unduly impact on the amenity of the 
neighbouring occupiers to the rear to the extent that would justify a refusal of permission.
 
Highways and Access  

UDP policy A/8 states that new development will be permitted provided that the additional 
traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the Highway 
Network. UDP policy A/9 stipulates that development proposals will be required to facilitate 
safe and convenient access for general traffic, which includes cars, motorcycles and 
commercial vehicles and policy A/10 confirms that the maximum standard for car parking 
provision for two-bed (+) houses located outside the town centre is stipulated as two spaces 
per dwelling. In addition, UDP policy H/3 (e) states that proposals should be “compatible with 
surrounding uses, including highways, both in terms of [their] impact upon those uses and 
the impact of surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents, and BE/2 (g) requires 
proposals to facilitate safe and convenient access and circulation.

The proposal seeks permission to create a new vehicle access onto Broadhalgh Avenue, 
which will serve the proposed new dwellings. The gated access would be located to the east 
of Red House, close to the boundary shared with number 11 Broadhalgh Avenue, with an 

Page 82



access road leading down to the proposed dwellings. The existing access to Red House 
would not be altered by the proposal. 

The access has been located to the east of Red House as there is more space on this side 
of the house for the road to be installed, and the access would have less of an impact upon 
the neighbouring listed building. Objections have been raised with regard to the safety 
(visibility) of the access onto Broadhalgh Avenue, along with the extra amount of vehicle 
movements in the area. The proposed access would be gated, with the gates set back from 
the highway, and as such it is considered that vehicles will be travelling very slowly when 
entering or exiting the new access from Broadhalgh Avenue. A number of other properties 
along Broadhalgh Avenue have vehicle access onto the lane and it is considered that the 
proposed new access serving only two dwellings would not result in a significant increase in 
traffic movements on the local highway network. The Council’s Highways Officer has raised 
no objection to the proposal and the application complies with the highway requirements of 
UDP policies H/3, BE/2, A/8 and A/9.

Each dwelling would be provided with in curtilage car parking spaces for at least two 
vehicles and this is considered to be a reasonable provision of car parking in this location. 
The proposed development would therefore make satisfactory provision for dedicated 
vehicle parking in accordance with the requirements of UDP policy A/10 and the Residential 
Development SPG note.

In terms of design, the details submitted with the application propose that the vehicle access 
and hardstanding would be porous paviours. No further particulars have been submitted 
regarding a detailed design of the paviours and therefore if permission were to be granted it 
is recommended that a condition be attached requiring final details of the road/access 
surface to be agreed with the LPA prior to installation on site. 
    
Conclusion

In conclusion, a detailed assessment of the application using Historic England guidance on 
Enabling Development exposes a number of fundamental issues in applying the concept to 
the proposed development. Given that the need for the development is not considered to 
arise from the inherent needs of the place, instead arising from the personal circumstances 
of the applicant, and would materially harm the heritage values of the place and its setting, it 
is not considered that the site fulfils the requirement for consideration as Enabling 
Development. Notwithstanding this, the applicant has failed to provide an accurate financial 
justification that the proposed development is the absolute minimum necessary to fund the 
restoration of the Red House and based on the assessment of the limited figures available, 
the proposal is considered to represent an excessive level of new build.

Furthermore, the application has failed to provide sufficient evidence that the development 
proposal would not result in damage to the existing mature trees located on the western 
boundary of the site within the grounds of 15 Broadhalgh Avenue, a Grade II Listed Building. 
The development would unduly encroach into the Root Protection Area of these trees and 
insufficient information has been submitted to identify whether any pruning may be 
necessary to accommodate the proposed dwellings. The trees make a significant positive 
contribution to the Conservation Area and the setting of the Listed Building, and it is 
therefore vitally important that they are retained. 

The site is located within the Conservation Area, adjacent to a Grade II Listed Building and 
within the curtilage of a non-designated heritage asset. The layout, scale, size and massing 
of the proposed dwellings and associated outbuildings, would result in a prominent and 
visually intrusive form of development and together with the loss of important trees and the 
existing outbuildings, would harm the character and appearance of the Conservation Area 

Page 83



and detract from the setting of the listed building. Furthermore, a lack of detail in the 
submitted plans in respect of the proposed elevational treatment has been highlighted by the 
Council's Conservation Officer and the application has therefore provided insufficient detail 
to enable proper assessment of design, which in itself would be crucial to the consideration 
of an application for Enabling Development.

It is not considered that the proposed restoration of the Red House would amount to 
sufficient Public Benefits that would outweigh the above identified harm to the heritage 
assets of Moorgate Conservation Area, the trees within it and the harm to the adjacent 
Grade II Listed Building. The application therefore fails to satisfy the requirement of 
paragraph 134 of the National Planning Policy Framework and stands contrary to the 
adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan. The proposed benefits of the application do 
not outweigh the disbenefits of departing from planning policies and the application is 
therefore considered contrary to paragraph 140 of the NPPF, cannot be considered to 
represent Enabling Development, and is recommended for refusal.

RECOMMENDATION

REFUSE for the following reasons:-

1. The relevant guidance from Historic England exposes a number of fundamental 
issues regarding the application of the Enabling Development concept to the 
application proposal, including that the need for the development is not considered to 
arise from the inherent needs of the place and would materially harm the heritage 
values of the place or its setting. Without prejudice to the above, the applicant has 
failed to provide an accurate financial justification that the proposed development is 
the absolute minimum necessary to fund the restoration of the Red House. Given 
that the development is not considered to preserve or enhance the Conservation 
Area and the setting of the Listed Building, the excessive level of new build proposed 
is not considered appropriate and fails to satisfy the requirement of Enabling 
Development. The application is therefore considered contrary to Policies H/3, H/4, 
BE/2, BE/15 and BE/17 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan, the guidance of 
Historic England's Enabling Development and the Conservation of Significant Places 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

2. The application has failed to provide sufficient evidence that the development 
proposal would not result in damage to the existing mature trees located on the 
western boundary of the site within the grounds of 15 Broadhalgh Avenue, a Grade II 
Listed Building. The development would unduly encroach into the Root Protection 
Area of these trees and the submitted information fails to identify whether any 
pruning may be necessary to accommodate the height, size and massing of the 
proposed dwellings and thus the proposed foundation structure of the westernmost 
proposed dwelling is considered insufficient to mitigate the potential impact of 
construction. The proposal would have a far greater impact upon these trees than 
that specified within the submitted tree report. In light of the fact that these trees 
make a significant positive contribution to the Conservation Area and the setting of 
the Listed Building, it is vitally important that they are retained as part of the proposal. 
In addition, the proposed westernmost dwelling would be sited within close proximity 
to mature trees along the western and southern boundaries, which would restrict 
sunight to the rear garden and result in future pressure to fell the trees, to the 
detriment of the character and appearance of the Conservation Area and setting of 
the listed building. As such, the application is considered contrary to Policies H/3, 
H/4, BE/2, BE/8, BE/15, BE/17, NE/6, NE/7 and NE/8 of the adopted Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 84



3. The site is located within the Conservation Area, adjacent to a Grade II Listed 
Building and within the curtilage of a non-designated heritage asset.  The proximity of 
the proposed dwellings to the trees adjacent to the site would result in the loss of 
trees that make a positive contribution to the conservation area and provide 
important screening between the site and the adjacent listed building. The layout, 
scale, size and massing of the proposed dwellings and associated outbuildings, 
would result in a prominent and visually intrusive form of development and together 
with the loss of important trees, would harm the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area and detract from the setting of the listed building. Furthermore, a 
lack of detail in the submitted plans in respect of the proposed elevational treatment 
has been highlighted by the Council's Conservation Officer and the application has 
therefore provided insufficient detail to enable proper assessment of design. The 
proposal is therefore considered contrary to Policies H/3, H/4, G/BE/9, BE/2, BE/15 
and BE/17 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan, the content of the 
Council's Supplementary Planning Guidance Note 'Guidelines and Standards for 
Residential Development' and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Report Author David Allen

Page 85



Subject: Decadance – Sexual Entertainment          
Venue

Status: For Publication

Report to: Planning and Licensing Committee

Cabinet Member: Councillor Janet Emsley

Date: April 2016
 

Report of: Director of Public Health

Author Email:Beverley.wilkinson@rochdale.gov.uk    

Author:Beverley Wilkinson

Tel:01706 924178

Comments from Statutory 
Officers:

Monitoring Officer:   Yes
Section 151 Officer: Yes 

Key Decision: N

1 Purpose of the report

1.1 Members are requested to consider an application from Mr Stefan Otto Kurpas for a 
new licensed Sexual Entertainment Venue at 122 Durham Street, Rochdale, OL11 1DG.

1.2 Members determine the application and either:
(i) Grant the application as submitted
(ii) Grant the application with appropriate conditions
(iii) Refuse the application

2. Recommendations

2.1 If the licence was to be granted the use of conditions may be necessary to ensure that 
the premise are managed in a manner that is appropriate in relation to the locality.

3 Background

3.1 An application for a sexual entertainment venue licence at 122 Durham Street, 
Rochdale  was received from Mr Stefan Otto Kurpas of Acre Nook Farm, Rochdale 
Road, Turn Village on the 19th February 2016.

The application is attached as Appendix 1

3.2 The application form for the sexual entertainment licence was sent to the Chief Officer 
of Greater Manchester Police on the 20th January 2016. There has been no 
representation made by the police.

3.3 Mr Kurpas has submitted a Statutory Declaration as part of his application .

3.4 The requirement that a public notice should be displayed on or near the premise and 
that a public notice be placed in a local newspaper was complied with.

3.5 There have been 7 representations/objections made in relation to this application:

Page 86

Agenda Item 4

tel:01706


A representation was made from the Fire Protection Officer Mr C Smith on the 11th 
February 2016. In summary, his representation is in relation to the maximum 
occupancy within the building. He has agreed the occupancy with the applicant this is 
confirmed in his email. The Officer has also attached a copy of a letter which he has 
sent to Mr Kurpas.

The representation is attached as Appendix 2.

Objections from local residents were received as follows:

An objection was received on the 1st February 2016. In summary, his concerns are that 
the premise are inappropriate to the character of the locality, and it will cause 
highways and safeguarding issues.

The objection is attached as Appendix 3.

An objection was received from on the 1st February 2016. In summary his concerns 
are that he lives 200 yards from the site. His concerns are for women’s safety, 
safeguarding children, traffic issues and possibility of it becoming a hub of crime.

The objection is attached as Appendix 4.

An objection was received from on the 1st February 2016. In summary his concerns 
relate to the venue being in a residential area and that it is inappropriate to the 
character and locality and recent media coverage of the borough.

The objection is attached as Appendix 5

An objection was received from on the 1st February 2016. In summary the 
concerns raised are that the venue is inappropriate for the character and locality of the 
area. That there will be highways problems and safeguarding issues and that there are 
existing issues in the area.

The objection is attached as Appendix 6.

An objection was received from  on the 1st February 2016. The concerns raised are 
that the venue is inappropriate for the character and locality of the area.

The objection is attached as Appendix 7.

An objection was received and in summary his concerns relate to the character of 
the area, the number and different types of premises close by, benches have been 
sited near the canal for families to enjoy and feed the duck and fishermen 
frequent the area which is near to the venue. He worries that people will leave the 
venue wanting to satisfy their sexual urges.

The objection is attached as Appendix 8.

On the 14th March 2016 sent a response to the objections which have been submitted.

The response is attached as Appendix 9

Page 87



3.6 Legislation and Council Policy

The legislation which is relevant to this type of application is the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 and the Policing and Crime Act 2009.

3.6.1 Reasons for refusal of licences
         (1) A licence under this Schedule shall not be granted—

(a) to a person under the age of 18; or
(b) to a person who is for the time being disqualified under paragraph 17(3) below; or
(c) that the number of sex establishments, or of sex establishments of a particular kind, 
in the relevant locality at the time the application is determined is equal to or exceeds 
the number which the authority consider is appropriate for that locality; or
(d) to a body corporate which is not incorporated in an EEA state; or
(e) to a person who has, within a period of 12 months immediately preceding the date 
when the application was made, been refused the grant or renewal of a licence for the 
premises, vehicle, vessel or stall in respect of which the application is made, unless 
the refusal has been reversed on appeal.

(2) Subject to paragraph 27 below, the appropriate authority may refuse—
(a) an application for the grant or renewal of a licence on one or more of the grounds 
specified in sub-paragraph (3) below;
(b) an application for the transfer of a licence on either or both of the grounds specified 
in paragraphs (a) and (b) of that sub-paragraph.

(3)The grounds mentioned in sub-paragraph (2) above are—
(a) that the applicant is unsuitable to hold the licence by reason of having been 
convicted of an offence or for any other reason;
(b) that if the licence were to be granted, renewed or transferred the business to which 
it relates would be managed by or carried on for the benefit of a person, other than the 
applicant, who would be refused the grant, renewal or transfer of such a licence if he 
made the application himself;
(c) that the number of sex establishments in the relevant locality at the time the 
application is made is equal to or exceeds the number which the authority consider is 
appropriate for that locality;
(d) that the grant or renewal of the licence would be inappropriate, having regard—
(i) to the character of the relevant locality; or
(ii) to the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put; or
(iii) to the layout, character or condition of the premises, vehicle, vessel or stall in 
respect of which the application is made.

(4) Nil may be an appropriate number for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(c) above.

(5) In this paragraph “the relevant locality” means—
(a) in relation to premises, the locality where they are situated; and
(b) in relation to a vehicle, vessel or stall, any locality where it is desired to use it as a 
sex establishment.

3.6.2 Power to prescribe standard conditions
        (1) Subject to the provisions of this Schedule, the appropriate authority may make 

regulations prescribing standard conditions applicable to licences for sex 
establishments, that is to say, terms, conditions and restrictions on or subject to which 
licences under this Schedule are in general to be granted, renewed or transferred by 
them.

(1A) No standard condition may be prescribed by regulation under sub-paragraph (1) 
above in so far as it relates to any matter in relation to which requirements or 

Page 88



prohibitions are or could be imposed by or under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) 
Order 2005.
(2) Regulations under sub-paragraph (1) above may make different provision—
(a) for sexual entertainment venues, sex cinemas and sex shops; and
(b) for different kinds of sexual entertainment venues, sex cinemas and sex shops.

(3) Without prejudice to the generality of sub-paragraphs (1) and (2) above, 
regulations under this paragraph may prescribe conditions regulating—
(a) the hours of opening and closing of sex establishments;
(b) displays or advertisements on or in such establishments;
c) the visibility of the interior of sex establishments to passersby; and
(d) any change from one kind of sex establishment mentioned in sub-paragraph (2)(a) 
above to another kind of sex establishment so mentioned

(4) Where the appropriate authority have made regulations under sub-paragraph (1) 
above, every such licence granted, renewed or transferred by them shall be presumed 
to have been so granted, renewed or transferred subject to any standard conditions 
applicable to it unless they have been expressly excluded or varied.

(5) Where the appropriate authority have made regulations under sub-paragraph (1) 
above, they shall, if so requested by any person, supply him with a copy of the 
regulations on payment of such reasonable fee as the authority may determine.

(6) In any legal proceedings the production of a copy of any regulations made by the 
appropriate authority under sub-paragraph (1) above purporting to be certified as a 
true copy by an officer of the authority authorised to give a certificate for the purposes 
of this paragraph shall be prima facie evidence of such regulations, and no proof shall 
be required of the handwriting or official position or authority of any person giving such 
certificate.

3.7 The relevant locality means the locality where the premises are situated. Members are 
asked to use their own knowledge in deciding what relevant locality is. The locality can 
be of mixed character. 

3.8 The council resolved that the number of sexual entertainment venues for the whole of 
the borough is zero. This means in practical terms that every new application will be 
determined by a council committee. The Committee is not bound by its previous 
decision that the number of sex establishments in the borough is zero, but it must 
acknowledge that decision, and take it into account. Therefore it is open to the 
committee to vary that decision or make the same decision giving reasons. The 
‘numbers’ decision is a two stage decision, the first being to define the area it 
considers to be the locality and the second being to decide how many sex 
establishments are appropriate for the area stating why at each stage. 

Alternatives considered
None applicable.

4 Financial Implications

4.1 If the application is refused the council will refund part of the application fee.

5  Legal Implications

5.1  Paragraph 8 of Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1982 gives to the local authority the power to grant a licence for the use of any 

Page 89



premises for a sex establishment on such terms and conditions and subject to such 
restrictions as may be so specified by the local authority. If members are minded to 
refuse they must state the statutory grounds for refusal which must be only those 
permitted by the legislation as stated above and give detailed reasons for their 
decision under each ground. 

Paragraph 27 of the Schedule states that if grounds 3 (a) and (b) are used to refuse a 
licence it can be challenged by way of an appeal to the Magistrates Court within 21 
days of the date the decision is notified in writing to the applicant. (If grounds 3 (c) and 
(d) are relied upon as grounds for refusal there is no specific right of appeal save by 
way of a judicial review of the decision) 

Equally, if the Committee is minded to grant the licence the reasons for this must be 
stated in writing. (An objector could only challenge by way of judicial review) 

6 Personnel Implications

6.1 None.

7 Corporate Priorities

7.1 None applicable

8. Risk Assessment Implications 

8.1 None.

9. Equalities Impacts

9.1 Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment
Where are no (significant) workforce equality issues arising from this report.

9.2 Equality/Community Impact Assessments

There are no (significant) equality/community issues arising from this report.

Background Papers
Document Place of Inspection

None

Page 90



Document is Restricted

Page 91

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 94

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	2 Minutes
	3 Submitted Planning Applications
	4 Decadance  SEV
	Append. 1 for Decadance  SEV
	Append. 2 for Decadance  SEV


